
The Ultimate Famicom Software Guide

-- version 1.0 --

Created by fcgamer, fcgamer26 [at] gmail [dot] com

https://fcgamer.wordpress.com

INTRODUCTION / AUTHOR'S NOTE:

When I first started collecting Famicom games, over three years ago, I had decided to chase after a complete set of the unlicensed software developed for the Famicom. I chose this goal partially because of my location, but also because it was a collection that few people had ever bothered to collect. Aside from a few deleted webpages available through archive.org and the incomplete sources at *Famicom World* and *BootlegGames Wiki*, there just wasn't much to go on. Hundreds of hours of searching through auctions around the globe, chatting with other collectors, and just going out and tracking down this obscure corner of Famicom collecting, and I had ended up compiling my own personal list to help aid with my own collecting goals.

Since those modest times, the scope of my personal collection has evolved into collecting everything Famicom, from Russian translations to educational cartridges, to official game packs and promos as well. As such, the documents which I use to keep track of my collection / game wants also evolved, and I felt it was time to compile it into a more user-friendly document.

Likewise, I would like to offer this document as a gift to all of my collecting buddies out there, who have helped sell / trade / gift me so many carts over the past three years. My collection wouldn't be where it is today without you guys, and without all of the interesting discussions about Famicom, I probably would have also lost interest by now if I were to go at it truly solo.

Finally, I hope that with an easy-to-use list in hand, other gamers / collectors will feel inspired to chase after more than just the standard 1051 official Famicom game carts. With such a wide array of software available, licensed, unlicensed, and stolen, I feel there is something here for everyone's area of interest. Happy gaming, and happy collecting! Until next time,

-fcgamer, May 2015

Table of Contents:

Cartridge-Based Media	05
Nintendo-Approved Software	06
Datach Games	40
Karaoke Studio	41
Nantatte!! Baseball Games	42
Konami's Space School Series	42
Pulse Line / Picture Version Games	43
Taiwanese / Hong Kong Releases	44
Irem Non-LED Rereleases	44
Promotional / Contest Cartridges	45
Unlicensed Famicom Games	47
Waixing Games	58
Nanjing Games	64
Russian Gambling System	68
Spica's Sachen Releases	68

Table of Contents:

Educational Cartridges:	69
Multicart-only Releases:	74
Game Enhancers:	75
Bootleg Famicom Games:	76
Famicom Disk to Cartridge Ports:	76
NES-Exclusive to Famicom Game Cartridges:	78
Arabic Translations:	83
Russian Translations:	83
English Translations:	84
Datach Non-card Adaptations:	85
Game Hacks:	86
Simple Game Hacks:	86
Super Mario Hacks:	88
Complex Hacks:	89
Famicom Yarou Cartridges:	91

Table of Contents:

Fighter Hacks:	92
Oddities:	93
Hyuandai Zelda II: Link's Awakening:	93
Nitra's Taito Game Releases:	93
Kiddy Sun in Fantasia:	94
Homebrew Games:	95
Unreleased but Discovered:	95
Disk-based Media:	96
Nintendo-approved Software:	98
Promotional / Contest Disks:	105
Wakusei Aton Gaiden:	105
Unlicensed Famicom Disks:	106
Bootleg Famicom Disks:	108
Mario Castlevania:	108
Mario Zelda:	108
Notes and Comments:	109

SECTION I:	CARTRIDGE-BASED	MEDIA

NINTENDO-APPROVED SOFTWARE:

The list that follows includes the entire Famicom cartridge software library, which was published with Nintendo's approval. As opposed to the Nintendo (NES) game releases in the West, Famicom games didn't receive golden seals of approval or licenses in that manner. The games that follow are the titles that Nintendo approved, however, and are the so-called licensed releases.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
'89 Dennō Kyūsei Uranai	IPC-J1	Jingukan	
\$1,000,000 Kid: Maboroshi no Teikohen	SFL-KP	Sofel	
10-Yard Fight	IF-02	Irem	
1942	CAP-19, 01	Capcom	
1943: Battle of Valhalla	CAP-43	Capcom	
1999: Hore, Mitakotoka! Seikimatsu	CDS-CS	C-Dream	
2010	STE-20	Capcom	
4-nin Uchi Mahjong	HVC-FJ	Nintendo	
8 Eyes	KKS-8E, 03	Seta	
A Ressha de Ikou	PHF-IX	Pony Canyon	
A Week of Garfield	TCC-VG	Towa Chiki	
Aa Yakyū Jinsei Itchokusen	SAC-YA	Sammy	
Abadox: Jigoku no Inner Wars	NAT-A3	Natsume	
Abarenbou Tengu	MDC-51	Meldac	
Aces: Iron Eagle III	PAC-99	Pack-In-Video	
Advanced Dungeons & Dragons, Heroes of the Lance	PNF-LQ	Pony Canyon	
Advanced Dungeons & Dragons: Dragons of Flame	PNF-OF	Pony Canyon	
Advanced Dungeons & Dragons: Hillsfar	PNF-QQ	Pony Canyon	
Advanced Dungeons & Dragons: Pool of Radiance	PNF-QA (R98V5938)	Pony Canyon	
Adventures of Lolo	HAL-A4	HAL Laboratory	
Adventures of Lolo II	HAL-QL	HAL Laboratory	

After Burner	SUN-AFB-6200	Sunsoft
Ai Sensei no O-Shi-E-Te: Watashi no Hoshi	IF-27	Irem
Aigiina no Yogen: From the Legend of Balubalouk	VIC-AY	Vic Tokai
Air Fortress	HAL-AI	HAL Laboratory
Airwolf	KYG-AX	Kyugo
Akagawa Jirou no Yuurei Ressha	KIN-YU	King Records
Akira	21	Taito
Akuma no Shoutaijou	KSC-UV	Icom Simulations
Akuma-kun: Makai no Wana	BA-AKUMA	Bandai
Akumajou Densetsu	RC845	Konami
Akumajou Dracula	RV003	Konami
Akumajou Special: Boku Dracula-kun	RC847	Konami
Alien Syndrome	SAN-AZ	Sunsoft
America Oudan Ultra Quiz: Shijou Saidai no Tatakai	TOM-1U	Tomy
American Dream	CDS-A7	C-Dream
American Football: Touchdown Fever	KAC-T7	K.Amusement
Ankoku Shinwa: Yamato Takeru Densetsu	TKS-G6	Tokyo Shoseki
Antarctic Adventure	RC804	Konami
Aoki Ookami to Shiroki Mejika: Genchou Hishi	KOE-GG	Koei
Aoki Ookami to Shiroki Mejika: Genghis Khan	KOE-GX	Koei
Arabian Dream Scheherazade	CBF-AS	Culture Brain
Arctic: Active Rail Playing Game	PNF-A9	Pony Canyon
Argos no Senshi: Hachamecha Daishingeki	TCF-AH	Tecmo
Argus	JF-07	Jaleco
Arkanoid	TFC-AN, 10	Taito
Arkanoid II	TFC-ANII	Taito
Armadillo	IGS-9T	IGS
Armed Dragon Fantasy Villgust	ANG-VI	Plex
Artelius	NBF-AU	Nichibutsu
Asmik-kun Land	ASM-YI	Asmik
ASO: Armored Scrum Object	SFX-AO	SNK Electronics
Astro Fang: Super Machine	WAV-E1	A-Wave

Astro Robo SASA	HSP-01	Mass Tael
Athena	SFX-AT	SNK Electronics
Atlantis no Nazo	SUN-ATL-4900	Sunsoft
Attack Animal Gakuen	PNF-AA (R55V5913)	Pony Canyon
B-Wings	DFC-BW	Data East
Babel no Tou	16	Namco
Baken Hisshou Gaku: Gate In	KAC-3F	K.Amusement
Bakushō! Ai no Gekijō	CDS-IA	Coconuts
Bakushō! Star Monomane Shitennō	PAC-8M	Pack-In-Video
Bakushou!! Jinsei Gekijou	TFC-BZG-5900-23	Taito
Bakushou!! Jinsei Gekijou 2	TFC-BJ2, 35	Taito
Bakushou!! Jinsei Gekijou 3	TFC-BJIII-6400-40	Taito
Ballblazer	PNF-BZ	Activision
Balloon Fight	HVC-BF	Nintendo
Baltron	TDF-BT	Toei Animation
Banana	VFR-B1	Victor Musical
Bananan Ouji no Daibouken	TFC-OJ	Takara
Barcode World	SUN-BBW-7200	Sunsoft / Epoch
Bard's Tale II: The Destiny Knight	PNF-4I (R70V5940)	Pony Canyon
Bard's Tale: Tales of the Unknown	PNF-ET (R68V5935)	Pony Canyon
Baseball	HVC-BA	Nintendo
Baseball Fighter	VAP-V9 (9509)	Vap
Baseball Star: Mezase Sankanou!!	SFX-B9	SNK Electronics
Batman	SUN-BAT-6200	Sunsoft
Batsu & Terii: Makyou no Tetsujin Race	USE-BC	Use
Battle Baseball	BAP-1Z	Banpresto
Battle City	NBC-4500, 09	Namco
Battle Fleet	NAM-FBF-5900	Namco
Battle Formula	TEC-5U	Sunsoft / Tokai Engineering
Battle Stadium: Senbatsu Pro Yakyuu	IGS-X8	IGS

Battle Storm	YZW-9Y	Party Room 21
Battletoads	NCS-8T	NCS / Masiya
Be-Bop High School: Koukousei Gokuraku Densetsu	DFC-EP	Data East
Best Keiba: Derby Stallion	HSP-46	ASCII
Best Play Base Ball Special	HSP-11	ASCII
Best Play Pro Yakyuu	HSP-11	ASCII
Best Play Pro Yakyuu '90	HSP-36	ASCII
Best Play Pro Yakyuu II	HSP-33	ASCII
Best Play Pro Yakyuu Special	HSP-BS	ASCII
Bikkuri Nekketsu Shin Kiroku! Harukanaru Kin Medal	TJC-NK	Technos Japan
Bikkuriman World: Gekitou Sei Senshi	HVC-V3	Nintendo
Binary Land	HFC-BI	Hudson Soft / Momo
Bio Miracle Bokutte Upa	RV102	Konami
Bio Senshi Dan: Increaser to no Tatakai	JF-14	Jaleco
Bird Week	TFS-BK	Toemiland / Toshiba EMI / Lenar
Black Bass	GAM-BO	Game Arts
Black Bass II	GAM-22	Hot-B
Block Set	HVC-BL	Nintendo
Blodia Land: Puzzle Quest	TKS-XF	Tonkin House
Bloody Warriors: Shan-Go no Gyakushuu	TDF-94	Toei Animation
Blue Marlin	GAM-8N	Hot-B
Bokosuka Wars	HSP-04	ASCII
Bomber King	HFC-BX	Hudson Soft
Bomberman	HFC-BM	Hudson Soft / Momo
Bomberman II	HFC-2X	Hudson Soft
Booby Kids	NBF-BB	Nichibutsu
Boulder Dash	DFC-XB	Data East
Bubble Bobble 2	TFC-BB	Taito
Bucky O'Hare	KDS-1V	Konami
Buggy Popper	DFC-BP	Data East

Burai Fighter	DTF-5F	Taito / Taxan U.S.A.
BurgerTime	11	Namco
Business Wars	HCT-78/013	Hect
Cadillac	HCT-C5	Hect
Capcom Barcelona '92	CAP-1N	Capcom
Captain Ed	CBS-ED	CBS / Sony Group
Captain Saver	TFC-CS	Taito
Captain Silver	GTS-CK	Tokuma Soft / Data East
Captain Tsubasa	TCF-TP, 06	Тесто
Captain Tsubasa II: Super Striker	TCF-T6, 11	Тесто
Casino Derby	YZW-KD	Party Room 21
Castle Excellent	HSP-05	ASCII
Castle Quest	HFC-V4	Hudson Soft
Chack 'n Pop	2	Taito
Challenger	HFC-CH	Hudson Soft / Momo
Championship Bowling	ATH-8B	Athena
Championship Lode Runner	HFC-CR	Hudson Soft
Chaos World	NAT-1W	Natsume
Chester Field: Ankoku Shin e no Chōsen	VIC-CF	Vic Tokai
Chibi Maruko-chan: Uki Uki Shopping	NAM-FCM-5800	Namco
Chiisana Obake: Acchi Kocchi Socchi	VAP-AV (9513)	Vap
Chiki Chiki Machine Mou Race	ATL-5I	Atlus
Chip n' Dale no Daisakusen	CAP-JD	Capcom
Chip n' Dale no Daisakusen 2	CAP-2D	Capcom
Chitei Senkou Bazolder	SFL-3V	Sofel
Chiyonofuji no Ōichō	FAC-EJ	Face
Chōjin Sentai Jetman	ANG-OY	Angel
Choplifter	JF-08	Jaleco
Chou Jinrou Senki: Warwolf	TFC-W8	Takara
Chou Wakusei Senki: Metafight	TEC-MF	Sunsoft / Tokai Engineering
Choujikuu Yousai Macross	NAM-NMR-4500	Namco

Choujin: Ultra Baseball	CBF-UB	Culture Brain
Chuka Taisen	DTF-CW, 27	Taito
Chuugoku Janshi Story: Tonpuu	NAT-T8	Natsume
Chuugoku Senseijutsu	SAN-CQ	Jaleco
Circus Charlie	SFC-CC	Soft Pro International / Konami
City Adventure Touch: Mystery of Triangle	THF-TU	Toho
City Connection	JF-05	Jaleco
Clu Clu Land	HVC-CL	Nintendo
Cobra Command	DFC-CN	Data East
Cocoron	TKR-8C	Takeru
Columbus: Ougon no Yoake	TOM-CO	Tomy
Conflict	VIC-C3	Vic Tokai
Contra	RC826	Konami
Cosmic Epsilon	ASM-EO	Asmik
Cosmic Wars	KDS-CJ	Konami
Cosmo Genesis	HSP-06	ASCII
Cosmo Police Galivan	NBF-GV	Nichibutsu
Crayon Shin-chan: Ora to Poi Poi	BA-SHINCHAN	Bandai
Crazy Climber	NBF-CY	Nichibutsu
Crisis Force	RC856	Konami
Cross Fire	KYG-C9	Kyugo
Cycle Race Roadman: Gekisou!! Nihon Isshuu 4000km	TKS-G7	Tokyo Shoseki
Dai Kaijuu: Deburas	DFC-24	Data East
Dai Meiro: Meikyuu no Tatsujin	EPO-E7	Epoch
Dai-2-ji Super Robot Taisen	BAP-N9	Banpresto
Daikoukai Jidai	KOE-QK	Koei
Daiku no Gen-san	IF-24, TIX-59	Irem
Daiku no Gen-san 2: Akage no Dan no Gyakushuu	IF-29	Irem
Daisenryaku	BTC-DY	Bothtec
Daiva: Imperial of Nirsartia	TFS-DV	Toemiland / Toshiba EMI

Dark Lord	DFC-25	Data East
Dash Yarou	VIS-5D	Visco
Datsugoku	KAC-P7	K.Amusement
De-Block	ATH-9L	Athena
Dead Fox	CAP-VP	Capcom
Deep Dungeon III: Yuushi e no Tabi	SQF-UT	Humming Bird Soft
Deep Dungeon IV: Kuro no Youjutsushi	ASM-4D	Asmik / Humming Bird Soft
Deja Vu: Akumu wa Hotouni Yatte Raita	KSC-DG	Icom Simulations / Kemco
Dengeki Big Bang!	VIC-B6	Vic Tokai
Densetsu no Kishi: Elrond	NMK-ER	Jaleco / KK N.M.K.
Derby Stallion: Zenkokuban	HSP-46	ASCII
Devil Man	NAM-DM-5500	Namco
Devil World	HVC-DD	Nintendo
Dezaemon: Designer Yousei Soft	ATH-87	Athena
Die Hard	PAC-57	Pack-In-Video
Dig Dug	NDD-4500, 06	Namco
Dig Dug II	14	Namco
Doki! Doki! Yūenchi: Crazy Land Daisakusen	VAP-VO	Vap
Dokuganryuu Masamune	NAM-DG-5500	Namco
Don Doko Don	TFC-DD	Taito
Don Doko Don 2	41	Taito
Donald Duck	KSC-WS	Kemco
Donald Land	DFC-DX	Data East
Donkey Kong	HVC-DK	Nintendo
Donkey Kong 3	HVC-DT	Nintendo
Donkey Kong Jr.	HVC-JR	Nintendo
Donkey Kong Jr. / Jr. Sansuu Lesson	HVC-SL	Sharp
Donkey Kong Jr. no Sansuu Asobi	HVC-CA	Nintendo
Door Door	EFC-DR	Enix
Doraemon	HFC-DO	Hudson Soft
Doraemon: Giga Zombie no Gyakushū	EPO-E5	Epoch

Double Dragon	TJC-WD	Technos Japan
Double Dragon II: The Revenge	TJC-W2	Technos Japan
Double Dragon III: The Rosetta Stone	TJC-ZW	Technos Japan
Double Moon Densetsu	NCS-1T	NCS / Masiya
Dough Boy	KSC-DB	Kemco / Synapse
Downtown Nekketsu Koushinkyoku: Soreyuke Daiundoukai	TJC-UH	Technos Japan
Downtown Nekketsu Monogatari	TJC-DN	Technos Japan
Downtown Special: Kunio-kun no Jidaigeki Dayo Zenin Shuugou!	TJC-J6	Technos Japan
Dr. Mario	HVC-VU	Nintendo
Dragon Ball 3: Gokuu Den	BA-DB3	Bandai
Dragon Ball Z Gaiden: Saiyajin Zetsumetsu Keikaku	BA-DBZ4	Bandai
Dragon Ball Z II: Gekishin Freeza!!	BA-DBZ2	Bandai
Dragon Ball Z III: Ressen Jinzou Ningen	BA-DBZ3	Bandai
Dragon Ball Z: Kyoushuu! Saiyajin	BA-DBZ	Bandai
Dragon Ball: Dai Maou Fukkatsu	BA-DB2	Bandai
Dragon Ball: Shen Long no Nazo	BA-DRA	Bandai
Dragon Buster	NAM-DB-4900	Namco
Dragon Buster II: Yami no Fuuin	NAM-DBII-5200	Namco
Dragon Fighter	TCC-1D	Towa Chiki
Dragon Ninja	NAM-DN-5800	Namco
Dragon Quest	EFC-DQ	Enix
Dragon Quest II: Akuryou no Kamigami	EFC-D2	Enix
Dragon Quest III: Soshite Densetsu e	EFC-D3	Enix
Dragon Quest IV: Michibikareshi Mono-tachi	EFC-D4	Enix
Dragon Scroll: Yomigaerishi Maryuu	KON-RC823	Konami
Dragon Slayer IV: Drasle Family	NAM-DS4-4900	Namco
Dragon Spirit: Aratanaru Densetsu	NAM-DS-5200	Namco
Dragon Unit	ATH-ZX	Athena
Dragon Wars	KSC-Z9	Kemco
Dragon's Lair	ESF-IP	Epic / Sony Records

Dream Master	NAM-FPZ-5800	Namco / Prism Zone
Duck Hunt	HVC-DH	Nintendo
Duck Tales 2	CAP-DW	Capcom
Dungeon & Magic: Sword of Element	NAT-DM	Natsume
Dungeon Kid	BTC-7D	Quest
Dynamite Batman	SUN-DBT-6500	Sunsoft
Dynamite Bowl	TFS-DL	Toemiland
Eggerland: Meikyū no Fukkatsu	HAL-EG	HAL Laboratories
Egypt	HUM-E9	Human / Human Creative
Elevator Action	TF-4900, 04	Taito
Elysion	TKS-G4	Tokyo Shoseki
Emo Yan no 10 Bai Pro Yakyuu	HTC-IB	Hect
Erika to Satoru no Yume Bōken	NAM-YB-4900	Namco
Erunaaku no Zaihou	TCC-EL	Towa Chiki
Esper Bouken Tai	JF-15	Jaleco
Esper Dream 2: Aratanaru Tatakai	RC861	Konami
Excitebike	HVC-EB	Nintendo
Exciting Boxing	RC250	Konami
Exciting Rally	VRE-E2	Kaken
Exed Exes	GTS-EE	Tokuma Shoten / Capcom
Exerion	JF-01	Jaleco
F-1 Circus	NBF-7F	Nichibutsu
F-1 Race	HVC-FR	Nintendo
F-1 Sensation	KDS-FE	Konami
Famicom Igo Nyumon	IMX-I7	I'Max
Famicom Jump II: Saikyou no 7 Nin	BA-FJ2	Bandai
Famicom Jump: Eiyuu Retsuden	BA-FJ	Bandai
Famicom Meijin Sen	SFX-MQ	CNK
Famicom Shogi: Ryuousen	IMX-1R	I'Max
Famicom Wars	HVC-FW	Nintendo / Intelligent Systems

Famicom Yakyuu Ban	EPO-EY	Epoch
Family BASIC	HVC-BS	Nintendo
Family BASIC v3.0	HVC-VT	Nintendo / Sharp
Family Block	ATH-4T	Athena
Family Boxing	NAM-FB-4900	Namco
Family Circuit	NAM-FC-3900	Namco
Family Circuit '91	NAM-FC91-7800	Namco
Family Jockey	NAM-FJ-3900	Namco
Family Mahjong	NAM-FM-3900	Namco
Family Mahjong II: Shanghai e no Michi	NAM-FMII-4900	Namco
Family Pinball	NAM-FP-4900	Namco / Artman
Family Quiz: 4-nin wa Rival	ATH-FQ	Athena
Family Tennis	NAM-FT-3900	Namco
Family Trainer 1: Athletic World	1	Bandai
Family Trainer 2: Running Stadium	2	Bandai
Family Trainer 3: Aerobics Studio	3	Bandai
Family Trainer 4: Jogging Race	4	Bandai
Family Trainer 5: Meiro Daisakusen	5	Bandai
Family Trainer 7: Famitre Daiundoukai	7	Bandai
Family Trainer 8: Totsugeki! Fuun Takeshijou	8	Bandai
Family Trainer 9: Totsugeki! Fuun Takeshijou 2	9	Bandai
Family Trainer: Manhattan Police	6	Bandai
Family Trainer: Rairai Kyonsis: Baby Kyonsi no Amida Daibouken	10	Bandai
Famista '89: Kaimaku Ban!!	NAM-FS89-4900	Namco
Famista '90	NAM-F90-5800	Namco
Famista '91	NAM-F91-4900	Namco
Famista '92	NAM-F92-5000	Namco
Famista '93	NAM-F93-4900	Namco
Famista '94	NAM-F94-3900	Namco
Fantasy Zone	SUN-FZ-5300	Sunsoft
Fantasy Zone II: Opa-Opa no Namida	SUN-FZII-5500	Sunsoft
Faria: Fuuin no Tsurugi	HSS-FA	Hi-Score Media Work

Faxanadu	HFC-FX	Hudson Soft
FC Genjin: Friendthropus Computerurus	HFC-F3	Hudson Soft
Ferrari Grand Prix Challenge	CDS-FS	Coconuts / C-Dream
Field Combat	JF-04	Jaleco
Fighting Golf	SFX-FI	SNK Electronics
Fighting Road	TDF-FG	Toei Animation
Final Fantasy	SQF-FF	Square Soft
Final Fantasy I & II	SQF-FO	Square Soft
Final Fantasy III	SQF-FC	Square Soft
Final Lap	NAM-FL-5200	Namco
Final Mission	NAT-FV	Natsume
Fire Emblem Gaiden	HVC-2I	Nintendo
Fire Emblem: Ankokuryuu to Hikari no Ken	HVC-VX	Nintendo
Flappy	DBF-FL	dB-Soft
Fleet Commander	HSP-10	ASCII
Flintstones: Rescue of Dino & Hoppy	TFC-FS	Taito
Flipull: An Exciting Cube Game	TFC-FP	Taito
Flying Hero	ESF-FZ/55-6R-3	Epic / Sony Records
Formation Z	JF-02	Jaleco
Front Line	3	Taito
Fudou Myouou Den	TFC-FM, 17	Taito
Fushigi no Blobby	DCE-OV	Jaleco / Absolute
Fushigi no Umi no Nadia	THF-FD	Toho
Fuzzical Fighter	SEI-1E	Sigma
Galaga	NGG-4500, 05	Namco
Galaxian	NGX-4500, 01	Namco
Gambler Jiko Chuushinha	ASM-GJ	Asmik
Gambler Jiko Chuushinha 2	ASM-2J	Asmik
Game Party	CDS-P8	Coconuts / C-Dream
Ganbare Goeman 2	RC833	Konami
Ganbare Goeman Gaiden 2: Tenka no Zaihou	RC857	Konami
Ganbare Goemon Gaiden: Keita Ougon Kiseru	RC840	Konami

Ganbare Goemon! Karakuri Dōchū	RC815	Konami
Ganbare Pennant Race!	RC834	Konami
Ganso Saiyūki: Super Monkey Daibōken	VAP-GS	Vap
GeGeGe no Kitarou 2: Youkai Gundan no Chousen	BA-ONI2	Bandai
GeGeGe no Kitarou: Youkai Daimakyou	BA-GE	Bandai
Geimos	HSP-02	ASCII / Wixel
Gekikame Ninja Den	KDS-GN	Konami
Gekitotsu Yonku Battle	IF-15	Irem
Gekitou Puroresu!! Toukon Densetsu	TCF-PZ	Tecmo
Gekitou Stadium!!	TCF-EF, 09	Тесто
Genpei Touma Den: Computer Boardgame	NAM-GT-4900	Namco
Getsufuu Maden	RC819	Konami
Ghostbusters	GTS-GB	Tokuma Soft
Gimmi a Break: Shijou Saikyou no Quiz Ou Ketteisen	YZW-GY	Party Room 21 / TBS
Gimmi a Break: Shijou Saikyou no Quiz Ou Ketteisen 2	YZW-QP	Party Room 21
Gimmick!	SUN-GMK-6200	Sunsoft
Ginga Eiyuu Densetsu	KSC-GE	Kemco
Ginga no Sannin	HVC-GT	Nintendo
Goal!!	JF-38	Jaleco
God Slayer: Haruka Tenkū no Sonata	SFX-G8	SNK Electronics
Godzilla	THF-GZ	Toho
Golf	HVC-GF	Nintendo
Golf '92	GO1-OJF-O	GO.1
Golf Club Birdie Rush	DFC-GH	Data East
Golf Grand Slam	HCT-7G	Hect
Golf Ko Open	TFC-GO, 26	Taito
Golgo 13: Dai 1 Shou: Kamigami no Tasogare	VIC-G3	Vic Tokai
Golgo 13: Dai 2 Shou: Riddle of Icarus	VIC-M4	Vic Tokai
Gomoku Narabe Renju	HVC-GO	Nintendo
Goonies	RC809	Konami
Goonies 2: Fratelli Saigo no Chousen	RC818	Konami

Gorby no Pipeline Daisakusen	GTS-4G	Tokuma Soft
Gorilla Man	YZW-GR	Party Room 21 / Party Tap
Gozonji: Yaji Kita Chin Douchuu	HAL-YJ	HAL Laboratories
Gradius	RC810	Konami
Gradius II	RC832	Konami
Grand Master	VRE-IE	Varie
Great Battle Cyber	BAP-GC	Banpresto
Great Boxing: Rush Up	VIS-5E	Visco
Great Deal	HCT-79	Hect
Great Tank	SFX-TV	SNK Electronics
Gremlins 2: Shinshu Tanjou	SUN-GRM-6500	Sunsoft
Guardic Gaiden	IF-08	Irem
Guevara	SFX-GQ	SNK Electronics
Gun Hed: Arutanaru Tatakai	VRE-R3	Varie
Gun Sight	KDS-8G	Konami
Gun-Dec	SAC-9G	Sammy
Gun-Nac	TKS-XG	Tonkin House
Gyro	HVC-GY	Nintendo
Gyrodine	TFC-GD, 06	Taito
Haja no Fuuin	HSP-08	ASCII
Hana no Star Kaidou	VFR-H1-02	Victor Musical
Hanjuku Hero	SQF-HJ	Square Soft
Happy Birthday Bugs	KSC-H8	Kemco
Hatris	BPS-JZ	Bullet-Proof Software
Hayauchi Super Igo	NAM-X79-5900	Namco
Heavy Barrel	DFC-XH	Data East
Hebereke	SUN-HEB-6200	Sunsoft
Hector '87	НГС-НН	Hudson Soft
Heisei Tensai Bakabon	NAM-FTB-5800	Namco
Hello Kitty no Ohanabatake	CT5-HL	Character Soft
Hello Kitty World	CTS-HW	Character Soft
Herakles no Eikou II: Titan no Metsubou	DFC-2H	Data East

Herakles no Eikou: Toujin Makyouden Hi no Tori: Houou-hen: Gaou no Bouken RC817 Konami Higemaru Makaijima: Nanatsu no Shima Daibouken Highway Star SQF-HI Square Soft Hikari no Senshi Photon: The Ultimate Game on Planet Earth Hirake! Ponkikki TFC-PK Takara Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-HA Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hisastsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinsciki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hono Non Norinendo Nono no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hotstages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco Hototogisu Hototogisu IF-10, TIX-Z1 Irem Hototogisu		T	
Higemaru Makaijima: Nanatsu no Shima Daibouken Highway Star SQF-HI Square Soft Hikari no Senshi Photon: The Ultimate Game on Planet Earth Hirake! Ponkikki TFC-PK Takara TFC-PK Takara Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hisastsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma BAP-X7 Banpresto Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokatio no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter: 90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hot-B / Game Arts Kemco Kencu Hot-B / Game Arts	Herakles no Eikou: Toujin Makyouden	DFC-HE	Data East
Daibouken Highway Star Hikari no Senshi Photon: The Ultimate Game on Planet Earth Hirake! Ponkikki Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma Bap-x7 Banpresto Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toci Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Hook Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hot-J Agame	Hi no Tori: Houou-hen: Gaou no Bouken	RC817	Konami
Hikari no Senshi Photon: The Ultimate Game on Planet Earth Hirake! Ponkikki Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto Hitler no Fukkatsu: Top Secret CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokuto no Ken Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken S. Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken S. Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Homo Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden Hook Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-Hock Hone Capco Hot-Hock Holy Gam-Arts Hoshi on Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-Hock Holy Diver Hito Hoshi on Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-Holy Oiru Hot-Brassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco		CAP-MZ	Capcom
Planet Earth Hirake! Ponkikki Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Hono Rod Sirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hook Hoshi on Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hoshi on Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ KBF-AN Culture Brain Puble A naine Sigma Bappresto Capcum Bapp	Highway Star	SQF-HI	Square Soft
Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa CBF-H2 Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi CBF-3H Culture Brain CBF-4N Culture Brain CUlture Brain CBF-4N Culture Brain Culture Brain CBF-4N Culture Brain Culture Brain Culture Brain Culture Brain Culture Brain Culture Brain SEI-1A Sigma BAP-X7 Banpresto CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver IF-12 Irem Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco		TFC-PH	Takara
Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain SEI-1A Sigma BAP-X7 Banpresto CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hono Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hot-B / Game Arts Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-B / Game Arts Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-B / Game Arts KSC-HZ Kemco	Hirake! Ponkikki	TFC-PK	Takara
Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars CBF-4N Culture Brain Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Sigma BAP-X7 Banpresto Hitler no Fukkatsu: Top Secret CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokuto no Ken Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hostages: The Embassy Mission Sigma NFC-HR Culture Brain Sigma Banpresto Lapcom HVC-HA Nintendo Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation Foei Animation Foei Animation Shinken no Kanata e Hore Animation Shinken no Kanata e Hore Animation Sursoft Hono Nono Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Sun-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Sun-DD2-6800 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission	Hiryuu no Ken II: Dragon no Tsubasa	CBF-H2	Culture Brain
Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho NFC-HR Culture Brain Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi SEI-1A Sigma Banpresto Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Homo Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hiryuu no Ken III: 5 Nin no Ryuu Senshi	CBF-3H	Culture Brain
Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokuto no Ken Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! Homo Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hostages: The Embassy Mission KCAP-HF Capcom HovC-HA Nintendo Login Soft Toei Animation Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver F-12 Irem DFC-YP Data East Homo Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Sun-DDD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hot-B / Game Arts Kemco	Hiryuu no Ken Special: Fighting Wars	CBF-4N	Culture Brain
Hissatsu Shigoto Nin BAP-X7 Banpresto Capcom Hitler no Fukkatsu: Top Secret CAP-HF Capcom Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hono Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-B / Game Arts Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hiryuu no Ken: Ougi no Sho	NFC-HR	Culture Brain
Hitler no Fukkatsu: Top Secret Hogan's Alley HVC-HA Nintendo Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hot-B / Game Arts	Hissatsu Doujou Yaburi	SEI-1A	Sigma
Hogan's Alley Hogan's Alley Hokaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Hokuto no Ken TDF-HK Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu TDF-HO Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver IF-12 Irem Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hotages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hissatsu Shigoto Nin	BAP-X7	Banpresto
Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu HSP-07 Login Soft Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden TDF-HO Toei Animation TDF-K3 Toei Animation TDF-K3 Toei Animation TDF-HO Toei Animation TOF-HO Toei Animation To	Hitler no Fukkatsu: Top Secret	CAP-HF	Capcom
Hokuto no Ken Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu TDF-HO Toei Animation Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden TDF-K3 Toei Animation TOEi Animation TDF-K3 Toei Animation TDF-97 Toei Animation TDF-97 Toei Animation TOF-97 Toei Animation Toei Animation TOF-97 Toei Animation Toei Animation TOF-97 Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation TOF-97 Toei Animation Toei Animat	Hogan's Alley	HVC-HA	Nintendo
Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! Hono no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari Hostages: The Embassy Mission TDF-HO Toei Animation	Hokkaidou Rensa Satsujin: Okhotsu ni Shoyu	HSP-07	Login Soft
Hokuto no Ken 3: Shinseiki Souzou: Seiken Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hokuto no Ken	TDF-HK	Toei Animation
Retsuden Hokuto no Ken 4: Shichisei Hakenden: Hokuto Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver IF-12 Irem Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ	Hokuto no Ken 2: Seikimatsu Kyuuseishu Densetsu	TDF-HO	Toei Animation
Shinken no Kanata e Holy Diver IF-12 Irem Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco		TDF-K3	Toei Animation
Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!! DFC-YP Data East Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! DFC-YQ Data East Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco		TDF-97	Toei Animation
Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!! Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts KSC-HZ Kemco	Holy Diver	IF-12	Irem
Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden KKS-SF (01) Seta Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts KSC-HZ Kemco	Home Run Nighter '90: The Pennant League!!	DFC-YP	Data East
Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei SUN-DOD-6500 Sunsoft Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Home Run Nighter: Pennant League!!	DFC-YQ	Data East
Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2 SUN-DD2-6800 Sunsoft ESPG43/ESF-7Q Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hon Shougi: Naitou 9 Dan Shougi Hiden	KKS-SF (01)	Seta
Hook ESPG43/ESF-7Q Epic / Sony Records Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei	SUN-DOD-6500	Sunsoft
Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari HVC-KI Nintendo Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Honoo no Toukyuuji: Dodge Danpei 2	SUN-DD2-6800	Sunsoft
Hoshi o Miru Hito GAM-HM-02 Hot-B / Game Arts Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hook	ESPG43/ESF-7Q	Epic / Sony Records
Hostages: The Embassy Mission KSC-HZ Kemco	Hoshi no Kirby: Yume no Izumi no Monogatari	HVC-KI	Nintendo
	Hoshi o Miru Hito	GAM-HM-02	Hot-B / Game Arts
Hototogisu IF-10, TIX-Z1 Irem	Hostages: The Embassy Mission	KSC-HZ	Kemco
	Hototogisu	IF-10, TIX-Z1	Irem

Hottāman no Chitei Tanken	USE-HC	Use
Hudson Hawk	ESF-Y4/ESPG40	Epic / Sony Records
Hyakki Yagyou	USE-HG	Use
Hyaku no Sekai no Monogatari	ASK-71	ASK
Hydlide 3: Yami Kara no Houmonsha	NAM-HL3-6900	Namco
Hydlide Special	TFS-HS	Toemiland / Toshiba EMI
Hyokkori Hyoutanjima: Nazo no Kaizokusen	SHI-HV	Yutaka
Hyper Olympic	RC800	Konami
Hyper Sports	KON-RC806	Konami
I Love Softball	CDS-S6	C-Dream
Ice Climber	HVC-IC	Nintendo
Ide Yousuke Meijin no Jissen Mahjong	CAP-IM	Capcom
Ide Yousuke Meijin no Jissen Mahjong II	CAP-2Q	Capcom
Idol Hakkenden	TCC-I8	Towa Chiki
Igo Meikan	HCT-II/006	Hect
Igo-Shinan	HCT-ID	Hect
Igo-Shinan '91	НСТ-9А	Hect
Igo-Shinan '92	HCT-53	Hect
Igo-Shinan '93	HCT-IF/018	Hect
Igo-Shinan '94	HCT-IR	Hect
Igo: Kyū Roban Taikyoku	BPS-IG	Bullet-Proof Software
Ikari	KAC-IK	SNK Electronics
Ikari II: Dogosoken	KAC-DS	K. Amusement
Ikari Three	KAC-3D	SNK Electronics
Ike Ike! Nekketsu Hockey-bu: Subette Koronde Dairantou	TJC-13	Technos Japan
Ikinari Musician	TKS-G1	Tokyo Shoseki
Ikki	SUN-RIK-4900	Sunsoft
Image Fight	IF-14	Irem
Indora no Hikari	KSC-IN	Kemco
Insector X	TFC-IS	Taito
Isaki Shuugorou no Keiba Hisshou Gaku	IMA-EK	Imagineer

Ishin no Arashi	KOE-XK	Koei
Itadaki Street: Watashi no Mise ni Yottette	HSP-35	ASCII / Login Soft
J-League Fighting Soccer: The King of Ace Strikers	IGS-JS	IGS
J.League Winning Goal	HVC-W3	Electronic Arts
Jackie Chan	HFC-V5	Hudson Soft
Jajamaru Gekimaden: Maboroshi no Kinmajou	JF-27	Jaleco
Jajamaru Ninpouchou	JF-22	Jaleco
Jajamaru no Daibouken	JF-09	Jaleco
Jangou		Victor Musical
Jarinko Chie: Bakudan Musume no Shiawase Sagashi	KON-RC828	Konami
Jekyll Hakase no Houma ga Toki	THF-TK	Toho
Jesus: Kyoufu no Bio Monster	KIN-GP	King Records
Jetsons: Cogswell's Caper	TFC-JS	Taito
Jigoku Gokuraku Maru	PAC-9Z	Pack-In-Video
Jikuu Yuuden: Debias	NAM-DE-4900	Namco
JJ Tobidase Daisakusen Part 2	SQF-JJ	Square Soft
Jongbou	KAC-JB	K. Amusement
Joust	HAL-JU	Atari / HAL Laboratories
Joy Mech Fight	HVC-JM	Nintendo
JuJu Densetsu	DTF-5J	Taito
Jumpin' Kid: Jack to Mame no Ki Monogatari	ASM-J9	Asmik
Juouki	ASM-9J	Asmik
Just Breed	EFC-I5	Enix
Juuryoku Soukou Metal Storm	IF-21, TIX-4M	Irem
Juvei Quest	NAM-FJQ-7800	Namco
Kaettekita! Gunjin Shougi: Nanya Sore!?	SFL-NS	Sofel
Kage no Densetsu	TFC-KD, 07	Taito
Kage no Densetsu	NAT-JL	Natsume
Kagerou Densetsu	PIX-XA-01	Pixel
Kaguya Hime Densetsu	VFR-K1-06	Victor Musical
Kaijuu Monogatari	NAM-KM-5500	Namco / Birthday

Kaiketsu Yanchamaru	IF-07	Irem
Kaiketsu Yanchamaru 2: Karakuri Land	IF-22	Irem
Kaiketsu Yanchamaru 3: Taiketsu! Zouringen	IF-28	Irem
Kakefu-kun no Jump Tengoku: Speed Jigoku	VIC-KX	Vic Tokai
Kame no Ongaeshi: Urashima Densetsu	HFC-KO	Hudson Soft
Kamen no Ninja: Akakage	TDF-AK	Toei Animation / Shouei System
Kamen no Ninja: Hanamaru	CAP-JE	Capcom
Kamen Rider Club: Gekitotsu Shocker Land	BA-KAMEN	Bandai / Ishimori Pro
Kamen Rider SD: Guranhokkaa no Yabou	ANG-KA	Angel / Toei Animation
Kanshakudama Nage Kantarou no Toukaidou Gojuusan Tsugi	SUN-TKR-4900	Sunsoft
Karakuri Kengouden: Musashi Road: Karakuribito Hashiru!	SHI-98	Yutaka / Mind
Karateka	SFC-KR	Soft Pro International / Broderbund
Karnov	NAM-KA-4900	Namco / Data East
Katte ni Shirokuma: Mori wo Sukue no Maki		CBS / Sony
Kawa no Nushi Tsuri	PAC-7K	Pack-In-Video
Keiba Simulation: Honmei	NBF-KH, 08	Nichibutsu
Kero Kero Keroppi no Daibouken	CTS-ZI	Sanrio / Character Soft
Kero Kero Keroppi no Daibouken 2: Donuts Ike ha Oosawagi!	CTS-KK	Sanrio / Character Soft
Keroppi to Keroriinu no Splash Bomb!	CTS-SY	Sanrio / Character Soft
Kidō Senshi Z-Gundam: Hot Scramble	BA-ZG	Bandai / Soutsu Agency
King Kong 2: Ikari no Megaton Punch	RC816	Konami
King of Kings	NAM-KK-5900	Namco
King's Knight	SQF-KG	Square Soft / Workss
Kinnikuman: MUSCLE Tag Match	BA-KIN	Bandai / Toei Animation
Kiteretsu Daihyakka	EPO-KT	Epoch

Klax	HFC-V6	Hudson Soft / Atari
Knight Rider	PAC-NR	Pack-In-Video
Ko no Bouken: The Quest of Ki	NAM-QK-3900	Namco
Konami Wai Wai World	RC825	Konami
Konamic Sports in Seoul	KDS-F2	Konami
Koushien	KAC-KQ	K. Amusement
Kujaku Ou	PNF-KZ (R58V5916)	Pony Canyon
Kujaku Ou 2	PNF-QW	Pony Canyon
Kung Fu	HVC-KF	Nintendo / Irem
Kunio-kun no Nekketsu Soccer League	TJC-NV	Technos Japan
Kurogane Hiroshi no Yosou Daisuki! Kachiuma Densetsu	NBF-R7	Nichibutsu
Kyattou Ninden Teyandee	TCF-Y8	Тесто
Kyonshiizu 2	TFC-KR-5500-12	Taito
Kyorochan Land	HR-4C	Hiro / Triffix
Kyouryuu Sentai Juu Ranger	ANG-JF	Angel / Toei Animation
Kyuukyoku Harikiri Koushien	TFC-KHK-6900-42	Taito
Kyuukyoku Harikiri Stadium	TFC-KHS-5500-18	Taito
Kyuukyoku Harikiri Stadium '88	18	Taito
Kyuukyoku Harikiri Stadium III	TFC-KH	Taito
Kyuukyoku Harikiri Stadium: Heisei Gannen Ban	TFC-KHH-6800-25	Taito
Kyuukyoku Tiger	CBS-QT	CBS / Sony / Taito
L'Empereur	KOE-QV	Koei
Labyrinth	GTS-LA	Tokuma Soft
Lagrange Point	KON-RC851	Konami
Last Armageddon	SHI-LT	Yutaka / Braingrey- Mind
Law of the West	PNF-LW	Pony Canyon / Accolade
Layla	DBF-LY	dB-Soft
Little Magic	DFC-LG	Data East
Little Mermaid: Ningyo Hime	CAP-3U	Capcom

Lode Runner	HFC-LR	Hudson Soft / Broderbund
Lord of King	JF-25	Jaleco
Lost Word of Jenny	TFC-JN	Takara
Lot Lot	GTS-LL	Tokuma Shoten / Irem
Lunar Ball	PNF-LB	Pony Canyon / AII
Lupin Sansei: Pandora no Isan	NAM-LP-3900	Namco
Mach Rider	HVC-MR	Nintendo
Mad City	KDS-MU	Konami
Magic Candle	SAC-1Q	Sammy
Magic Darts	KKS-4R	Seta
Magic John	JF-30	Jaleco
Magical Doropie	VIC-VP	Vic Tokai
Magical Taruruuto-kun 2: Mahou Daibouken	BA-MT2	Bandai / Toei Animation
Magical Taruruuto-kun: Fantastic World!!	19	Bandai / Tokei Animation
MagMax	NBF-MM, 01	Nichibutsu
Magnum Kiki Ippatsu: Empire City 1931		Toshiba EMI / ISI
Maharaja	SUN-MHA-6200	Sunsoft
Mahjong	HVC-MJ	Nintendo
Mahjong Club: Nagatachou	HCT-N7/010	Hect
Mahjong RPG Dora Dora Dora	NAT-3R	Natsume
Mahjong Taikai	KOE-IQ	Koei
Mahjong Taisen	NBF-BJ	Nichibutsu
Mahou no Princess Minky Momo: Remember Dream	SHI-61	Yutaka / Ashipro
Maison Ikkoku	BTC-M1	Bothtec
Majabencha Mahjong Senki	GTS-VZ	Tokuma Soft
Majin Eiyuuden Wataru Gaiden	HFC-V2	Hudson Soft
Major League	IF-13	Irem
Majou Densetsu II: Daimashikyou Galious	KDS-GI	Konami
Makaimura	CAP-MK	Capcom

Maniac Mansion	JF-18	Jaleco
Марру	NMP-4500, 04	Namco
Mappy Kids	NAM-FMK-5800	Namco
Mappy Land	NAM-ML-3900	Namco
Mario Bros.	HVC-MA	Nintendo
Mario Open Golf	HVC-UG	Nintendo
Marusa no Onna	CAP-FM	Capcom
Mashou	IF-05	Irem
Masuzoe Youichi: Icchou Made Famicom	CDS-I4	Coconuts
Matendouji	BTC-7M	Quest
Matsumoto Tooru no Kabushiki Hisshou Gaku	IMA-KB	Imagineer
Matsumoto Tooru no Kabushiki Hisshou Gaku 2	IMA-K2	Imagineer
Max Warrior: Wakusei Kaigenrei	VAP-ZN	Vap
Megami Tensei II: Digital Devil Story	NAM-FMT-7800	Namco
Megami Tensei: Digital Devil Story	NAM-MT-4900	Namco
Mei Tantei Holmes: M Kara no Chousenjou	TCC-M3	Towa Chiki
Meijiishin	USE-NC	Use
Meikyuu Jima	IF-18	Irem
Meikyuu Kumikyoku: Milon no Daiboken	HFC-KM	Hudson Soft
Meimon! Dai San Yakyuu Bu	BA-DAI3	Bandai
Meimon! Takonishi Ouendan: Kouha 6 Nin Shuu	ASM-T1	Asmik
Meitantei Holmes: Kiri no London Satsujin Jiken	TCC-KL	Towa Chiki
Metal Flame PsyBuster	DCE-QM	Jaleco / Sculptured Software
Metal Gear	KDS-ME	Konami
Metal Max	DFC-26	Data East / Crea-Tech
Metal Slader Glory	HAL-4J	HAL Laboratories / Yoshimiru
Metro-Cross	NAM-MC-3900	Namco
Mezase Pachi Pro: Pachio-kun	CDS-PA	Coconuts / C-Dream
Mezase Top Pro: Green ni Kakeru Yume	JF-41	Jaleco
Mickey Mouse III: Yume Fuusen	KTB-MD	Kemco
Mickey Mouse: Fushigi no Kuni no Daibouken	HFC-MI	Hudson Soft

Might and Magic: Book One: Secret of the Inner Sanctum	GAT-MP	American Sammy
Mighty Bomb Jack	TCF-MB	Tecmo
Mighty Final Fight	CAP-SD	Capcom
Mike Tyson's Punch-Out!!	HVC-PT	Nintendo
Millipede	HAL-ML	HAL Laboratories / Atari
Mindseeker	NAM-MS-6500	Namco
Minelvaton Saga: Ragon no Fukkatsu	TFC-MS	Taito
Mini-Putt	WAV-Q6	A Wave
Minna no Taabou no Nakayoshi Daisakusen	CTS-9N	Character Soft / ASCII
Miracle Ropitt: 2100-Nen no Daibōken	KIN-GM	King Records / Animation 20
Mirai Senshi: Lios	PAC-R6	Pack-In-Video
Mirai Shinwa Jarvas	11	Taito
Mississippi Satsujin Jiken: Murder on the Mississippi	JF-11	Jaleco / Activision
Mito Koumon II: Sekai Manyuu Ki	SUN-MKII-5500	Sunsoft
Mitsume ga Tooru	TOM-3M	Tomy
Mizushima Shinji no Dai Koushien	STE-VC	Capcom
Moai-kun	KDS-M9	Konami
Moe Pro! '90: Kandou-hen	JF-29	Jaleco
Moe Pro!: Saikyou-hen	JF-33	Jaleco
Moero Twin Bee: Cinnamon Hakase wo Sukue!	RC813	Konami
Moero!! Junior Basket: Two on Two	JF-20	Jaleco
Moero!! Juudou Warriors	JF-28	Jaleco
Moero!! Pro Soccer	JF-21	Jaleco
Moero!! Pro Tennis	JF-17	Jaleco
Moero!! Pro Yakyuu	JF-13	Jaleco
Moero!! Pro Yakyuu '88: Kettei Ban	JF-19	Jaleco
Moeru! Oniisan	THF-M7	Toho / NTV
Momotaro Densetsu Gaiden	HFC-MV	Hudson Soft / Summer Project

Momotarou Densetsu: Peach Boy Legend HFC-MO Hudson Soft Moncy Game Moncy Game SFL-MY Sofel Moncy Game II: Kabutochou no Kiseki SFL-ZM Sofel Monopoly TOM-6B Tomy Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō SFL-7N Sofel Mono Crystal HCT-MS/017 Hect Morita Shougi KKS-MC, 02 Scta Mother HVC-MX Nintendo Motocross Champion KDS-CX Konami Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Toei Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional HAL-JO HAL Laboratories Musashi no Bōken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Ncko: Sckai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho Namo Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic Namco Mangodu Shirei! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemeo Nangolus Namco Nangodu Shirei! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemeo Nakeketsu Kakutou Densetsu TIC-NA Technos Japan Ncketsu Koukou Dodgeball-bu TIC-ND Technos Japan Ncketsu Koukou Dodgeball-bu TIC-ND Technos Japan	Momotarou Densetsu	HFC-M2	Hudson Soft
Money Game SFL-MY Sofel Money Game II: Kabutochou no Kiseki Monopoly TOM-6B Tomy Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō SFL-7N Sofel Mono Crystal HCT-MS/017 Heet Morita Shougi Mother Mottocross Champion Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo Mouryou Senki Madara Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Böken Nakayismi a Satoru F-1 Hero Nakayoshi to Issho Namoo Classic Namoo Classic Namoo Classic II Namoo Classic II Namoo Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Nayo Blue Neketsu Kakutou Densetsu Neketsu Kouha Kunio-kun Neketsu Kouha Kunio-kun Neketsu Kouha Kunio-kun Tod-NN Tod-Nn Sofel Tomy Sofel Het Comy Sofel Het Sofel Het Sofel Het Comy Sofel Het Sofel Het Sofel Aks-Monich Sofel Het Comy Sofel Het Sofel Sofa Sofel Het Comy Sofel Het Sofel Sofa Sofel Het Comy Sofel Het Sofel Sofa Sofel Sofel Sofel Sofel Sofa Sofel Tomy Sofel Sof			
Money Game II: Kabutochou no Kiseki Monopoly TOM-6B Tomy Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō SFL-7N Sofel Moon Crystal HCT-MS/017 Heet Morita Shougi KKS-MC, 02 Seta Mother HVC-MX Nintendo Motocross Champion KDS-CX Konami Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Toci Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero Nakayoshi to Issho Nameo Classic Nameo Classic Nameo Classic II Nameo Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Nameo Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Nay Blue Nekletsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Toei Anima and Use Nekhetsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	, ,		
MonopolyTOM-6BTomyMonster Maker; Nanatsu no HihōSFL-7NSofelMoon CrystalHCT-MS/017HectMorita ShougiKKS-MC, 02SetaMotherHVC-MXNintendoMotocross ChampionKDS-CXKonamiMottomo Abunai DekaTDF-93Toei Animation / NTVMoulin Rouge Senki: Melville no HonooGAT-M6GakkencoMouryou Senki MadaraRC846KonamiMr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One ProfessionalHAL-JOHAL LaboratoriesMusashi no BökenSEI-ICSigmaMusashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu8TaitoMy Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no NcgaiBAP-63BanprestoNagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi DaiTDF-NNToei AnimationBökenVRE-F1VarieNakajima Satoru F-1 HeroVRE-F1VarieNakayoshi to IsshoSHI-MNYutakaNameo ClassicNAM-NC-5900NamcoNameo Classic IINAM-NC-5900NamcoNamco Mahjong III: Mahjong TengokuNAM-NM3-4900NamcoNangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNay BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan			
Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō Monor Crystal Morita Shougi Mother Mother Motocross Champion Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Toei Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Musashi no Böken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Böken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho Namco Classic Namco Classic Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Manjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Napoleon Senki Napoleon Senki Napoleon Senki Nay Blue Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TDF-NN Toei Animation Nofel SHL-NN Sofel Hect KKS-MC, 02 Seta HCT-MS/017 Hect KKS-MC, 02 Seta HCT-MS/017 Hect KKS-MC, 02 Seta HCT-MS/017 Hect KKS-MC, 02 Seta Mother HVC-MX Nintendo Seta SHA-G3 Banpresto Banpresto Banpresto VRE-F1 Varie Varie NAM-NC-5900 Namco Nam			
Moon Crystal HCT-MS/017 Hect Morita Shougi KKS-MC, 02 Seta Mother HVC-MX Nintendo Motocross Champion KDS-CX Konami Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Toei Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional HAL-JO HAL Laboratories Musashi no Böken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Böken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic IN NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NAM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan			
Morita Shougi Mother Mother Motocross Champion Motocross Champion Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 TOci Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional BAP-63 Banpresto Banpresto Toci Animation Toci Animation Toci Animation Toci Animation VRE-F1 Varie Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun	Monster Maker: Nanatsu no Hihō		Sofel
MotherHVC-MXNintendoMotocross ChampionKDS-CXKonamiMottomo Abunai DekaTDF-93Toei Animation / NTVMoulin Rouge Senki: Melville no HonooGAT-M6GakkencoMouryou Senki MadaraRC846KonamiMr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One ProfessionalHAL-JOHAL LaboratoriesMusashi no BökenSEI-ICSigmaMusashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu8TaitoMy Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no NegaiBAP-63BanprestoNegaiNagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi DaiTDF-NNToei AnimationBökenVRE-F1VarieNakajima Satoru F-1 HeroVRE-F1VarieNakayoshi to IsshoSHI-MNYutakaNamco ClassicNAM-NC-5900NamcoNamco Classic IINAM-FN2-5900NamcoNamco Mahjong III: Mahjong TengokuNAM-NM3-4900NamcoNangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNapoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Moon Crystal	HCT-MS/017	Hect
Motocross ChampionKDS-CXKonamiMottomo Abunai DekaTDF-93Toei Animation / NTVMoulin Rouge Senki: Melville no HonooGAT-M6GakkencoMouryou Senki MadaraRC846KonamiMr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One ProfessionalHAL-JOHAL LaboratoriesMusashi no BōkenSEI-ICSigmaMusashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu8TaitoMy Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no NegaiBAP-63BanprestoNagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi DaiTDF-NNToei AnimationBōkenVRE-F1VarieNakajima Satoru F-1 HeroVRE-F1VarieNakayoshi to IsshoSHI-MNYutakaNamco ClassicNAM-NC-5900NamcoNamco Classic IINAM-FN2-5900NamcoNamco Mahjong III: Mahjong TengokuNAM-NM3-4900NamcoNangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNapoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Morita Shougi	KKS-MC, 02	Seta
Mottomo Abunai Deka TDF-93 Toei Animation / NTV Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Masashi no Bōken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	Mother	HVC-MX	Nintendo
Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo GAT-M6 Gakkenco Mouryou Senki Madara RC846 Konami Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional HAL-JO HAL Laboratories Musashi no Bōken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken VRE-F1 Varie Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic II NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NAM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	Motocross Champion	KDS-CX	Konami
Mouryou Senki Madara Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Musashi no Böken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Böken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NAM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan	Mottomo Abunai Deka	TDF-93	
Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional Musashi no Bōken SEI-IC Sigma Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Namco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun	Moulin Rouge Senki: Melville no Honoo	GAT-M6	Gakkenco
Musashi no Bōken Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu 8 Taito My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero Nakajoshi to Issho Namco Classic NaM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NaM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-NA Technos Japan	Mouryou Senki Madara	RC846	Konami
Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Böken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Mangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Namco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Namco Nanoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-NA Technos Japan	Mr. Jumbo Ozaki Hole in One Professional	HAL-JO	HAL Laboratories
My Life My Love: Boku no Yume: Watashi no Negai Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero Nakayoshi to Issho Namco Classic Nam-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Nam-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Nameo Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun Bap-63 Banpresto Nainer NAM-NN Toei Animation Toei Animation Nameo Nameo NAM-NNA Yutaka NAM-NC-5900 Namco Na	Musashi no Bōken	SEI-IC	Sigma
Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero Nakayoshi to Issho Namco Classic Namco Classic II Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Mangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Namco Sunsoft Napoleon Senki Napoleon Senki Nay Blue Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nagagutsu o Haita Neko: Sekai Isshū 80 Nichi Dai TDF-NN Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation Toei Animation Tuei Anim	Musashi no Ken: Tadaima Shugyou Chuu	8	Taito
Bōken Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero VRE-F1 Varie Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NAM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun		BAP-63	Banpresto
Nakayoshi to Issho SHI-MN Yutaka Namco Classic NAM-NC-5900 Namco Namco Classic II NAM-FN2-5900 Namco Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku NAM-NM3-4900 Namco Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy KSC-SI Kemco Nantettatte!! Baseball SUN-NTB-5900 Sunsoft Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	_ = =	TDF-NN	Toei Animation
Namco Classic Namco Classic II Namco Classic II Namco Classic II Namco Classic II Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku Namco Mamco Namco Mamco Namco Mamco Namco	Nakajima Satoru F-1 Hero	VRE-F1	Varie
Namco Classic IINAM-FN2-5900NamcoNamco Mahjong III: Mahjong TengokuNAM-NM3-4900NamcoNangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNapoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Nakayoshi to Issho	SHI-MN	Yutaka
Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong TengokuNAM-NM3-4900NamcoNangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNapoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Namco Classic	NAM-NC-5900	Namco
Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. SpyKSC-SIKemcoNantettatte!! BaseballSUN-NTB-5900SunsoftNapoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Namco Classic II	NAM-FN2-5900	Namco
Nantettatte!! Baseball Napoleon Senki IF-09 Irem Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan Technos Japan	Namco Mahjong III: Mahjong Tengoku	NAM-NM3-4900	Namco
Napoleon SenkiIF-09IremNavy BlueIMX-NBI'Max / I'max and UseNekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Nangoku Shirei!! Spy vs. Spy	KSC-SI	Kemco
Navy Blue IMX-NB I'Max / I'max and Use Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu TJC-NA Technos Japan Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	Nantettatte!! Baseball	SUN-NTB-5900	Sunsoft
Nekketsu Kakutou DensetsuTJC-NATechnos JapanNekketsu Kouha Kunio-kunTJC-KNTechnos Japan	Napoleon Senki	IF-09	Irem
Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun TJC-KN Technos Japan	Navy Blue	IMX-NB	I'Max / I'max and Use
	Nekketsu Kakutou Densetsu	TJC-NA	Technos Japan
Nekketsu Koukou Dodgeball-bu TJC-ND Technos Japan	Nekketsu Kouha Kunio-kun	TJC-KN	Technos Japan
	Nekketsu Koukou Dodgeball-bu	TJC-ND	Technos Japan

Nekketsu Koukou Dodgeball-bu: Soccer-hen	TJC-N3	Technos Japan
Nekketsu! Street Basket: Ganbare Dunk Heroes	TJC-BR	Technos Japan
Nemo: Pajama Hero	CAP-EZ	Capcom
New Ghostbusters II	HAL-QD	HAL Laboratories
New York Nyankies	ALT-7A	Atlus
Nichibutsu Mahjong III: Mahjong G Men	NBF-JX	Nichibutsu
Nihon Ichi no Meikantoku	ASM-M8	Asmik
Niji no Silk Road: Zig Zag Boukenki	VFR-L1-07	Victor Interactive
Ninja Cop Saizou	KYG-NX	Taito
Ninja Crusaders	SAC-N4	Sammy
Ninja Hattori-kun: Ninja wa Shuugyou de Gozaru no Maki	HFC-NH	Hudson Soft
Ninja Jajamaru-kun	JF-06	Jaleco
Ninja Jajamaru: Ginga Daisakusen	JF-32	Jaleco
Ninja Ryukenden	TCF-NY, 07	Tecmo
Ninja Ryukenden II: Ankoku no Jashinken	TCF-NW, 10	Tecmo
Ninja Ryukenden III: Yomi no Hakobune	TCF-3N	Tecmo
Ninja-kun: Ashura no Shou	UPL-NJ	UPL
Ninja-kun: Majou no Bouken	JF-03	Jaleco
Ninjara Hoi!	HSP-34	ASCII / Login Soft
Nishimura Kyoutarou Mystery: Blue Train Satsujin Jiken	IF-11	Irem
Nishimura Kyoutarou Mystery: Super Express Satsujin Jiken	IF-17	Irem
Nobanaga no Yabou: Zenkokuban	KOE-NZ	Koei
Nobunaga no Yabou: Bushou Fuuunroku	KOE-IZ	Koei
Nobunaga no Yabou: Sengoku Gunyuuden	KOE-NU	Koei
North & South	KSC-N5	Kemco
Nuts & Milk	HFC-NM	Hudson Soft
Obake no Q Tarou: Wan Wan Panic	BA-OBQ	Bandai
Obocchama-kun	14	Tecmo
Oeka Kids: Anpanman no Hiragana Daisuki		Bandai
Oeka Kids: Anpanman to Oekaki Shiyou!!	BA-OEKA1	Bandai

Oishinbo	SHI-OS	Shinsei
Olympus no Tatakai: Ai no Densetsu	IMA-AD	Imagineer
Onyanko Town	PNF-OT (R49V5901)	Pony Canyon
Oochin ni Toshi Puzzle Tonjan!?	NMK-JT	Jaleco / KK N.M.K.
Operation Wolf	TFC-OW, 24	Taito
Osomatsu-kun	SHI-OB	Shinsei
Otaku no Seiza: An Adventure in the Otaku Galaxy	MAM-OQ	M&M
Othello	KWD-OH	Kawanda
Outlanders	VFR-A1	Victor Musical
Over Horizon	GAM-Z6	Hot-B
Paaman Part 2: Himitsu Kessha Madoodan o Taose!	IF-25	Irem
Paaman: Enban o Torikaese!!	IF-20	Irem
Pac-Land	NPL-4500, 10	Namco
Pac-Man	NPM-4500, 02	Namco
Pachi Slot Adventure 2: Sorotta Kun no Pachi Slot Tanteidan	CDS-PG	Coconuts
Pachi Slot Adventure 3: Bitaoshii 7 Kenzan!	HVC-PI	Coconuts
Pachicom	TFS-PC	Toemiland / Toshiba EMI / J.P.M.
Pachinko Daisakusen	CDS-81	Coconuts / C-Dream
Pachinko Daisakusen 2	CDS-82	Coconuts / C-Dream
Pachio-kun 2	CDS-P2	Coconuts / C-Dream
Pachio-kun 3	CDS-P3	C-Dream
Pachio-kun 4	CDS-B4	Coconuts
Pachio-kun 5	CDS-PE	Coconuts / C-Dream
Palamedes	GAM-JI	Hot-B
Palamedes II: Star Twinkles	GAM-Z5-08	Hot-B
Paperboy	ALT-7B	Altron
Parareru World	VRE-R9	Vaire
Parasol Henbee	EPO-E6	Epoch
Paris-Dakar Rally Special	CBS-PD	CBS / Sony
Parodius Da!	KON-RC849	Konami

Peepar Time	SAN-P6	Sanritsu
Penguin-kun Wars	HSP-03	ASCII
Perfect Bowling	TKS-G8	Tonkin House
Pinball	HVC-PN	Nintendo
Pinball Quest	JF-26	Jaleco
Pizza Pop!	JF-35	Jaleco
Plasma Ball	JF-36	Jaleco
Pocket Zaurus: Juu Ouken no Nazo	7	Bandai
Pooyan	HFC-PO	Hudson Soft / Konami
Popeye	HVC-PP	Nintendo
Popeye no Eigo Asobi	HVC-EN	Nintendo
Portopia Renzoku Satsujin Jiken	EFC-PR	Enix
Power Blazer	TFC-PB, 31	Taito
Power Soccer	GTS-FT	Tokuma Soft
Predator	PAC-PL	Pack-In-Video
President no Sentaku	GAM-83-06	Hot-B
Pro Yakyuu Family Stadium	NAM-FS-3900	Namco
Pro Yakyuu Family Stadium '87	NAM-FS87-3900	Namco
Pro Yakyuu Family Stadium '88	NAM-FS88-4900	Namco
Pro Yakyuu Satsujin Jiken!	CAP-PV	Capcom
Puyo Puyo	TIM-PY	Tokuma Shoten / Compile
Puzslot	SAC-1P	Sammy
Puzznic	IGS-9U	IGS
Pyokotan no Dai Meiro	SUN-PYK-4980	Sunsoft
Quarterback Scramble	PNF-QS (R59V5925)	Pony Canyon
Quarth	KDS-H7	Konami
Quinty	NAM-QT-4900	Namco
Quiz Project Q: Cutie Project & Battle 10000	HCT-AC/016	Hect
Racer Mini Yonku: Japan Cup	RC842	Konami
Radia Senki: Reimei-hen	17	Тесто

RAF World	TEC-RF	Sunsoft / Tokai Engineering
Raid on Bungeling Bay	HFC-RB	Hudson Soft
Rainbow Island: Story of Bubble Bobble 2	DTF-RL, 19	Taito
Rambo	PAC-RV	Pack-In-Video
Rampart	KDS-73	Konami
Rasāru Ishii no Childs Quest	NAM-CQ-5500	Namco
Recca – Summer Carnival '92	NAX-RE	Naxat Soft
Red Arremer II	CAP-1L	Capcom
Reigen Doushi	PNF-KY (R59V5917)	Pony Canyon
Ripple Island	TEC-RI	Sunsoft
Road Fighter	RC801	Konami
Robocco Wars	IGS-X9	IGS
RoboCop	DFC-CP	Data East
RoboCop 2	DFC-2C	Data East
Rockman	CAP-RX	Capcom
Rockman 2: Dr. Wily no Nazo	CAP-XR	Capcom
Rockman 3: Dr. Wily no Saigo!?	CAP-XU	Capcom
Rockman 4: Aratanaru Yabō!!	CAP-4V	Capcom
Rockman 5: Blues no Wana!?	CAP-5V	Capcom
Rockman 6: Shijō Saidai no Tatakai!!	CAP-6V	Capcom
Rod-Land: Yousei Monogatari	JF-39	Jaleco
Rokudenashi Blues	28	Bandai
Rollerball	HAL-RH	HAL Laboratories
Rolling Thunder	NAM-RT-5500	Namco
Romancia	TKS-G2	Tokyo Sheseki
Route 16 Turbo	SUN-R16-4900	Sunsoft
Royal Blood	KOE-IU	Koei
RPG Jinsei Game: The Game of Life	TFC-LI	Takara
Sabaku no Kitsune	KSC-DF	Kemco
Safety Rally		
Saikoushi Sedi	FMI-CD	Fuji Television

Saint Seiya: Ogon Densetsu	BA-SEIYA	Bandai
Saint Seiya: Ougon Densetsu Kanketsu-hen	SHI-OK	Toei Animation
Saiyuuki World	NMK-KW	Jaleco / KK N.M.K.
Saiyuuki World 2: Tenjoukai no Majin	JF-31	Jaleco
Sakigake!! Otoko Juku: Shippu Ichi Gou Sei	BA-SAKI	Toei Animation
Salad no Kuni no Tomato Hime	HFC-RT	Hudson Soft
Salamander	KON-RC821	Konami
Samsara Naga	VFR-Q1-08	Victor Interactive
Sanada Juu Yuushi	KSC-JY	Kemco
Sangokushi	KOE-IS	Koei
Sangokushi II	KOE-XL	Koei
Sangokushi II: Haou no Tairiku	NAM-FS2-6900	Namco
Sangokushi: Chuugen no Hasha	NAM-ST-6900	Namco
Sanma no Mei Tantei	NAM-SM-4900	Namco
Sanrio Carnival	CTS-ZV	Character Soft
Sanrio Carnival 2	CTS-SQ	Character Soft
Sanrio Cup: Pon Pon Valley	CTS-PM	Character Soft
Sansū 1-nen: Keisan Game	TKS-S1	Tokyo Shoseki
Sansū 2-nen: Keisan Game	TKS-S2	Tokyo Shoseki
Sansū 3-nen: Keisan Game	TKS-S3	Tokyo Shoseki
Sansū 4-nen: Keisan Game	TKS-S4	Tokyo Shoseki
Sansū 5+6-nen: Keisan Game	TKS-S5	Tokyo Shoseki
Satomi Hakkenden	SFX-S8	SNK Electronics
Satoru Nakajima: F-1 Hero 2	VAR-4E	Varie
Satsui no Kaisou: Power Soft Satsujin Jiken	HAL-PB	HAL Laboratories
Satsujin Club	KKS-RZ (05)	Seta
SD Battle Oozumou: Heisei Hero Basho	BAP-X3	Banpresto
SD Gundam Gachapon Senshi 2: Capsule Senki	SHI-2G	Bandai
SD Gundam Gachapon Senshi 3: Eiyuu Senki	SHI-3G	Yutaka
SD Gundam Gachapon Senshi 4: New Type Story	SHI-45	Bandai
SD Gundam Gachapon Senshi 5: Battle of Universal Century	SHI-P5	Yutaka
SD Gundam Gaiden: Knight Gundam Monogatari	BA-KGD	Bandai

SD Gundam Gaiden: Knight Gundam Monogatari 2: Hikari no Kishi	BA-KGD2	Bandai
SD Gundam Gaiden: Knight Gundam Monogatari 3: Densetsu no Kishi Dan	BA-KGD3	Bandai
SD Hero Soukessen: Taose! Aku no Gundan	BAP-X5	Banpresto
SD Keiji Blader	TFC-SKB-6400-39	Taito
SD Sangoku Bushou Retsuden	BAP-X6	Banpresto
Seicross	NBF-SE	Nichibutsu
Seikima II Akuma no Gyakushū!	CBS-SA, 49FR-1	CBS / Sony
Seirei Densetsu Lickle	DTF-LK	Taito
Seirei Gari	HFC-V1	Hudson Soft
Seiryaku Simulation: Inbou no Wakusei: Shancara	IGS-SV	IGS
Sekiryuuou	TEC-AJ	Sunsoft / Tokai Engineering
Senjou no Ookami	CAP-SJ	Capcom
Shadow Brain	PNF-9S (R98V5934)	Pony Canyon
Shadowgate	KSC-3S	Kemco / Icom Simulations
Shanghai	SUN-SS9-5300	Sunsoft / Activision
Shanghai II	TEC-XT	Sunsoft
Sherlock Holmes: Hakushaku Reijō Yūkai Jiken	TCC-SH	Towa Chiki
Shi-Kin-Jou	TDF-96	Toei
Shin 4 Nin Uchi Mahjong: Yakuman Tengoku	HVC-YT	Nintendo
Shin Jinrui: The New Type	RES-SG	Rix Soft
Shin Moero!! Pro Yakyuu	JF-23	Jaleco
Shin Satomi Hakkenden: Hikari to Yami no Tatakai	TDF-91	Toei Animation
Shinsenden	TIX-Z3 (IF-16)	Irem
Shogi Meikan '92	НСТ-19	Hect
Shogi Meikan '93	HCT-IJ/019	Hect
Shogun	HCT-HD	Hect
Shōnen Ashibe Nepal Daibouken no Maki	TFC-8A	Takara
Shuffle Fight	BAP-CB	Banpresto
Shufflepuck Cafe	PHF-XP	Broderbund
Side Pocket	NAM-SP-3900	Namco

Silva Saga	KKS-SR	Seta
Sky Destroyer	5	Taito
Sky Kid	NSK-3900, 18	Namco
Snow Bros.	TOA-7L	Toaplan
Soccer	HVC-SC	Nintendo
Soccer League: Winner's Cup	DFC-WN	Data East
Softball Tengoku	TKS-G9	Tonkin House
Solomon no Kagi	TCF-SK, 02	Tecmo
Solomon no Kagi 2: Coolmintou Kyuushutsu Sakusen	TCF-SZ, 19	Тесто
Solstice	ESF-E3	Epic / Sony Records
Son Son	CAP-SS	Capcom
Soreike! Anpanman: Minna de Hiking Game!	BAN-OZ	Bandai
Space Harrier	TFC-S0	Sega / Takara
Space Hunter	KSC-HT	Kemco
Space Invaders	1	Taito
Space Shadow		Bandai
Spartan X	HVC-SX	Nintendo / Irem
Spartan X 2	IF-23	Irem
Spelunker	IF-03	Irem / Broderbund
Spelunker II: Yūsha e no Chōsen	IF-06	Irem
Splatterhouse: Wanpaku Graffiti	NAM-FSH-4900	Namco
Spot	BPS-BI	Bullet-Proof
Spy vs. Spy	KSC-SP	Kemco
Sqoon	IF-04	Irem / Home Data
Square's Tom Sawyer	SQF-T4	Square Soft
Star Force	HFC-SF	Hudson Soft / Tehkan
Star Gate	HAL-SB	Atari / HAL Laboratories
Star Luster	NSL-4900, 12	Namco
Star Soldier	HFC-SO	Hudson Soft / Momo
Star Wars	NAM-SS-4900	Namco
Star Wars: Empire Strikes Back	VFR-8V	Lucasfilm, Ltd.

STED: Iseki Wakusei no Yabou	KAC-3E	K. Amusement
Stick Hunter: Exciting Ice Hockey Game	KAC-IH	K. Amusement
Stock Speculation	HCT-DZ, 003	Hect
Sugoro Quest: Dice no Senshi-tachi	TJC-Q7	Technos Japan
Suikoden: Tenmei no Chikai	KOE-XJ	Koei
Sukeban Deka III	TDF-KJ	Toei Animation
Super Arabian	SUN-SA-4500	Sunsoft
Super Black Onyx	BPS-OX	Bullet-Proof
Super Chinese	NSC-4900, 15	Namco / Micro Academy
Super Chinese 2: Dragon Kid	CBF-C2	Culture Brain / Micro Academy
Super Chinese 3	CBF-3C	Culture Brain
Super Dyna'mix Badminton	VAP-BN	Vap
Super Gryzor	KDS-UE	Konami
Super Mario Bros.	HVC-SM	Nintendo
Super Mario Bros. 3	HVC-UM	Nintendo
Super Mario USA	HVC-MT	Nintendo
Super Moguratataki Pokkun Mogura	IGS-X1	IGS
Super Momotarou Dentetsu	HFC-3X	Hudson Soft
Super Pinball	CDS-PJ	C-Dream
Super Pitfall	PNF-PF	Pony Canyon / Activision
Super Real Baseball '88	VAP-BG	Vap
Super Rugby	TSS-S7	TSS
Super Sprint	ALT-7C	Altron / Atari
Super Star Force	TCF-ST	Тесто
Super Xevious: Gump no Nazo	NAM-SX-4900	Namco
Superman	KSC-SN	Kemco
Superstar Pro Wrestling	PNF-S9	Pony Canyon
SWAT: Special Weapons and Tactics	TDF-SW	Toei Animation
Sweet Home	CAP-EH	Capcom
Sword Master	ATH-ZU	Athena
	•	

T2	PAC-TJ	Pack-In-Video
Tag Team Pro-Wrestling	13	Namco
Tailor-Made	TKS-B0	Bridgestone
Taito Basketball	DTF-UJ	Disco / Taito
Taito Chase H.Q.	DTF-H9, 28	Taito
Taito Grand Prix: Eikou e no License	TFC-TG-5500-15	Taito
Taiyou no Shinden: Aztec 2	IF-26	Tokyo Shoseki
Taiyou no Yuusha Firebird	IF-26, TIX-6Q	Irem
Takahashi Meijin no Boukenjima	HFC-TB	Hudson Soft
Takahashi Meijin no Boukenjima II	HFC-V7	Hudson Soft
Takahashi Meijin no Boukenjima III	HFC-4X	Hudson Soft
Takahashi Meijin no Boukenjima IV	HFC-TT	Hudson Soft
Takahashi Meijin no Bugutte Honey	HFC-BH	Hudson Soft
Takeda Shingen	GAM-HB-03	Hot-B
Takeda Shingen 2	GAM-23-05	Hot-B
Takeshi no Chōsenjō	9	Taito
Takeshi no Sengoku Fuuunji	TFC-TSF-5800-20	Taito
Tamura Koushou Mahjong Seminar	PNF-ZR (R58V5931)	Pony Canyon
Tanigawa Kouji no Shougi Shinan II	PNF-T2 (R55V5914)	Pony Canyon
Tanigawa Kouji no Shougi Shinan III	PNF-T3	Pony Canyon
Tantei Jinguji Saburou: Yokohamakou Renzokusatsujinjiken	DFC-YK	Data East
Tantei Jinguuji Saburou: Toki no Sugiyuku Mama ni	DFC-J4	Data East
Tao	VAP-BY	Vap
Tashiro Masashi no Princess ga Ippai	ESF-P0	Epic / CBS / Sony
Tatakae! Chou Robotto Seimeitai Transformers: Convoy no Nazo	TFC-TF	Takara
Tatakae!! Ramen Man: Sakuretsu Choujin 102 Gei	SHI-RN	Shinsei
Tatakai no Banka	CAP-TA	Capcom
Tecmo Bowl	TCF-TW, 12	Тесто
Tecmo Super Bowl	TCF-4U, 18	Тесто
Tecmo World Cup Soccer	TCF-WC, 13	Тесто

Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles	RC853	Konami
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles 2: The Manhattan Project	RC863	Konami
Tenchi o Kurau	CAP-YZ	Capcom
Tenchi o Kurau II: Shokatsu Koumei Den	CAP-2V	Capcom
Tenka no Goikenban: Mito Koumon	SUN-MK-5300	Sunsoft
Tenkaichi Bushi: Keru Naguuru	NAM-FKN-4900	Namco
Tennis	HVC-TE	Nintendo
Terao no Dosukoi Oozumou	JF-24	Jaleco
Terra Cresta	NBF-TC	Nichibutsu
Tetra Star: The Fighter	DTF-YE, 37	Taito
Tetris	BPS-T0	Bullet-Proof
Tetris 2 + BomBliss	BPS-52	Bullet-Proof
Tetris Flash	HVC-TR	Nintendo
Tetsudou Ou	DBF-RW	DB-Soft
Tetsuwan Atom	RC827	Konami
Thexder	SQF-TX	Square Soft, Game Arts
Thunderbirds	PAC-T5	Pack-In-Video
Tiger-Heli	PNF-TH	Pony Canyon
Time Zone	SEI-1G	Sigma
Times of Lore	THF-U7	Toho
Tiny Toon Adventures	RC860	Konami
Tiny Toon Adventures 2: Montana Land e Yōkoso	RV051	Konami
Titan	SFL-NL	Sofel / Titus
TM Network: Live in Power Bowl	ESP-T9	CBS / Sony
Toki no Tabibito: Time Stranger	KSC-TS	Kemco
Tokkyū Shirei Solbrain	ANG-OM	Angel
Tokoro-san no Mamoru mo Semeru mo	ESF-TO	Epic / Sony Records
Tokyo Pachi Slot Adventure	CDS-83	C-Dream
Tom & Jerry	ALT-5Y	Altron
Tom Sawyer no Bouken	SQF-T4	Square Soft
Top Gun	KDS-TG	Konami

Top Gun: Dual Fighters	KDS-OG	Konami
Top Management	KOE-XQ	Koei
Top Rider	VRE-R1	Varie
Top Striker	NAM-FTS-5800	Namco
Totsuzen! Macho Man	VIC-M5	Vic Tokai
Touhou Kenbun Roku	NAT-N1	Natsume
Toukon Club	JF-37	Jaleco
Tower of Druaga	NTD-4900, 07	Namco
Triathron	KAC-TZ	K. Amusement
Tsuppari Oozumou	TCF-TM	Тесто
Tsuppari Wars	SAC-7W	Sammy
Tsurikichi Sanpei: Blue Marlin hen	VFR-Y1-04	Victor Musical
Tsuru Pika Hagemaru: Mezase! Tsuru Seko no Akashi	JF-34	Jaleco
Twin Eagle	VIS-2E	Visco
TwinBee	RC807	Konami
TwinBee 3: Poko Poko Dai Maou	RC841	Konami
U.S. Championship V'Ball	TJC-VJ	Technos Japan
Uchūsen: Cosmo Carrier	JF-16	Jaleco
Uchuu Keibitai SDF	HAL-UI	HAL Laboratories
Ultima: Kyoufu no Exodus	PNF-UL	Pony Canyon
Ultima: Seija e no Michi	PNF-US	Pony Canyon / Origin
Ultraman Club 2: Kaettekita Ultraman Club	SHI-UU	Yutaka
Ultraman Club 3: Matamata Shutsugeki! Ultra Kyoudai	SHI-3I	Bandai
Ultraman Club: Kaijuu Dai Kessen!!	ANG-UA	Angel
United States Presidential Race	HCT-AQ/002	Hect
Untouchables	ALT-U6	Altron
Urban Champion	HVC-UC	Nintendo
Urusei Yatsura: Lum no Wedding Bell	JF-10	Jaleco
USA Ice Hockey in FC	JF-40	Jaleco
Ushio to Tora	SHI-RA	Yutaka
Utsurundesu Kawauso Hawaii e Iku	TFC-U9	Takara

Valis: The Fantastic Soldier	GTS-VA	Tokuma Soft
Valkyrie no Bouken: Toki no Kagi Densetsu	NWB-3900, 17	Namco
Vegas Connection: Casino Kara Ai o Komete	SEI-1B	Sigma
Venus Senki	VRE-R2	Varie
Viva Las Vegas	ESF-LV, 59-6R-2	Epic / CBS / Sony
Volguard II	DBF-VL	dB-Soft
Wagyan Land	NAM-WL-4900	Namco
Wagyan Land 2	NAM-WL2-5800	Namco
Wagyan Land 3	NAM-FW3-5800	Namco
Wai Wai World 2: SOS!! Paseri Jou	RC850	Konami
Wanpaku Duck Yume Bouken	CAP-UK	Capcom
Wanpaku Kokkun no Gourmet World	DTF-WK, 43	Taito
Wario no Mori	HVC-UW	Nintendo
Warpman	8	Namco
Western Kids	VIS-5K	Visco
White Lion Densetsu: Pyramid no Kanata ni	KSC-WE	Kemco / Tohotowan
Wild Gunman	HVC-WG	Nintendo
Willow	CAP-WI	Capcom
Wily & Light no Rockboard: That's Paradise	CAP-BE	Capcom
Wing of Madoola	SUN-MAD-4900	Sun Electronic
Wit's	ATH-XW	Athena
Wizardry II: Llylgamyn no Isan	HSP-13	ASCII
Wizardry III: Diamond no Kishi	HSP-32	ASCII
Wizardry: Proving Grounds of the Mad Overlord	HSP-09	ASCII
Woody Poco	DBF-UP	dB-Soft
World Boxing	TSS-W7	TSS
World Grand-Prix: Pole to Finish	DFC-FH	Data East
World Super Tennis	ASM-W1	Asmik
Wrecking Crew	HVC-WR	Nintendo
WWF WrestleMania Challenge	GAM-W9	Hot-B / Acclaim
Xevious	NXV-4900, 03	Namco
Yamamura Misa Suspense: Kyouto Hana no Misshitsu Satsujin Jiken	22	Taito

Yamamura Misa Suspense: Kyouto Ryuu Tera Satsujin Jiken	TFC-KR-5500-14	Taito
Yamamura Misa Suspense: Kyouto Zaiteku Satsujin Jiken	HCT-QZ/008	Hect
Yie Ar Kung Fu	RC802	Konami
Yoshi no Cookie	HVC-CI	Nintendo
Yoshi no Tamago	HVC-YO	Nintendo
Youkai Club	JF-12	Jaleco
Youkai Douchuuki	NAM-YD-4900	Namco
Ys	VFR-Y2-05	Victor Musical
Ys II: Ancient Ys Vanished The Final Chapter	VFR-Q2-09	Victor Musical
Ys III: Wanderers from Ys	VFR-Q8-12	Victor Musical
Yume Penguin Monogatari	KDS-U8	Konami
Zelda no Densetsu 1: Hyrule Fantasy	HVC-ZL	Nintendo
Zenbi Pro Basketball	VIC-A2	Vic Tokai
Zippy Race	IF-01	Irem
Zoids 2: Zenebasu no Gyakushuu	TFS-Z2	Toshiba EMI
Zoids: Chuuou Tairiku no Tatakai	TFS-ZD	Toemiland
Zoids: Mokushiroku	TOM-ZF	Tomy
Zombie Hunter	HSS-ZO, HSS-ZH	Hi-Score Media Work
Zunō Senkan Garu	DBF-GA	dB-Soft

DATACH GAMES

At the end of 1992, Bandai released the *Datach Joint ROM System*, a special device for the Famicom that allowed one to swipe cards containing barcodes to interact with games. Bandai developed seven different games for use with their peripheral, and all of the games were housed in special "mini" cartridges. Included with most of the games were special cards that could be scanned, and finding complete sets of these cards can be difficult nowadays.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Battle Rush: Build Up Robot Tournament		Bandai	
Crayon Shin-Chan: Orato Poi Poi		Bandai	

Dragon Ball Z: Gekito Tenkaichi Budokai	Bandai	
J-League Super Top Players	Bandai	
SD Gundam: Gundam Wars	Bandai	
Ultraman Club: Spokon Fight!!	Bandai	
Yu Yu Hakusho: Bakuto Ankoku Bujutsue	Bandai	

KARAOKE STUDIO

During the Famicom days, Bandai was one of the kings, as they always brought new, innovative products to market. In addition to things such as the Datach Joint ROM System (mentioned above) and the Family Trainer mat, Bandai also brought KTV to everyone's Famicom via their product, *Karaoke Studio*. Karaoke Studio is an attachment that plugs right into the Famicom, via its cartridge slot. A microphone is built directly into the unit itself, so everyone can enjoy singing their favorite J-pop songs.

To provide additional fun and challenge to gamers and singers alike, Bandai would later release additional game cartridges, which plug directly into a special cartridge slot on the karaoke studio device. These games are listed below.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Karaoke Studio		Bandai	
Karaoke Studio Senyou Cassette Vol. 1		Bandai	
Karaoke Studio Senyou Cassette Vol. 2		Bandai	

NANTATTE!! BASEBALL GAMES

Towards the end of 1991, Sunsoft had released a Famicom game titled Nantatte!! Baseball. Built into the game was a pin connector, which allowed gamers to plug in special mini game cartridges to upgrade stats and add more fun to Sunsoft's original game. The pair of mini carts would be released in early 1991.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Nantatte!! Baseball: Kogame Cassette '91 Kaimakuban		Sunsoft	
Nantatte!! Baseball: Kogame Cassette OB All-Star Hen		Sunsoft	

KONAMI'S SPACE SCHOOL SERIES

The Konami Space School Famicom games are probably some of the most obscure items on the machine. Like the Datach and Nantatte!! Baseball carts listed above, the Space School carts do not plug directly into the Famicom machine; instead, the games are for use on Konami's Q Adapter. The games and adapter can transform the Famicom into a CAI machine of sorts. All of the software in the Space School series is educational.

Thus far, only six different games are known to exist, namely Space School Grade 4 First / Last Semester, Space School Grade 5 First / Last Semester, and Space School Grade 6 First / Last semester. The games are all related to the study of mathematics. Due to the mysterious nature of these games, it is possible that more titles may exist, possibly for the lower elementary grades.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Space School Grade 4 (First Semester)		Konami	
Space School Grade 4 (Last Semester)		Konami	
Space School Grade 5 (First Semester)		Konami	
Space School Grade 5 (Last Semester)		Konami	
Space School Grade 6 (First Semester)		Konami	
Space School Grade 6 (Last Semester)		Konami	

PULSE LINE / PICTURE VERSION GAMES

The so-called pulse line games are actually the original fourteen Famicom games ever released. These fourteen games were all unified by a simple label design, which sported the game's name as well as a simple pulse line going from one side of the cartridge to the other. Nintendo would later rerelease these games (with the exception of Donkey Kong 3, Donkey Kong Jr. Math, Pinball, and Popeye English) with labels featuring characters from the games as opposed to the simple pulse line. Although the games are identical, other than the artwork, some may enjoy trying to collect both variants.

To do away with redundancy, for those collecting both versions of the games, the original (pulse line) versions can be checked off in the main game list, and this section can be used for the picture version carts.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Baseball	HVC-BA	Nintendo	
Devil World	HVC-DD	Nintendo	
Donkey Kong	HVC-DK	Nintendo	
Donkey Kong Jr.	HVC-JR	Nintendo	
Golf	HVC-GF	Nintendo	
Gomokunarabe	HVC-GO	Nintendo	
Mah-Jong	HC-MJ	Nintendo	
Mario Bros.	HVC-MA	Nintendo	
Popeye	HVC-PP	Nintendo	
Tennis	HVC-TE	Nintendo	

TAIWANESE / HONG KONG RELEASES

Unbeknownst to many, the pulse line set of games were also distributed in Taiwan and Hong Kong, albeit in seemingly small quantities. Unlike their Japanese counterparts, these exported versions of the game have the words "Family Computer" written on the cartridge in English, as opposed to Japanese. Thus far I have only been able to personally confirm the existence of the following three games, though it is possible that the whole pulse line series was distributed in these regions.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Baseball	HVC-BA	Nintendo	
Golf	HVC-GF	Nintendo	
Pinball	HVC-PN	Nintendo	

IREM NON-LED RERELEASES

The original set of Famicom games released by Irem included neat LEDs built into the cartridge. When you powered up your Famicom, the LEDs would light up. Irem would later rerelease some of their original games, but in a bid for cutting costs, the LEDs were dropped. These rereleases are much harder to track down than their neater, LED counterparts.

Game Title	Developer / Publisher	Notes	C
10-Yard Fight	Irem		
Spelunker	Irem		
Sqoon	Irem		
Zippy Race	Irem		

PROMOTIONAL / CONTEST CARTRIDGES

These carts are some of the rarest of the rare, as far as licensed Famicom products are concerned. Just as Nintendo of America sponsored the notorious Nintendo World Championships contest in 1990, there were several contests and promotions in Japan, where special editions of commercial games were provided as prizes. Below you can see some of these contest games, as well as a few others which are rumored to exist.

Game Title	Notes	Developer / Publisher	C
Binary Land	Gold Cartridge	Hudson Soft	
Dragon Ball Z	Gold Cartridge	Bandai	
Dragon Ball Z II	Gold Cartridge	Bandai	
Gradius	Archimedes Version	Konami	
Hot Scramble	Gold Cartridge	Bandai	
Hot Scramble	Silver Cartridge	Bandai	
Kinnikuman Muscle Tag Match	Green Cartridge	Bandai	
Kinnikuman Muscle Tag Match	Golden Tag Cartridge	Bandai	
Meimon! Daisan Yakyuubu	Gold Cartridge	Bandai	
Obake no Q Tarou Wan Wan Panic	Present Version	Bandai	
Punch-Out!! Special	Gold Cartridge	Nintendo	
Rockman 4	Gold Cartridge	Capcom	
Uranoid II	Rumored	Taito	
Zombie Hunter	Present Version	Hi-Score Media Work	

In addition to the above mentioned games, there are also a few other sticker contest variations worth mentioning. A magazine and software publisher, Tokuma Soft, held contests relating to two of their games, Exed Exes and Lot Lot. With both games, if the player scored a high enough score in the game and then sent picture evidence to the company, Tokuma Soft would return the favor by sending a special sticker one could place on top of his or her retail version of the game. The following is a list of restickered carts to be looking for.

Game Title	Notes	Developer / Publisher	C
Exed Exes	Silver Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Exed Exes	Gold Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Exed Exes	Platinum Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Exed Exes	Royal Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Lot Lot	Silver Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Lot Lot	Gold Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Lot Lot	Platinum Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	
Lot Lot	Royal Members Sticker	Takuma Shoten	

UNLICENSED FAMICOM GAMES:

In Japan, very few independent game companies had the guts to stand up against Nintendo by producing unauthorized products. Hacker International was one such company, which managed to publish about fifteen game cartridges, all filled with eight-bit nudity. Korean also had a small handful of Famicom game developers. The majority of the unlicensed products were ultimately born in Taiwan, though mainland China also had a few software development powerhouses.

So what exactly is my definition of an unlicensed game? To begin, the game was not authorized by Nintendo. In addition, the game was developed from the bottom up, that is, the game is original. Sometimes there is a fine line between "unlicensed" and "pirated", since some developers coded games that illegally used the IP of Nintendo or another third party; however, instead of splitting hairs over definitions, from my perspective, if the game was developed from the ground up, we can throw it into the unlicensed category, even if some of the characters are used in an unorthodox manner.

Below is a fairly complete list of unlicensed Famicom games. There are times where things get a bit murky, as to which category the games belong, but this list should suit the needs of a lot of collectors.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer	Publisher	C
15 in 1 ⁱ		Hummer Team	ABABSoft	
20 in 1 ⁱⁱ		Asder	Asder	
3 in 1 Super Gun ⁱⁱⁱ	MGC-024	Micro Genius	Micro Genius	
3D Block		Hwang Shinwei	RCM Group	
6 in 1 ^{iv}	CN-11	Caltron Ind.	Caltron Ind.	
6 in 1 ^v	MGC-023	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius	
777 Lucky Bingo	SA-004	Sachen	Sachen	
8 in 1 ^{vi}	KK3314	Various	Asang	
8 in 1 ^{vii}	KK3313	Various	Asang	
8 in 1 ^{viii}	KK3312	Various	Asang	
8 in 1 ^{ix}	KK3311	Various	Asang	
8 in 1 ^x	KK3310	Various	Asang	
8 in 1xi	KK3315	Various	Asang	
Adam & Eve	CN-09	Mega Soft	Mega Soft	
Aladdin ^{xii}	JY-025	Hummer Team	JY Company	
Aladdin	S-L3	Super Game	Unknown	

		I	
Aladdin II		Tai Jing Da Dong	
Angry Birds		Nice Code (?)	Unknown
Auto-Upturn	TC-017	Sachen	Sachen
AV Dragon Mahjong		Idea-Tek	Hacker Int.
AV Hanafuda Club		Unknown	Hacker Int.
AV Jiu Ma Jiang 2		Hummer Team	Unknown
AV Mahjong		C&E	C&E
AV Mahjong		C&E	Hacker Int.
AV Pachi Slot: Big Chance		Unknown	Hacker Int.
AV Pachinko		Unknown	Hacker Int.
AV Poker		Idea-Tek	Hacker Int.
AV Pretty Girl Fighters		Hummer Team	Ge De Industry
AV Strip Mahjong		Unknown	Hacker Int.
AV World Soccer		C&E	Hacker Int.
Baby Boomer		Color Dreams	Daou Infosys
Bai Bai Dinoxiii		Hijet Technology	Unknown
Balda		A Chudov	Unknown
Ball Story		Gamtec (?)	Sun Team Corp
Balloon Monster!	CN-05	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Bao Qing Tien	NT-679	Ex-Sachen Dev	NT
BB Car ^{xiv}		Hwang Shinwei	JY Company
Beat n Box		Unknown	YNC
Bee 52		Codemasters	Realtec
Big Nose Freaks Out		Codemasters	BIC
Big Nose the Caveman		Codemasters	BIC
Bingo	MGC-005	Nei-Hu Electronics	Micro Genius
Bingo 75	SA-007	Sachen	Sachen
Block Force		Hwang Shinwei	RCM Group
Blood of Jurassic	GD-98	Shanghai Paradise	Shanghai Paradise
BMX Simulator		Codemasters	BIC
Boogerman	U-BI	Super Game	Unknown

Boogerman II: Final Adventure	NSM-001	Rex Game Soft	Rex Game Soft
Bookyman	CN-08	Hwang Shinwei	Mega Soft
Boomerang Kid		Codemasters	Realtec
Brush Roller		Hwang Shinwei	Unknown
Bugtris		Unknown	Unknown
Challenge of the Dragon		Color Dreams	Daou Infosys
Chess Academy	SA-015	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
China Rabbit	NT6089	Ei-How Yang	JY Company / NT
Chinese Checkers	TC-019	Sachen	Sachen
Chinese Chess	MGC-001	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Chinese Chess II	MGC-016	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Chinese Kungfu	TC-011	Sachen	Sachen
Chu Da D		Ex-Sachen Dev	Fortune Power
Cobra Mission	CN-27	Asder	Asder
Colorful Dragon	SA-005	Sachen	Sachen
Contra Spirits	H-C1	Ei-How Yang	Hosenkan
Cosmocop	SA-023	Sachen	Sachen
Cosmos Cop	CN-08	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Crayon Shin Chan		Cony Soft	Future Media
Creatom ^{xv}	MGC-003	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Crime Buster	7300	Bit Corp	Bit Corp
Crystal Mines		Color Dreams	Daou Infosys
Cvetnie Linii (Color Lines)		BBG Electronics	BBG Electronics
Dance 2000		Unknown	Unknown
Dance Now 2000		Unknown	Unknown
Dancing Block	SA-013	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Decathlon	G-3010	C&E	C&E
Destroyer	CN-13	NTDEC	NTDEC
Dian Shi Ma Li		Bit Corp	Unknown
Donkey Kong Country 4	JY-033	Hummer Team	JY Company
Dooly Bravo Land	DIF-001	Daou Infosys	Daou Infosys
Dragon Ball Z 5		Rex Game Soft	Rex Game Soft

Dragon Ball Z: Super Botoden 2	JY-012	Hummer Team	JY Company
Dragon Fighter		Flying Star	Flying Star
Dream Fighter	CN-17	Caltron Ind.	Caltron Ind.
Duck	7002	Bit Corp	Bit Corp
Earthworm Jim 2	NT849	Ex-Sachen Dev	Taiwan Shin Shin
Earthworm Jim 2		Super Game	Hosenkan
Earthworm Jim 3	NT876	Hummer Team	NT
Elfland		Tip Top	Unknown
Enjoyable Horse Racing		Idea-Tek	Super Mega
F15 City War	ET.03	Idea-Tek	Idea-Tek
F15 City War	MGC-006	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Family Noraebang		Open Corp	Daou Infosys
Fantastic Adventures of Dizzy		Codemasters	BIC
Fantastic Adventures of Dizzyxvi		Codemasters	Realtec
Fatal Fury 2	YMH-F2	Cony Soft	Cony Soft
Fatal Fury 3		Cony Soft	Cony Soft
Felix the Cat 3	DH1065	Dragon Co.	Dragon Co.
Feng Shen Bang	G-0151	C&E	C&E
Fighting Hero ^{xvii}	CN-01	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Fighting Hero III	CN-19	NTDEC	NTDEC
Final Combat	SA-021	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Final Fantasy (Part 1)		Jncota	Jncota
Final Fantasy (Part 2)		Jncota	Jncota
Final Fantasy (Part 3)		Jncota	Jncota
Final Fight 3	JY-116	Hummer Team	JY Company
Fire Dragon		Gamtec	BIC
Fortuna		A Chudov / Kvazar	Kvazar
Four in One ^{xviii}	MGC-026	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Futebol / Boxe Interactive ^{xix}		Gameinis	Dynacom
Gaiapolis ^{xx}	TC-029	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Garou Densetsu Special		Hummer Team	Ge De Industry
General's Son ^{xxi}	DIF-002	Daou Infosys	Daou Infosys

Go! Benny!	CN-14	NTDEC	NTDEC
Go! Dizzy Go!		Codemasters	Realtec
Great Wall	SA-019	Sachen	Sachen
Hanafuda Yuukyou Den		Unknown	Hacker Int.
Happy Pairs	TC-016	Sachen	Sachen
Harry's Legend	AT-32B	Ex-Hummer Team	Unknown
Hell Fighter	SA-016	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Hidden Chinese Chess	TC-002	Joy Van	Joy Van
Hit Marmot	CN-02	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Honey Peach	SA-006	Sachen	Sachen
Horses Racing	MGC-009	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Hot Dance 2000			
Hot Dance with Samba			
Huang Di	CN-29	Asder	Asder
Huge Insect		Sachen	Sachen
Idol Shinsen Mahjong		C&E	Hacker Int.
Incantation	TC-009	Joy Van	Joy Van
Jackpot	7102	Bit Corp	Bit Corp
Jang Doo Jin's Baduk Clinic		Golden Bell Co	Golden Bell Co
Jing Ke Xin Zhuan	S-01	Hummer Team	Super Tone
Journey to the West	CN-28	Asder	Asder
Journey to the West		Tai Jing Da Dong	TXC Corp
Jovial Race	TC-001	Joy Van	Joy Van
Joyvan Kid	TC-008	Joy Van	Joy Van
Jurassic Boy 2	TC-028	Sachen	Sachen
Kart Fighter		Hummer Team	Ge De Industry
King of Fighters 96	NT6101	Hummer Team	NT Company
King of Fighters 97		Rex Game Soft	Rex Game Soft
King Tank	LD111	Gamtec	Gamtec
Klax		Tengen	Daou Infosys
Koko's Adventure	DS-F301	Open Corp	Daou Infosys
Lee Dragon ^{xxii}		Ex-Sachen Dev	Ramar

Lethal Weapon		Unknown	Unknown
Linus Spacehead		Codemasters	BIC
Lion King 3: Timon & Pumbaa	DH1000	Dragon Co.	Dragon Co.
Lion King 5: Timon & Pumbaa	DH1069	Dragon Co.	Dragon Co.
Little Red Hood	TC-004	Joy Van	Joy Van
Locksmith	SA-017	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Lost World	VT2023	Cony Soft	Hosenkan
Magic Block	CN-03	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Magic Bubblexxiii	A-1071	C&E	C&E
Magic Carpet 1001	CN-06	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Magic Cube	TC-018	Sachen	Sachen
Magic Dragon		Magic Series Corp	Magic Series Corp
Magic Jewelry		Hwang Shinwei	RCM Group
Magic Jewelry II		Hwang Shinwei	RCM Group
Magic Kid Goo Goo		Zemina	Zemina
Magical Mathematic ^{xxiv}		Thin Chen	Ku Je Academy
Magical Mathematic	SA-014	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Magpie and Karaoke Friends		Hicom	Hicom
Mahjang Summit		Sachen	Hacker Int.
Mahjong Academy	SA-026	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Mahjong Block	MGC-008	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Mahjong Companion		Thin Chen	Hacker Int.
Mahjong Companion	SA-027	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Mahjong Trap ^{xxv}	TC-010	Joy Van	Joy Van
Mahjong Trap		Sachen	Hacker Int.
Mahjong Trap ^{xxvi}	TC-010	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Mahjong World	SA-008	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Majohn Block		Idea-Tek	Super Mega
Master Chu and the Drunkard Hu	TC-007	Joy Van	Joy Van
Master Fighter II: World Warrior	YOKO-Y1	Hummer Team	Yoko Soft
Master Fighter VI'xxvii	YOKO-Y1	Hummer Team	Yoko Soft
Master Shooter	CN-26	NTDEC	NTDEC

Me Hun Che ^{xxviii}		Hwang Shinwei	Unknown
Menace Beach		Color Dreams	Daou Infosys
Metal Fighter		Joy Van / Sachen	Hacker Int.
Metal Force	DS-F401	Open Corp	Daou Infosys
Mickey Mania 7	JY-077	Ei-How Yang	JY Company
Micro Motion ^{xxix}		Codemasters	BIC
Middle School English	SA-003	Sachen	Sachen
Mig 29: Soviet Fighter		Codemasters	BIC
Millionairexxx	SA-012	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Millionaire 2xxxi	TC-032	Sachen	Sachen
Miss Peach World		Color Dreams	Hacker Int.
Morskoy Boy 3 in 1		A Chudov	Unknown
Mortal Kombat 2		Yoko Soft	Yoko Soft
Mortal Kombat 3	NT546	Hummer Team	NT and ABAB Soft
Mortal Kombat II: Midway	JY-011	Hummer Team	JY Company
Mortal Kombat II: Special	JY-029	Hummer Team	JY Company
Mortal Kombat II: Turbo		Hummer Team	Unknown
Mortal Kombat III		Super Game	Unknown
Mortal Kombat III: Turbo	JY-011	Hummer Team	JY Company
Mortal Kombat Trilogy		Cony Soft	Hosenkan
Olympic IQxxxii	K-003	Sachen	KU JE Academy
Olympic IQ	TC-015	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Othello	7100	Bit Corp	Bit Corp
Padillon Gais ^{xxxiii}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Panda Prince	NT858	Ex Sachen Dev	NT
Papillion Gals		Joy Van	Kinema Music
Pegasus Golden 5 in 1xxxiv		Codemasters	Bic (?)
Penguin and Seal	SA-002	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Penguin and Sealxxxv	SA-002	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Ping Pong		Gameinis	Unknown
Pipe 5	SA-011	Sachen	Sachen
Pipe Block	MGC-004	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius

Pocahontas		Ei-How Yang	Hosenkan
Pocket Monster	BS-2029	Nice Code (?)	Unknown
Poke Block		Idea-Tek	Idea-Tek
Poke Block	MGC-012	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Pokemon 4 in 1 ^{xxxvi}	SK-2000	Union Bond	YanCheng
Poker II	TC-013	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Poker III	TC-020	Sachen	Sachen
Poker Mahjong	SA-018	Sachen	Sachen
Pokey	CN-04	NTDEC	NTDEC
Pole Chudes		A Chudov	A Chudov
Pole Chudes 2		A Chudov	A Chudov
Policeman	MGC-015	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Popeye 2xxxvii	JY-031	Hummer Team	JY Company
Popo Team	TC-023	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Porter	CN-10	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Power Rangers III	JY-059	Hummer Team	JY Company
Power Rangers IVxxxviii	JY-073	Hummer Team	JY Company
Pravila Doroznogo Dvizenija		A Chudov	Unknown
Princess Maker		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Pu Nu Jing Ling	ET.04	Idea-Tek	Idea-Tek
Puteshestvie po Evrope		A Chudov	Unknown
Puzzle	ET.01	Idea-Tek	Idea-Tek
Puzzle	MGC-007	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Pyramid		Thin Chen	Hacker Int.
Pyramid I ^{xxxix}	Hacker vers	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Pyramid I	SA-009	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Pyramid II	SA-010	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Q Boy	TC-026	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Quattro Adventurexl		Codemasters	BIC
Quattro Arcade ^{xli}		Codemasters	BIC
Quattro Sports ^{xlii}		Codemasters	BIC
Raid	TC-005	Joy Van	Joy Van

Rockball	TC-024	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Rocman X	TC-030	Sachen	Sachen
Samurai Shodown IIIxliii	NSM-002	Rex Game Soft	Rex Game Soft
Samurai Spirits		Sachen	Sachen
Samurai Spirits		Sachen / Rex Game Soft	Rex Game Soft
Samurai Spirits 2	JY-083	Hummer Team	JY Company
San Guo Zhi 4 – Chi Bi Feng Yun		Cony Soft	Future Media
San Guo Zhi: Chik Bik Ji Jin	CN-20	NTDEC	NTDEC
San Guo Zhi: Qun Xiong Zheng Ba	CN-21	Asder	Asder
Sea of Dreamland	CN-15	NTDEC	NTDEC
Sheng Hen Pao	7103	Bit Corp	Bit Corp
Sheng Huo Lie Zhuan	A-1061	C&E	C&E
Sichuan Mahjong II ^{xliv}		Hummer Team	NT
Sidewinder	TC-003	Joy Van	Joy Van
Silent Assaultxlv	TC-005	Joy Van	Joy Van
Silver Eagle	TC-025	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Skate Boy	CN-18	NTDEC	NTDEC
Skull n Crossbones		Tengen	Daou Infosys
Soap Panic		C&E	Hacker Int.
Soccer Simulator		Codemasters	Realtec
Somari: The Adventurer ^{xlvi}	Small box	Someri Team	Someri Team
Strategist	TC-014	Sachen	Sachen
Street Blaster II Pro	YMH-SN	Cony Soft	Cony Soft
Street Fighter II Pro	YMH-SN	Cony Soft	Cony Soft
Street Fighter II: World Warrior		Hummer Team	Yoko Soft
Street Fighter IV		Hummer Team	Gouder
Street Fighter IV Pro	YMH-SN2	Cony Soft	Cony Soft
Street Fighter Zero 2 '97	NT6037	Hummer Team	NT
Street Hero ^{xlvii}	TC-027	Sachen	Sachen
Strike Wolf	MGC-014	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Super 4 in 1xlviii		Unknown	Unknown
Super Cartridge V.1: 4 in 1 ^{xlix}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen

Super Cartridge V.2: 10 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.3: 8 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.4: 6 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.4: 6 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.4: 6 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.5: 7 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.7: 4 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1¹ Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1¹ Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Sachen Dev NT Super Game Sugar Softec Super Game Sugar Softec Super Game Sugar Softec Super Game Super Maruo¹ Super Maruo¹ Super Maruo¹ Super Maruo¹ Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Sachen Sachen Super Game Unknown Super Game Unknown Super Game Unknown Super Game Super Game Unknown Super Game Unknown Super Game Unknown Super Game Super Game Unknown Thin Chen Thin Ch				+
Super Cartridge V.4: 6 in 1 ⁱⁱⁱ Super Cartridge V.5: 7 in 1 ⁱⁱⁱⁱ Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1 ^{iiv} Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1 ^{iv} Thin Chen Thin	Super Cartridge V.2: 10 in 1 ¹		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Cartridge V.5: 7 in 1 liii Thin Chen Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1 liv Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.7: 4 in 1 lv Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1 lv Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 lvii Thin Chen Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 lvii Thin Chen Super Contra X Tai Jing Da Dong Tai Jing Da Dong Super Donkey Kong Ei-How Yang Hosenkan Super Donkey Kong Tai Jing Da Dong Liang Yi Production Super Donkey Kong Tai Jing Da Dong Liang Yi Production Super Bighter III Unknown Unknown Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) Super Lion King Super Game Sugar Softec Super Lion King Super Mario Worldlix JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Cartridge V.3: 8 in 1 ^{li}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1 ^{liv} Super Cartridge V.7: 4 in 1 ^{lv} Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1 ^{lvi} Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 ^{lvii} Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 ^{lvii} Super Contra X Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Fighter III Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) Super Lion King biii Super Mario Worldlix JY-028 Super Maruo N Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Super Sachen Super Game Super Game Super Realtec Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Thin Chen	Super Cartridge V.4: 6 in 1 ^{lii}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Cartridge V.7: 4 in 1 lb Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1 lb Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 lb Super Contra X Super Donkey Kong Super Fighter III Super Fighter III Super Gun Super Lion King lb Super Lion King 2 Super Mario World Super Maruo Super Maruo Super Pang Super Pang II Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Sachen Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Super Game S	Super Cartridge V.5: 7 in 1 ^{liii}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1 ^{lvi} Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 ^{lvii} Super Contra X Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong 2 NT866 / NT869 Super Fighter III Super Gun Super Lion King 2 Super Lion King 2 Super Mario World ^{lix} Super Maruo ^{lx} Super Pang TC-021 Super Pang II Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Tai Jing Da Dong Liang Yi Production NT Ex-Sachen Dev NT Unknown Unknown Unknown Super Game Sugar Softee Super Game Sugar Softee NT TC-021 Sachen Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Sachen Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong Taiwan SA-020 Thin Chen	Super Cartridge V.6: 6 in 1 liv		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 ^{lvii} Super Contra X Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong 2 NT866 / NT869 Super Fighter III Super Gun Super Lion King lviii Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Super Mario World liix JY-028 Super Pang TC-021 Super Pang Super Pang Super Roin Super Game Super Game Unknown Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen	Super Cartridge V.7: 4 in 1 ^{lv}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Contra X Super Donkey Kong 2 NT866 / NT869 Super Fighter III Super Gun Super Lion King brill Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Super Mario World lix Super Maruo lx Super Pang Super Pang Super Pang Super Pang II Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Game Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Tai Jing Da Dong Ex-Sachen Dev NT Suproduction NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Super Game Super Sachen Sachen Super Game Unknown Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Cartridge V.8: 4 in 1 ^{lvi}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong Super Donkey Kong 2 NT866 / NT869 Super Fighter III Super Gun Super Lion Kinglviii Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Super Mario Worldlix JY-028 Super Maruolx Super Pang TC-021 Super Pang II Super Robin Hood Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 Super Super Condens Super Conde	Super Cartridge V.9: 3 in 1 ^{lvii}		Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Super Donkey Kong 2 NT866 / NT869 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Fighter III Unknown Unknown Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Super Lion King Viii Super Game Sugar Softee Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Mario World Iix JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Super Maruo Vario Unknown Unknown Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Super Game Unknown Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Contra X		Tai Jing Da Dong	Tai Jing Da Dong
Super Donkey Kong 2 NT869/ NT869/ Super Fighter III Unknown Unknown Unknown Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) Super Lion King viii Super Game Sugar Softec Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Mario World lix JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Super Maruo vix Unknown Unknown Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Donkey Kong		Ei-How Yang	Hosenkan
Super Fighter III Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) Super Lion King ^{lviii} Super Game Sugar Softec Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Mario World ^{lix} JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Super Maruo ^{lx} Unknown Unknown Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?)	Super Donkey Kong		Tai Jing Da Dong	Liang Yi Production
Super Gun CN-12 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Super Lion King lviii Super Game Sugar Softec Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Mario World lix JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Unknown Unknown Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Super Game Unknown Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Donkey Kong 2		Ex-Sachen Dev	NT
Super Lion King lviii Super Game Sugar Softec Super Lion King 2 NT6093 Ex-Sachen Dev NT Super Mario Worldlix JY-028 Hummer Team JY Company Super Maruolx Unknown Unknown Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Super Game Unknown Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Fighter III		Unknown	Unknown
Super Lion King 2 Super Mario World ^{lix} Super Maruo Vorld ^{lix} Super Maruo Vorld	Super Gun	CN-12	NTDEC (?)	NTDEC (?)
Super Mario World ^{lix} Super Maruo ^{lx} Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 Taiwan Taiwan Super Shinobi Super Shinobi Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Lion Kinglviii		Super Game	Sugar Softec
Super Maruo ^{lx} Super Pang TC-021 Sachen Sachen Super Pang II TC-022 Sachen Sachen Super Robin Hood Codemasters Realtec Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac Unknown Thin Chen	Super Lion King 2	NT6093	Ex-Sachen Dev	NT
Super PangTC-021SachenSachenSuper Pang IITC-022SachenSachenSuper Robin HoodCodemastersRealtecSuper ShinobiSuper GameUnknownTaiwan 16 Tile MahjongSA-001Thin ChenThin ChenTaiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2SA-025Thin ChenThin ChenTankCN-16NTDEC (?)NTDEC (?)TasacSA-020Thin ChenThin Chen	Super Mario Worldlix	JY-028	Hummer Team	JY Company
Super Pang II Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac Sachen Sachen Sachen Codemasters Realtec Unknown Thin Chen	Super Maruo ^{lx}		Unknown	Unknown
Super Robin Hood Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen	Super Pang	TC-021	Sachen	Sachen
Super Shinobi Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Pang II	TC-022	Sachen	Sachen
Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong SA-001 Thin Chen Thin Chen Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Robin Hood		Codemasters	Realtec
Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2 SA-025 Thin Chen Thin Chen Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Super Shinobi		Super Game	Unknown
Tank CN-16 NTDEC (?) NTDEC (?) Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong	SA-001	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
Tasac SA-020 Thin Chen Thin Chen	Taiwan 16 Tile Mahjong 2	SA-025	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
	Tank	CN-16	NTDEC (?)	NTDEC (?)
Tekken 2 JY-092 Hummer Team JY Company	Tasac	SA-020	Thin Chen	Thin Chen
	Tekken 2	JY-092	Hummer Team	JY Company
Tennis Idea-Tek Idea-Tek	Tennis		Idea-Tek	Idea-Tek
Tennis MGC-011 Idea-Tek Micro Genius	Tennis	MGC-011	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Text Editor ^{lxi} A Chudov Unknown	Text Editor ^{lxi}		A Chudov	Unknown
Thunder Warrior MGC-017 Micro Genius Micro Genius	Thunder Warrior	MGC-017	Micro Genius	Micro Genius
Thunderbolt 2 Gamtec Gamtec	Thunderbolt 2		Gamtec	Gamtec

Tiles of Fate	ET.05	C&E	C&E
Tiny Toon Adventures 6	EL-002	Hummer Team	JY Company / NT
Titanic		YanCheng	YangCheng
Tom & Jerry 3	DH1070	Dragon Co.	Dragon Co.
Toobin'		Tengen	Daou Infosys
Toshinden	JY-091	Hummer Team	JY Company
Tough Cop	SA-024	Sachen	Sachen
Toy Story	NT308	Ei-How Yang	Unknown
Treasure Island Dizzy		Codemasters	Realtec
Twin Eagle	TC-006	Joy Van	Joy Van
Ugadayka		A Chudov	Unknown
Ultimate Stuntman ^{lxii}	Artwork 1	Codemasters	Realtec
Universe Soldiers	LD112	Gamtec	Gamtec
Videomation		Western Technologies	BIC
Videomation		Western Technologies	Silver Emperor Limited
Volley Ball	MGC-010	Idea-Tek	Micro Genius
Volley Ball		Idea-Tek	Super Mega
Wait and See!	DH1001	Dragon Co.	Dragon Co.
War in the Gulf	CN-07	Mega Soft	Mega Soft
Warehouse No. 18		A Chudov	Unknown
Wisdom Boy		Gamtec	Gamtec
World Heroes		Unknown	Unknown
World Heroes 2	YMH-WH	Cony Soft	Cony Soft
World of Card Games	TC-012	Sachen	Sachen
Xiao Ma Li		Nei-Hu Electronics	C&E
Xiao Ma Li	ET.02	Nei-Hu Electronics	Idea-Tek
Yuu Yuu Hakusho Final		Hummer Team	NT

WAIXING GAMES

Fuzhou Waixing Computer Science & Technology (aka Waixing) was founded during the early-mid 1990s in mainland China. For a span of over fifteen years, Waixing developed and published original RPGs for the Famicom, often inspired by popular Chinese novels and characters. In addition, Waixing also translated several popular Japanese Famicom games into simplified Chinese, allowing many on the mainland and in other Chinese communities to move beyond the Japanese language barrier present for non-Japanese gamers.

Due to the shear number of game cartridges developed and published by Waixing, and the fact that these games are, for the most part, Chinese RPGs, I am listing these apart from the rest of the unlicensed Famicom games, as the vast majority of these games are of little interest to the average Western gamer. Initial print runs of the Waixing games will run perfectly fine in real Famicom hardware; however, later reprints will only work properly in Famiclones. In addition, most of the Waixing games received individual ID codes on the game packaging and cartridges. Judging from these numbers, it seems apparent that there are some games from Waixing's library, which have not been discovered as of yet.

Game Title	Title (Chinese)	ID Code	C
Hero Legend	三国志英杰传	ES-1001	
Three Kingdoms III	三国志 III	ES-1002	
Dragon Quest II	勇者斗恶龙 II	ES-1003	
Bio Hazard	生化危机	ES-1004	
Super Rich	大富翁	ES-1004	
Jacks in Tri-Empire	爆笑三國	ES-1005	
Phantasy Star IV	梦幻之星 IV	ES-1006	
Unknown Game		ES-1007	
Thirty-Six Tricks	三十六計	ES-1008	
War Between Chu & Han	楚汉争霸	ES-1009	
Tunnel Warfare	地道战	ES-1010	
Fire Emblem	索菲亚的复苏	ES-1011	
Robot War IV	第四次機器人大戰	ES-1012	
Linzexu Baned the Opium	林则徐禁烟	ES-1013	
Robot War 4	第四次機器人大戰	ES-1014	

Da Hang Hai 7	大航海 VII	ES-1014
Unknown Game		ES-1015
The Story of Three Kingdoms	三国忠烈传	ES-1016
Hero on Devil Lands	魔域英雄传	ES-1017
Mysterious Triangle	神秘金三角	ES-1018
Gods and Devils	天王降魔传	ES-1019
Conjuror Scheme	魔道士阴谋	ES-1020
Indiana Small Hero of Light and Dark	夺寶小英豪 - 光明與黑暗	ES-1021
Unrivalled Hero	絕代英雄	ES-1022
Dragon Ball Heroes	龍珠英雄	ES-1023
Unknown Game		ES-1024
Heal the Century	拯救世纪	ES-1025
Sea Warfare of the Pacific	決戰太平洋	ES-1025
Unknown Game		ES-1026
Unknown Game		ES-1027
Happy Biqi III: World Fighter	地球战士	ES-1028
Galactic Era	银河时代	ES-1029
Shui Hu Zhuan	水浒传	ES-1030
Unknown Game		ES-1031
Unknown Game		ES-1032
Flowers in the Mirror	镜花缘	ES-1033
Journey to the West II	西天取经 2	ES-1034
Unknown Game		ES-1035
Alien Warrior	外星战士	ES-1036
Unknown Game		ES-1037
Unknown Game		ES-1038
Fairy Land	绿野仙踪	ES-1039
Unknown Game		ES-1040
Unknown Game		ES-1041
Hegemony Century	世纪争霸戰	ES-1042
Ou Lu Zhi Zhan	欧陆之战	ES-1042

Shang Hai Tycoon	大富翁 II - 上海大亨	ES-1043
Unknown Game		ES-1044
China Soccer League for Division A	甲A	ES-1045
Traitor Legend	風雲	ES-1046
Dragon Quest IV	勇者斗恶龙 IV	ES-1047
Dragon Quest VI	勇者斗恶龙 VI	ES-1048
Dragon Quest VII	勇者斗恶龙 VII	ES-1049
Hero's Legend	英烈群侠传	ES-1050
The Story of Sui and Tang Dynasty	隋唐演义	ES-1051
Unknown Game		ES-1052
Shenghuo Huizhang II	圣火徽章 II 代	ES-1053
Aoung Chivalry	少年游侠	ES-1054
Space General	宇宙战将	ES-1055
Unknown Game		ES-1056
Fighting for Supremacy	三国志 雄霸天下	ES-1057
Knight Love Emperor and the Assassin	俠客情荊軻刺秦王	ES-1058
Unknown Game		ES-1059
Napolean's War	帝国风暴	ES-1060
Genuine Monkey	真假猴王	ES-1061
Yang's Troops	杨家将	ES-1062
Unknown Game		ES-1063
Dragon Ball	七龙珠	ES-1064
Might and Magic	魔法门	ES-1065
Concubine	西楚霸王	ES-1066
EverQuest	无尽的任务	ES-1067
Unknown Game		ES-1068
Devil Master	魔神法師	ES-1069
Age of Empires	帝国时代	ES-1070
Sanxia Wuyi	三侠五义	ES-1071
Dongzhou Lieguo Zhi	东周列国志	ES-1072

Unknown Game		ES-1073
Chu Liu Xiang	楚留香	ES-1074
Unknown Game		ES-1075
Socat	机器猫	ES-1076
Dragon Quest VIII	勇者斗恶龙 VIII	ES-1077
Grandia	格兰蒂亚	ES-1078
The Smiling, Proud Wanderer	笑傲江湖	ES-1079
Pinocchio's Recovery	匹诺曹的复苏	ES-1080
Pet Family	宠物大家族 - 部落纷争	ES-1081
Pokemon Red		ES-1082
Unknown Game		ES-1083
Three Kingdoms II		ES-1084
Pet Evolve	寵物進化史	ES-1085
Digimon 4: Crystal Version	數碼暴龍 4: 水晶	ES-1086
Water Margin Animal	水滸神獸	ES-1087
Pokemon Red	宠物小精灵 - 红版	ES-1088
Pokemon Gold	口袋精灵王 - 金	ES-1088
Three Kingdoms II	三國志 II	ES-1089
Pokemon Diamond	口袋钻石之宠物小精灵 2	ES-1090
Wealthy Three	富甲三国	ES-1091
Commandos	盟军赶死队	ES-1092
Red Pocket Wizard	口袋精靈 - 紅	ES-1092
Pokemon Jade	宠物翡翠 - 宠物小精灵 IV	ES-1093
Dragon Ball Z II: Gekishin Freeza!!	激戰弗利薩之孫悟飯	ES-1094
Captain Tsubasa	足球小将	ES-1095
Zelda: Triforce of the Gods	塞尔达传说	ES-1096
Dragon Ball Z Gaiden	七龙珠 Z 外传	ES-1096
Journey to the West	西游记后传	ES-1097
Zelda: Triforce of the Gods	塞尔达传说	ES-1098
Shock	靈界護法	ES-1099

Golden Axe	戰斧	ES-1100
Huo Yan Wen Zhang	火炎纹章 - 圣战的系谱	ES-1100
Unknown Game		ES-1101
Sanada Juu Yuushi	真田十勇士	ES-1102
Columbus Biography	哥伦布传	ES-1103
Final Fantasy III		ES-1104
Numen Wager	赌神	ES-1105
Rockman X	洛克人X	ES-1105
Dragon Quest V	勇者斗恶龙 V	ES-1106
Kafka Flame Badge	圣火徽章 III 代	ES-1107
Medal of Honor	榮譽勳章	ES-1108
Ghost Train	幽灵列车	ES-1108
Mummy	神鬼传奇	ES-1109
Ghengis Khan	成吉思汗	ES-1110
Tom Sawyer	汤姆历险记	ES-1111
God Slayer	天神之劍	ES-1112
Unknown Game		ES-1113
Curse of King Tut's Tomb	法老王传说	ES-1114
Chaos World	混沌世界	ES-1115
Oradea Wars	拉迪亚战记	ES-1116
Fighters Holy Warriors	激斗圣战士	ES-1117
Dream Master	梦境之王	ES-1118
Monster Maker	怪物制造者 1	ES-1119
Monster Maker 2	怪物制造者 2	ES-1120
Unknown Game		ES-1121
Unknown Game		ES-1122
Unknown Game		ES-1123
Unknown Game		ES-1124
Gui Mei Zhan Ji		ES-1125
Unknown Game		ES-1126

Unknown Game		ES-1127
Unknown Game		ES-1128
Long Hun		ES-1129
Dragon Ball Z3 Cyborg Series	龍珠 Z3 人造人系列	ES-1130
Unknown Game		ES-1131
Unknown Game		ES-1132
Unknown Game		ES-1133
Unknown Game		ES-1134
Unknown Game		ES-1135
Unknown Game		ES-1136
Long Zhi Gu		ES-1137
Feng Se Huan Xiang		ES-1138
3 in 1 Study Cartridge		unknown
120 in 1		unknown
Count of Monte Cristo		unknown
Doraemon (Super Space)	哆啦 A 夢之超時空曆險	unknown
Dragongen Hero	龍珠英雄	unknown
Final Fantasy	银河时代	unknown
Flighty Chicken	风狂鸡蛋仔	unknown
New Contra	超级战魂	unknown
Night Pearl	夜明珠	unknown
Pokemon		unknown
Super Fighter	星际武士	unknown

NANJING GAMES^{lxiii}

Like Waixing above, Shenzhen Nanjing Technology (aka Nanjing) is another game company located in mainland China. And like Waixing, Nanjing also has gained a bit of a reputation for developing and publishing over one hundred different unlicensed Famicom games, most of which are (once again) Chinese RPGs. Unlike the works produced by Waixing, however, many of Nanjing's releases are backports of popular Super Famicom games.

Game Title	Title (Chinese)	ID Code	C
Kŏudài băoshí-lán	口袋宝石-蓝	NJ001	
Kŏudài băoshí-hóng	口袋宝石-红	NJ002	
Kŏudài bǎoshí-jīn	口袋宝石-金	NJ003	
Kŏudài bǎoshí-yín	口袋宝石-银	NJ004	
Shùmă bào lóng III	数码暴龙 III	NJ005	
Shùmă zhànduì 2	数码战队 2	NJ006	
Àoshì sānguózhì	傲视三国志	NJ007	
Sānguózhì-zhī àoshì tiāndì	三国志-之傲视天地	NJ008	
Kŏudài shuĭjīng	口袋水晶	NJ009	
Kŏudài zuànshí	口袋钻石	NJ010	
Mùchăng wùyǔ	牧场物语	NJ011	
Chāojí jīqìrén dàzhàn A	超级机器人大战A	NJ012	
Hàn liúbāng	汉刘邦	NJ013	
Shèng jiàn chuánshuō	圣剑传说	NJ014	
Chǔ hàn fēngyún	楚汉风云	NJ015	
Tàikōng huànxiăng	太空幻想	NJ016	
Xiānjiàn qí xiá chuán	仙剑奇侠传	NJ017	
Sānguózhì-cáocāo chuán	三国志-曹操传	NJ018	
Shuĭhŭ shénshòu	水浒神兽	NJ019	
Huángjīn tàiyáng	黄金太阳	NJ020	
Dàhuà xīyóu	大话西游	NJ021	
Shèng dòushì xīngshǐ-tiānmă zhī huànxiǎng	圣斗士星矢-天马之幻想	NJ022	

Liángshān yīngxióng	梁山英雄	NJ023
Shèng dòushì zhī-shíkōng dòushì	圣斗士之-时空斗士	NJ024
Nóngchăng xiǎo jīnglíng	农场小精灵	NJ025
Yĭtiān túlóngjì	倚天屠龙记	NJ026
Zhúlù sānguó	逐鹿三国	NJ027
Shuǐhŭ 3	水浒3	NJ028
Qī guó dàzhàn	七国大战	NJ029
Suítáng yīngxióng	隋唐英雄	NJ030
Jīnyōng qún xiá chuán-shū jiàn jiāngshān	金庸群侠传-书剑江山	NJ031
Yóuxì wáng	游戏王	NJ032
Zhēn shìhún-wǔshìdào liè chuán	真侍魂-武士道烈传	NJ033
Huàn shì lù	幻世录	NJ034
Tiānlóng bā bù	天龙八部	NJ035
Nă zhā chuánqí	哪吒传奇	NJ036
Ànhēi pòhuài shén	暗黑破坏神	NJ037
Shíkōng zhī lún	时空之轮	NJ038
Húlu jīngāng	葫芦金刚	NJ039
Sānguózhì lǚbù chuán	三国志吕布传	NJ040
Yĭtiān jiàn chuánqí	倚天剑传奇	NJ041
Zhēn shìhún-hún zhī lìrèn	真侍魂-魂之利刃	NJ042
Sānguó qún xiá chuán	三国群侠传	NJ043
Jiànxiá qíngyuán	剑侠情缘	NJ044
Xuānyuán jiàn wàizhuàn-zhī tiān zhī hén	轩辕剑外传-之天之痕	NJ045
Léidiàn huáng-bǐ kǎ qiū chuánshuō	雷电皇-比卡丘传说	NJ046
Sānguó wúshuāng-měngjiàng chuán	三国无双-猛将传	NJ047
Tàităn níkè	泰坦尼克	NJ048
Hēikè	黑客	NJ049
Hónglóumèng	红楼梦	NJ050

Luànshì sānguó	乱世三国	NJ051
Chŏngwù băobăo	宠物宝宝	NJ052
Huàn zhuāng rén	换装人	NJ053
Yuánshǐ rén	原始人	NJ054
Yuánshǐ rén II	原始人II	NJ055
Sài ĕr dá chuánshuō-shénqí de màozi	塞尔达传说-神奇的帽子	NJ056
Mójiè tă shì	魔界塔士	NJ057
Huànxiăng chuánshuō	幻想传说	NJ058
Shè diāo yīngxióng chuán	射雕英雄传	NJ059
Juédài shuāng jiāo	绝代双骄	NJ060
Huáng feihóng	黄飞鸿	NJ061
Shíqì shídài	石器时代	NJ062
Zuìzhōng huànxiăng VII	最终幻想Ⅶ	NJ063
Shù dú	数独	NJ064
Zuì yóujì zhī táng sānzàng	最游记之唐三藏	NJ065
Gǔ mù lì yǐng	古墓丽影	NJ066
Huò yuán jiă	霍元甲	NJ067
Xúnqínjì	寻秦记	NJ068
Tángbóhŭ diăn qiūxiāng	唐伯虎点秋香	NJ069
Ào jiàn jiānghú	傲剑江湖	NJ070
Xīn yuè jiàn hén	新月剑痕	NJ071
Dōngfāng de chuánshuō zhī-fēngyìn dǎo	东方的传说之-封印岛	NJ072
Wŭlín wàizhuàn	武林外传	NJ073
Yìxíng-zhī tàikōng tànxiăn zhĕ	异形-之太空探险者	NJ074
Héxīn wéijī	核心危机	NJ075
Mènghuàn shālòu	梦幻沙漏	NJ076
Móhuàn shìjiè	魔幻世界	NJ077
Huĭmiè zhī shén	毁灭之神	NJ078

Mójiè bàzhǔ	魔界霸主	NJ079
Xiānjiè jīnglíng	仙界精灵	NJ080
Huŏyĭng rĕnzhĕ	火影忍者	NJ081
Dàhuà xīyóu 2-qí tiān dà shèng	大话西游 2-齐天大圣	NJ082
Sānguózhì liúbèi chuán	三国志刘备传	NJ083
Shèng dòushì xīngshǐ 2-běi'ōu tújí piān	圣斗士星矢 2-北欧突击篇	NJ084
Shănshăn de hóngxīng!	闪闪的红星!	NJ085
Quánhuáng R1-zuì qiáng gédòu wáng	拳皇 R1-最强格斗王	NJ086
Quánhuáng R2-dàshé sìtiānwáng	拳皇 R2-大蛇四天王	NJ087
Chŏngwù gāodá zhàn jì	宠物高达战记	NJ088
Xiào ào jiānghú qún xiá jì	笑傲江湖群侠记	NJ089
Yŏngzhě chuánshuō	勇者传说	NJ090
Xiānjiàn wèn qíng	仙剑问情	NJ091
Yóuxì băobèi	游戏宝贝	NJ092
Lùdĭngjì	鹿鼎记	NJ093
Wángzhě wúshuāng	王者无双	NJ094
Qīlóngzhū dà màoxiăn	七龙珠大冒险	NJ095
Wŭxiá tiāndì	武侠天地	NJ096
Móshòu shìjiè-èmó lièrén	魔兽世界-恶魔猎人	NJ097
Zuìzhōng huànxiăng IV-guāng yǔ àn shuĭjīng fēnzhēng	最终幻想 IV-光与暗水晶 纷争	NJ098
Sānguó dàluàn dòu-zhànguó	三国大乱斗-战国	NJ099
Dàhuà shuǐhǔ	大话水浒	NJ100
Héjīn fēngbào	合金风暴	NJ101
Módào jié	魔道劫	NJ102
Fāngshìyù	方世玉	NJ???
Dōngfāng bù bài	东方不败	NJ???
Jīqìrén dàzhàn	机器人大战	NJ???
Xiāng shuài chuánqí	香帅传奇	NJ???

RUSSIAN GAMBLING SYSTEM^{lxiv}

Just like the state of Minnesota in the United States had developed and showcased a lottery Nintendo game, a gambling / lottery device was also developed in Russia for use on the popular Famiclone Dendy.

This special cartridge is called Bonza. According to an advertisement, one purchases a Bonza card with money loaded onto it and then inserts it into the top of the compatible Famicom software. From there, play the game, hoping to win cash prizes.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Bonza			

SPICA'S SACHEN RELEASES

The digger you deep, the more you realize that you have only just scratched the surface. This old saying definitely matches my experience with the Famicom, and before I knew it, I was adding an additional subsection of games to the unlicensed section of this list.

I was first informed of the Spica's publishing antics a year or two ago, when an Australian member of Nintendo Age had chatted with me about the distribution of Sachen cartridges. He then showed me a startling find he had recently (at that time) made, which had come from a local sale: a small cache of HES Nintendo games as well as some Famicom goodies. The Famicom items were a combination of bootleg cartridges and Sachen games, the latter of which had been sold in Spica-branded cases. In addition to having their own Spica game cases, several of these Sachen games also had special Spica game labels as opposed to the regular Sachen labels.

For those that are wondering, Spica was a large game manufacturer / publisher during the heyday of the Nintendo. They distributed bootleg Nintendo-format cartridges into markets such as Indonesia, and apparently a lot of cartridges also ended up being distributed in Australia for a few years.

The following is a list of the special Sachen game cartridges. These carts were all distributed / "published" by Spica seemingly for the Australian game market, and as such, don't turn up very often. Unlike the Sachen games published / distributed by Ku Je and Hacker International, the Spica-distributed games don't seem to have any differences from the standard Sachen releases, aside from the Spica boxes and labels.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
777 Lucky Bingo		Sachen / Spica	

Chinese Kung Fu	Joy Van / Sachen / Spica
Colorful Dragon	Sachen / Spica
Galactic Crusader	Joy Van / Spica
Jovial Race	Joy Van / Spica
Master Chu and the Drunkard Hu	Joy Van / Spica
Metal Fighter	Joy Van / Spica
Penguin and Seal	Sachen / Spica
Pyramid ^{lxv}	Sachen / Spica
Sidewinder	Joy Van / Spica
Silent Assault	Joy Van / Spica
Twin Eagle	Joy Van / Spica

EDUCATIONAL CARTRIDGES

To me, this section of the "list" has to be the most notorious, for several reasons. For starters, most people aside from collectors will get little to no enjoyment from the games listed below. Most of these games were designed to teach children an elementary level of English. To make matters worse, a lot of these games were bundled with those pseudo-computer Famicom keyboard clones that were the rage several years back. This creates several problems for collectors and gamers alike.

To begin, there is often a compatibility issue. Many of the games listed below will only work on the keyboard clones that they were bundled with. Furthermore, for collectors that are trying to get a complete set of these games, it is often necessary to purchase the clone to obtain the game. In addition, many of these games do not have any sort of real "name" to refer to them by, which only makes it even more difficult to try to record all of the games and languages variations that exist. Finally, no one needs a dozen different keyboard Famiclones stashed away in his or her house. Tracking down these carts is for the serious collector only!

Note: Because many of these games have no "real" descriptive name to them, I will post pictures from the games themselves, which collectors can use to help reference their own collections to this list. Also, I know that my list is missing a lot of variations / cartridges, so please contact me if you have something that I don't have listed here. Thanks!

Game Title	Language	Publisher	Cartridge	Screenshot	C
2 in 1 Chinese / English Language Learning Card (Using CAI)	Chinese	Subor	ENGLISH 50 IN 1 Particular Search Se	ESTIMATIONAL CONDUCTOR LINEYSCARD ENERGISE 2. ENGLISH EDITION 3. FINGER CAME 4. MUSIC BOARD 5. MESSAGE BOARD	
2 in 1 Chinese / English Language Learning Card (Using CAI)	Chinese	Subor	OND ASSESSED THE STREET OF THE	の区門が推理 窓の神区 発力神区 先権も適会可設計 中山市小覇王电子工业公司出版	
40 in 1	Arabic	Subor	AND THE PARTY OF T	كر تتعلم اللغة العربية 2 عناه على الالعالات المربية 3 مربيات الاستام (اعتلا 4 مربيات الاستام (اعتلا 5 مدير عنى العلمان	
46 in 1	Arabic	Unknown	Company of the second s	TANK TO THE PARTY OF THE PARTY	
50 in 1	English		TROCKER SONS Amendment and am	Editoral Conductor 1. KEYBOARD EXERCISE 2. ENGLISH EDITOR 3. FINGER CAME 4. MUSIC BOARD 5. MESSAGE BOARD	
Brilliant Com V.1	Korean	Unknown			
Brilliant Com V.2	Korean	Unknown			

Chinese / English Computer Learning Card (V4.0)	Chinese	Subor	小類王中東文电影学习中 編集等分 从前向学为 1/20 并表文编辑 第二次章 中的公区 五年学习 中華	小須里中英文电脑学习卡(Vint) 「古海绵」 「古海绵」 「中英文编辑 「中英文编辑 「中英文编辑 「中英文编辑 「中英文编辑 「中国 (The property of the property of
Cyber System	English	Unknown	SOUTH STATE OF THE	SYSTEM CYBERWORLD STORIES SYSTEM CYBERWORLD STO
Educational Computer 2000 48 in 1	English	Game Star (?)	CASCUMATION OF THE PARTY OF THE	Educational Computer
Educational Computer 2000 48 in 1	Spanish	Unknown	The state of the s	administrated by Dipoles 48 in 1
English Word Blaster	English	Subor	ENGLISH WORD BLASTER	COPYRIGHT 1994 BY SLEICH

Game Star Fun Educator 32 in 1	English	Game Star	Committee Commit	GAME STARS GAMESTAR GAMESTAR 32in1
Hai Wang Xing (Neptune) 28 Functions	Chinese	Hai Wang Xing		THE BOS
LIKO Study Cartridge 3 in 1	Russian	BBG Electronics		
Magistr Tutor	Russian	Unknown		THE TESTES TO SAFE
PC-95-KO01	Korean	Asder Korea	SO STATE	P- 93-KOO1
RB-925 34 in 1	English	GameStar	EDUCATIONAL PROCRAME William State	GAME STAIR R. 301n1
Subor Chinese / English Learning Card III (V3.0)	Chinese	Subor		市 英文 电 沙 对 机

Unknown Title	English	Unknown	is contain.	
Unknown Title	Chinese	Hai Wang Xing (?)	ENUMERO DE LA CONTRACTOR DE LA CONTRACTO	
Unknown Title	Chinese	BBK Electronics	日日を子 リンプ・ビ	Note: Screenshot unavailable as I have thus far been unable to get this cartridge to run on any of my Famiclones.
Unknown Title	Chinese	BBK Electronics	ERREPH UND	Note: Screenshot unavailable as I have thus far been unable to get this cartridge to run on any of my Famiclones.
Unknown Title	Chinese	Subor		Note: Screenshot unavailable as I have thus far been unable to get this cartridge to run on any of my Famiclones.
Компьютер для Образования (Computer for Education)	Russian	Unknown	1. Linux control constanting of the control co	компьютер для овразования

Обучающий Картридж (Training Cartridge V1.0)	Russian	Unknown	S UNVERTIBILE TOPYCHADE *VOLUMERIST CALBBATTORS * PERATTORIZANE *SARRORITERSNE DEVATERSE *GRADEN F-AARC *SEVENCENS	ВБУЧАВШИМ КАРТРИЛЕ \$41.03 1. Вигавивние с клавиатывой 2. Запинательное початание 5. Музька и посии 6. РАМИРОИМЕННО 6. Вычислония 7. ОЗВИНИНИИ КАРТРИАХ 201.03
--	---------	---------	---	--

MULTICART-ONLY RELEASES

Sadly, some unlicensed games were only released on multicarts. Games that were released on multicarts only containing unlicensed games I listed in the unlicensed section; the games I am referring to here though, are those that were sprinkled throughout multicarts that also contained licensed Famicom games. Some of the games listed below were released on several multicarts, so I will not be listing the various carts on which these can be found. If there is a certaing game you are trying to find, please send me a message, and I will try to let you know where I found it.

Game Title	Developer	Publisher	C
2 Turn Pair	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Angry Birds	Unknown	Unknown	
China Chess	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Cricket 2003	Unknown	Unknown	
F18 Race	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Frog River	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Fruit	Unknown	Unknown	
Jazz Samba	U&M / Leader Limited	Unknown	
Memory Pair	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Piano	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Panda World	Unknown	XB Company	
Plants vs Zombies	Nice Code?	Unknown	
Punch Sprite	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game	
Super Mario World	Hummer Team	JY Company	
Super Popo's Adventure	Unknown	XB Company	
Wildball	Hwang Shinwei	Golden Game, RCM	

GAME ENHANCERS

People are generally familiar with the heated battle and delayed release in America concerning Galoob's Game Genie, a cheat device that allowed gamers to alter attributes in video games to assist gamers in difficult games, add new challenges, and explore hidden areas. Fewer people are aware that some game enhancers were also released for the Famicom.

Just like for the NES, Codemasters' Game Genie was also released for the Famicom format, although this time it would be published by Realtec, the company that had officially published many other Codemasters games on the Famicom.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	C
Game Genie		Codemasters / Realtec	

BOOTLEG FAMICOM GAMES:

Alright so let's face it, everyone and their uncle were bootlegging Famicom games during the early 90s. Super Mario Bros., Tetris, Rockman...everything was being copied. Nowadays, most of these pirated games hold little value to collectors, existing as a minor footnote in a chapter of Famicom history. Despite this general lack of interest, however, there are some pirated Famicom games that are actually noteworthy, and they will be discussed below.

FAMICOM DISK TO CARTRIDGE PORTS

Around two-hundred different Famicom games were released on disks for Nintendo's Famicom Disk System device. Many of these games were only officially available on disk format, with some of the most famous examples being Super Mario Bros. 2 and Metroid. During the early 90s, some bootleg companies would port several of these games onto cartridge format. Although other companies may have also been involved, most of the ports were the work of two companies, namely Kaiser and Whirlwind Manu. Due to the durability of cartridges compared to disks, and convenience factors, these cartridge ports are highly sought today.

Game Title	(Original) Developer/Publisher	Notes	C
Akumajou Dracula	Konami		
Akumajou Dracula II: Noroi no Fuuin	Konami		
Ai Senshi Nicol	Konami		
Arumana no Kiseki	Konami		
Bio Miracle Bokutte Upa	Konami		
Bubble Bobble	Taito		
Dead Zone	Sunsoft	rumored to exist ^{lxvi}	
Big Challenge! Dogfight Spirit	Jaleco	rumored to exist ^{lxvii}	
Dr. Chaos: Jigoku no Tobira	Pony Canyon	rumored to exist ^{lxviii}	
Esper Dream	Konami	rumored to exist ^{lxix}	

Exciting Basketball	Konami		
Falsion	Konami		
Akai Yousai	Konami		
Fuun Shourinji	Jaleco		
Green Beret	Konami		
Gun.Smoke (?)	Capcom		
Gyruss	Konami		
Hao Kun no Fushigina Tabi	Sukuuea		
Hikari Shinwa: Palutena no Kagami	Nintendo		
Karate Champ	Data East		
Knight Move	Nintendo	rumored to exist ^{lxx}	
Meikyuu Jiin Dababa	Konami		
Metroid	Nintendo		
Monty no Doki Doki Daidassou	Jaleco / Gremlin Graphics		
Nazo no Murasamejou	Nintendo		
Pro Wrestling	Nintendo		
Relics: Ankoku Yousai	Bottom Up	rumored to exist ^{lxxi}	
Smash Ping Pong	Nintendo		
Super Mario Bros. 2 (Lost Levels)	Nintendo		
Tobidase Daisakusen	DOG / Square Soft		
Nakayama Miho no Tokimeki High School	Nintendo	rumored to exist ^{lxxii}	
Moero Twin Bee	Konami		
Volleyball	Nintendo		
Yumekoujou: Doki Doki Panic	Fuji Television		
Zanac	Pony Canyon		

NES-EXCLUSIVE TO FAMICOM GAME CARTRIDGES

It is quite common for Western gamers to eagerly check out pictures and read about the latest gaming gems being released in Japan. Sadly, more often than not, Japan would receive many hidden gems, which never made it to Western shores. Although not as common, around three hundred different Nintendo games never managed to find release in Japan. Over half of these exclusives would be pirated though, appearing on bootleg Famicom cartridges distributed primarily in Eastern Europe, South America, and parts of Asia. So for gamers wanting to play games such as Talespin or Flintstones 2 on their Famicoms, they can check out the other exclusive NES games that only appeared on Famicom via unofficial means.

Game Title	(Original) Developer/Publisher	C
720°	Mindscape	
A Nightmare on Elm Street	LJN	
Addams Family	Ocean	
Addams Family: Pugsley's Scavenger Hunt	Ocean	
Adventures in the Magic Kingdom, Disney's	Capcon	
Adventures of Rad Gravity	Activision	
Adventures of Rocky and Bullwinkle and Friends	THQ	
Alfred Chicken	Mindscape	
Alien 3	LJN	
American Gladiators	GameTek	
Attack of the Killer Tomatoes	THQ	
Back to the Future	LJN	
Back to the Future II & III	LJN	
Barbie	Hi-Tech	
Simpsons: Bartman Meets Radioactive Man	Acclaim	
Base Wars – Cyber Stadium Series	Ultra	
Batman Returns	Konami	
Battle Tank, Gary Kitchen's	Absolute	
Battleship	Mindscape	
Battletoads & Double Dragon	Tradewest	
Beetlejuice	LJN	

Best of the Best Championship Karate	Electro-Brain
Blues Brothers	Titus
Bram Stoker's Dracula	Sony Imagesoft
Breakthru	Data East
Cabal	Milton Bradley
Caesar's Palace	Virgin
Captain America and the Avengers	Data East
Captain Planet and the Planeteers	Mindscape
Captain Skyhawk	Milton Bradley
Caveman Games	Data East
Championship Pool	Mindscape
Chessmaster	Hi-Tech
Cliffhanger	Imagesoft
Conan: The Mysteries of Time	Mindscape
Contra Force	Konami
Cybernoid: The Fighting Machine	Acclaim
Darkman	Ocean
Darkwing Duck	Capcom
Dash Galaxy in the Alien Asylum	Data East
Defenders of Dynatron City	JVC
Dick Tracy	Bandai
Digger T. Rock: Legend of the Lost City	Milton Bradley
Rollergames	Ultra
Eliminator Boat Duel	Electro-Brain
F-117A Stealth Fighter	MicroProse
Felix the Cat	Hudson
Flight of the Intruder	Mindscape
Flintstones: Surprise at Dinosaur Peak	Taito
Formula One: Built to Win	SETA
Frankenstein: The Monster Returns	Bandai
Friday the 13th	LJN
G.I. Joe: The Atlantis Factor	Capcom

G.I. Joe: A Real American Hero	Taxan	
George Foreman's K.O. Boxing	Acclaim	
Ghostbusters II	Activision	
Godzilla 2: War of the Monsters	Toho	
Gotcha! The Sport!	LJN	
Home Alone	THQ	
Home Alone 2: Lost in New York	THQ	
Hunt for Red October	Hi-Tech	
Immortal	Electronic Arts	
Incredible Crash Dummies	LJN	
Indiana Jones and the Last Crusade	Taito	
Indiana Jones and the Last Crusade	Ubisoft	
Indiana Jones and the Temple of Doom	Tengen	
Infiltrator	Mindscape	
James Bond Jr.	THQ	
Jaws	LJN	
Muppet Adventure: Chaos at the Carnival	Hi-Tech	
Jimmy Connors Tennis	Ubisoft	
Joe & Mac ^{lxxiii}	Data East	
Jungle Book	Virgin	
Jurassic Park	Ocean	
Karate Kid	LJN	
Kickmaster	Taito	
Kid Klown in Night Mayor World ^{lxxiv}	Kemco	
Kiwi Kraze	Taito	
Klash Ball	SOFEL	
Krusty's Fun House	Acclaim	
Last Action Hero	Imagesoft	
Last Ninja	Jaleco	
Legenday Wings	Capcom	
Lemmings	Sunsoft	
Lethal Weapon	Ocean	

Low G Man	Taxan
M.C. Kids ^{lxxv}	Virgin
Mad Max	Mindscape
Marble Madness	Milton Bradley
Mario is Missing!	Mindscape
Mechanized Attack	SNK
Mickey's Adventure in Numberland	Hi-Tech
Mickey's Safari in Letterland	Hi-Tech
Mission Impossible	Ultra
Monster in My Pocket ^{lxxvi}	Konami
Ms. Pac-Man	Tengen/Namco
Mutant Virus: Crisis in a Computer World	ASC
NARC	Acclaim
Tecmo NBA Basketball	Tecmo
Nigel Mansell's World Championship Racing	Gamtek
Pac-Mania	Tengen
Paperboy 2	Mindscape
Pipe Dream	Bullet-Proof
Platoon	Sunsoft
Power Blade ^{lxxvii}	Taito
Power Punch II	ASC
Prince of Persia	Virgin
Punisher	LJN
Q*Bert	Ultra
R.C. Pro-Am	Nintendo
R.C. Pro-Am II	Tradewest
Race America	Absolute
Ren & Stimpy Show Buckeroo\$!	THQ
RoadBlasters	Mindscape
Robin Hood: Prince of Thieves	Virgin
Robocop 3	Data East
Rocket Ranger	Kemco

Rocketeer	Bandai
Sesame Street ABC/123	Hi-Tech
Shooting Range	Bandai
Silkworm	Sammy
Silver Surfer	Arcadia
Simpsons: Bart vs the Space Mutants	Acclaim
Simpsons: Bart vs the World	Acclaim
Skate or Die	Ultra
Slalom	Nintendo
Smash TV	Acclaim
Snake Rattle n Roll	Nintendo
Snoopy's Silly Sports Spectacular lxxviii	Kemco
Spider-Man: Return of the Sinister Six	LJN
Spy Hunter	Sunsoft
Star Trek: The Next Generation	Absolute
Strider	Capcom
T&C 2: Thrilla's Surfari	LJN
Talespin ^{lxxix}	Capcom
Target: Renegade	Taito
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles: Tournament Fighters	Konami
Terminator	Mindscape
Tetris	Tengen
Thundercade	Sammy
Time Lord	Milton Bradley
Bugs Bunny Crazy Castle ^{lxxx}	Kemco
Total Recall	Acclaim
Toxic Crusaders	Bandai
Treasure Master	ASC
Widget	Atlus
Wizards and Warriors III	Acclaim
Wolverine	LJN
World Champ	Romstar

World Games	Milton Bradley	
Uncanny X-Men	LJN	
Yo! Noidlxxxi	Capcom	
Young Indiana Jones Chronicles	Jaleco	
Zen Intergalactic Ninja	Konami	

ARABIC TRANSLATIONS

During the Famicom's heyday, one game (Captain Tsubasa II) was unofficially translated into Arabic. The translation was most likely backed by Rinco / Ramar International, which was involved with a large portion of the distribution of Famiclones and games in the Middle East. As far as I know, the Captain Tsubasa II translation was only available on multicart format.

Game Title	(Original) Developer / Publisher	Notes	C
Captain Tsubasa II	Тесто	Multicart only	

RUSSIAN TRANSLATIONS

Many Famicom games were also translated into the Russian language before being marketed in the Dendy regions. Although the original batch of Russian language carts are quite scarce to come by these days, it seems as though a new batch of modern releases are still available in Russia to this day.

Game Title	(Original) Developer / Publisher	Notes	C
Aladdin	Hummer Team / JY Company		
Arkanoid	Taito		
Batsu & Terri: Makyou no Tetsujin Race	Atlus		
Battle Toads / Battle Toads vs. Double Dragon	NCS / Masiya		
Battleship	Mindscape		
Blades of Steel	Konami		
Captain Skyhawk	Milton Bradley		

Castlevania	Konami
Contra	Konami
Digger T. Rock: Legend of the Lost City	Milton Bradley
Dragon Unit	Athena
Duck Tales	Capcom
F1 Race	Nintendo
Goonies	Konami
Highway Star	Square Soft
Jimmy Connor's Tennis	UBI Soft
Little Mermaid	Capcom
Monster Truck Rally	Intv Corp
NARC	Acclaim
Prince of Persia	Virgin
Renegade	Taito
Rockman	Capcom
Rush 'n Attack	Konami
Side Pocket	Namcot
Super Contra 2	Konami
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles III	Konami
Videomation	Western Tech / BIC
Zippy Race	Irem

ENGLISH TRANSLATIONS

The following games are English releases, put on Famicom cartridges by pirate companies. The original source code for these games is the American release, hence the reason the language of these games is in English. Unlike the games listed above, official Japanese versions of these games were released on the Famicom in either disk or cartridge format. I know that I am missing a lot of titles from this list, but they will be added as they are confirmed.

Game Title	Original Developer / Publisher	Notes	С
Adventure Island II	Hudson		

Bugs Bunny Birthday Blowout	Kemco
Castelian	Triffix
Castle of Dragon	Seta
Castlevania	Konami
Castlevania 2: Simon's Quest	Konami
Contra	Konami
Double Dribble	Konami
Duck Tales	Capcom
Flintstones	Taito
Gun.Smoke	Capcom
Jackal	Konami
Life Force	Konami
Little Mermaid	Capcom
Power Blade II	Taito
Snow Bros.	Capcom
Super Mario Bros. 2	Nintendo
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles 2: The Arcade Game	Ultra
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles 3: The Manhattan Project	Konami
Toki	Taito

DATACH NON-CARD ADAPTATIONS

Pirate companies drew their games from many sources, be it Japanese releases, American-exclusives, or even unlicensed games. One such source from which bootleggers decided to steal games was from the Datach Joint Rom System games. The games were hacked to be playable without the barcode reader or the cards, which are needed to play the (legit) Datach releases.

Game Title	Original Developer / Publisher	Notes	C
Dragon Ball Z: Gekitou Tenkaichi Budoukai	Bandai		
Yu Yu Hakusho	Bandai		

GAME HACKS:

Hundreds, if not thousands, of Famicom games have been released with hacked versions. The most common (and uninteresting) hacks were simple bootlegs; pirate companies would take stolen software and then remove the copyright notices on the title screen. Such minor hacks as those are not worth mentioning, with few exceptions (i.e. when a prominent company made such a hack, it can be a bit more interesting).

The next level of hacks are those that are simple sprite hacks. Still rather boring, it can be sort of neat to see how a Tiny Toons game was turned into a Mario game, or that Wacky Races was reused as a Lion King game. Once again, there are so many game hacks like these, that I will only list a small sampling, which I know to exist.

Finally, the best hacks are those that take an old game and give it a new makeover. Examples would be a Harry Potter game, which takes the Wacky Races game and rearranges the levels, changes some of the sprites, etc. Although these games are just hacks, they add a new level of enjoyment to previous classics, and are thus fun to own.

SIMPLE GAME HACKS

These are the boring game hacks mentioned above.

Hack Name	Original Game Name	Availability	Notes	C
1944	1943	Single Cart		
Adventure Malie	Adventure Island	Multicart Only		
Aladdin 2	Aladdin	Single Cart		
Aladdin III	Magic Carpet 1001	Single Cart		
Aladdin: Return of Jafar	Astynax	Single Cart		
Angry Birds 1	Moai-Kun	Multicart Only		
Angry Birds 4 ^{lxxxii}	Kiwi Kraze	Single Cart		
Chip n Dale 3	Heavy Barrel	Single Cart		
Contra Fighter	G.I. Joe	Single Cart		
Darkwing Duck 2	Super C	Single Cart		
Digi Monster II	Urusei Yatsura	Multicart Only		
Digimon Adventure	Tiny Toon Adventures	Single Cart		

Ding Dong	Binary Land	Multicart Only
Donkey Kong	Tiny Toon Adventures	Single Cart
Double Dragon IV	Target: Renegade	Single Cart
Family Kid	Somari	Single Cart
Fight Street II	Jackie Chan's Action Kung Fu	Single Cart
Flash & Batman	Monster in My Pocket	Single Cart
Golden Axe 4	Astynax	Single Cart
Harry Potter	Magic Carpet 1001	Multicart Only
Kitty	Dig Dug	Multicart Only
Lion King	Wacky Races	Single Cart
Lion King	Jungle Book	Single Cart
Monsters Inc.	Wacky Races	Multicart Only
Picachu	Super Mario Bros.	Multicart Only
Pokemon	Nuts n Milk	Multicart Only
Pokemon Blue	Wacky Races	Single Cart
Pokemon Gold	Tom & Jerry	Single Cart
Pokemon Green	Kero Kero Keroppi no Daibouken 2	Single Cart
Pokemon Red	Mitsume ga Tooru	Single Cart
Pokemon Silver	Little Nemo: Dream Master	Single Cart
Pokemon Yellow	Felix the Cat	Single Cart
Porco Rosso	Talespin	Single Cart
Robin Hood	Solomon's Key	Single Cart
Rockman 5	Darkwing Duck	Single Cart
Rockman 7	Rockman 6	Single Cart
Sonic 3D Blast 6	Somari	Single Cart
Sonic the Hedgehog	Somari	Single Cart
Super Simpsons.	Super Mario Bros.	Single Cart
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles I	Donkey Kong Jr.	Multicart Only
Teenage Mutant Ninja Turtles II	Lode Runner	Multicart Only
Teletubbies	Mario Bros.	Multicart Only
Top Gun III	Flight of the Intruder	Single Cart
Toy Story II	Bomberman	Multicart Only

SUPER MARIO HACKS

Everyone knows Mario. He is an iconic figure, who loves to explore unsettled islands, practice Kung Fu like Jackie Chan, hangout with the Tiny Toons, etc. Well none of this is canon in the real Super Mario Bros. Story, though, unless you believe what the pirates are trying to tell us. Either way, Mario has been hacked into many games, and to add to the excitement, a lot of these games are numbered (i.e. Mario 4, Mario 5, etc).

Hack Name	Original Game Name	Notes	C
Mario IV	Armadillo		
Super Bros. 5	Super Mario Bros. 2	English version	
Super Bros. 6	Tiny Toon Adventures	English version	
VII (Grand Dad 3M)	Flintstones: Rescue of Dino and Hoppy	English version	
Super Bros. 8	Don Doko Don 2		
Super Mario World 9	Adventure Island 2		
Super Bros. 10: Kung Fu Mari	Jackie Chan's Action Kung Fu		
Super Bros. 11	Adventure Island 3		
Mario 12	Yossy no Cookie		
Super Brothers Mario 13	Saiyuuki World 2		
Super Mario 14	Kaiketsu Yanchamaru 3		
Mario Bros. 14 Adventures	Tiny Toon Adventures 2		
Super Mario 15	Super Mario Bros.	Features Sonic	
Mario 16	Joe & Mac		
Super Bros. 16	Kaiketsu Yanchamaru 2		
Super Mari 17: Fighting of the Malilugi	Chip n Dale: Rescue Rangers		
M.C. Mario	M.C. Kids		
Mary Pizza Pop!	Pizza Pop!		
Super Mario Sonik 2	Chip n Dale: Rescue Rangers 2		
Mario Rider	Top Rider		
Super Mari Bros Splash Bomb	Keroppi to Keroleen no		

	Splash Bomb
Mali Boss	Hammerin Harry
Super Bros. Pocker Mali	Shin Chan: Ora to Poi Poi
Hero Mali Brothers	Super Chinese 2
Super Mario Sister	Super Mario Bros. 3
Dr. Mario 2	Dr. Mario

COMPLEX HACKS

These games may be hacks of other games; however they have all been reskinned or redesigned to the point where they seem like new titles.

Many of the hacks listed below were created by Inventor, a Chinese company that had included these games with Famiclones of the 21st century. Please note: other hacked games by Inventor are also known to exist, but the ones listed below are the only ones I have ever found on actual cartridges.

Hack Name	Original Game Name	Availability	Developer / Publisher	C
Aether Kavass	Choujikuu Yousai Macross	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Bandits	Donkey Kong 3	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Battle	Galaga	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Bicycle Race	F-1 Race	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Billiard 2008	Lunar Pool	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Bitha	Pooyan	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Boat Race	F-1 Race	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Bomb	Chack 'n Pop	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Bounce	Марру	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Boxing Match	Kinnikuman Muscle Tag Match	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Card	Magic Jewelry	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Chess	Othello	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Combata	Ninja-Kun	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Conte Energy	Lode Runner	Multicart Only	Inventor	
Crazy Gold Digger	Super Arabian	Multicart Only	Inventor	

Dr. Mario 2 Feat Unknown Fifa 2002 Soccer Firmament Gradius	arabe	Single Cart Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only	Unknown Inventor Inventor Inventor Inventor Inventor
Fifa 2002 Soccer	arabe	Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only	Inventor Inventor Inventor
	arabe	Multicart Only Multicart Only Multicart Only	Inventor Inventor
Firmament Gradius	arabe	Multicart Only Multicart Only	Inventor
	arabe	Multicart Only	
Frog Prince Mario Bros		+	Inventor
Future Tank Tank 1990		Martin ant Only	
Gobang Gomoku Na		Multicart Only	Inventor
Golgotha Bomberman	1	Multicart Only	Inventor
Goodhand City Conne	ction	Multicart Only	Inventor
Harry Potter Wacky Rac	es	Single Cart	Unknown
Hoodle Pinball		Multicart Only	Inventor
Lido Clu Clu Lar	nd	Multicart Only	Inventor
Little Hag Magic Carp	et 1001	Multicart Only	Inventor
Lucky Ball Pinball		Multicart Only	Inventor
Mars Star Force		Multicart Only	Inventor
Mars Man Binary Lan	d	Multicart Only	Inventor
Maze Tussle Pac-Man		Multicart Only	Inventor
Obstacle Race Zippy Race		Multicart Only	Inventor
Pandamar Super Mari	o Bros.	Multicart Only	Inventor
Penguin Nuts and M	ilk	Multicart Only	Inventor
Pika Chu Super Mari	o Bros.	Multicart Only	Inventor
Rescue Kuck Donkey Ko	ng Jr.	Multicart Only	Inventor
Risker Excitebike		Multicart Only	Inventor
Roge Brer Mario Bros	•	Multicart Only	Inventor
Salangane Twin Bee		Multicart Only	Inventor
Scoring Arkanoid		Multicart Only	Inventor
Sky Invader Sky Destro	yer	Multicart Only	Inventor
Slalom Antartic Ad	venture	Multicart Only	Inventor
Space 2000 Clay Shoots	ing	Multicart Only	Inventor
Space War Exerion		Multicart Only	Inventor
Spar Urban Char	npion	Multicart Only	Inventor

Super Elf	Circus Charlie	Multicart Only	Inventor
Super Hang On 97'	Highway Star	Single Cart	Shanghai Paradise
Super Mario Bros.	Super Mario Bros.	Multicart Only	Inventor
Surface Fire	Millipede	Multicart Only	Inventor
Tunny	SonSon	Multicart Only	Inventor
Unknown	Rescue Rangers 2	Multicart Only	Unknown
Van-1	Twin Bee	Multicart Only	Inventor

FAMICOM YAROU CARTRIDGES

The Famicom Yarou game cartridges are a series of three game cartridges, each containing hacked versions of classic Famicom games. Many of these games were built into various Famiclones, and three cartridges (containing seven games each) were also released. The contents of those carts can be seen below. As can be seen above, the games on the Yarou cartridges were mostly hacked by Inventor.

Cartridge Name	Game 1	Game 2	Game 3	Game 4	Game 5	Game 6	Game 7	C
Yarou Vol. 1	Boat Race	Roge Brer	Bomb	Aether	Penguin	Van-I	Conte Energy	
Yarou Vol. 2	Frog Prince	Bounce Ball	Spar	Cobra of Sky	Rescue Kuck	Bounce	Surface Fire	
Yarou Vol. 3	Ladangel	Scoring	Tennis	Maze	Bandits	Mars Man	Space War	

FIGHTER HACKS

A lot of unlicensed fighting games had been developed for the Famicom, and Yoko / Cony Soft was one of the main publishers. They would sometimes hack their own games to create other game releases, and those are all listed on the unlicensed list above (the official hacks all had part numbers). The list below lists a lot of the fighting hacks that I have been able to confirm. These games are hacked versions and do not seem to be officially endorsed by the makers.

On another note, there are some games missing from this list, if ROM lists / screenshots are to be believed. Since anyone can hack a ROM image and throw it on the Internet, I will only add games to this list once I can confirm their existence, either personally, or from other trustworthy sources.

Game Title	Original Title	Original Developer / Publisher	Availability	C
City Fighter IV	Street Fighter II: World Warrior	Yoko Soft	Single Cart	
Dragon Ball Z III	Dragon Ball Z 2	Hummer Team / JY Company	Multicart	
Fighter V	Super Fighter III	Unknown	Multicart	
Mario Fighter III: World Warrior	Street Fighter II: World Warrior	Hummer Team / Yoko Soft	Single Cart	
Mortal Kombat III Special	Mortal Kombat II Special	Hummer Team / JY Company	Single Cart	
Mortal Kombat V Turbo 30 ^{lxxxiii}	Mortal Kombat II	Yoko Soft	Single Cart	
Street Blaster V Turbo 20		Cony Soft	Single Cart	
Street Fighter III	Super Fighter III	Unknown	Single Cart	
Street Fighter III Mari Turbo	Super Fighter III	Unknown	Single Cart	
Super Fighter II'	Street Fighter II: World Warrior	Hummer Team / Yoko Soft	Single Cart	
Yuu Yuu Hakasho 97 V	Yuu Yuu Hakusho Final	Yoko Soft	Single Cart	

ODDITIES:

There is some software that just doesn't fit in any of the aforementioned categories, due to the limited information known about it. These games will be listed below, and my personal theories will follow.

HYUANDAI ZELDA II: LINK'S AWAKENING

As most of us are already aware, in Japan Zelda II: Link's Awakening was available exclusively on disk format. A small supply of Zelda II Famicom cartridges have been found in Korea. These games seem to have been distributed by Hyuandai, Nintendo's official distributor of games in South Korea, which suggests these may have been official game carts. Furthermore, I have been told that the game uses official Nintendo chips. The actual game content is the NTSC (English) version of Zelda II: Link's Awakening, the same game that had been sold across the USA.

This game cartridge also came packaged in a nicely-designed box, and a high-quality manual was also included. The box is a bit odd, however, since it lists the game as "A Link to the Past" as opposed to using the game's real title. The cartridge's shell is also of pirate-quality, being quite generic. In addition, the Famicom was never officially distributed in Korea, so it seems odd that an official Nintendo product would be sold for a format that Nintendo didn't officially market in that region.

It is possible that Hyuandai put this game together with extra chips they had from when they were making their official NES releases, making this a semi-legitimate release. On the other hand, the cart may just be a nice bootleg. A Korean Legend of Zelda cart with a similar cartridge design has also been found, which may be of the same stock as the Zelda II carts.

Game Title	Developer	Publisher	C
Zelda II: Link's Awakening			

NITRA'S TAITO GAME RELEASES

Moving from Korea to Taiwan, we also have some interesting releases going on. A Taiwanese semiconductor company, Nitra, released two Famicom games, *Time Diver Avenger* and *Queen Bee V*. Both games came with boxes, and both titles were also developed by Taito. Time Diver Avenger is a game that never saw the light of day in either Japan or the West, despite being completed and having extensive coverage in Nintendo Power magazine. Queen Bee V is a title screen hack of *Insector X*, a Japanese game that never made it to the West.

The majority of games coming out of Taiwan are either bootlegs or unlicensed; however, the story regarding these two is a bit stranger. It is a bit odd that Nitra would exclusively steal Taito games (including an unreleased game!), and then only bother to release two different titles. Likewise, the company bothered to make boxes for these games, something a lot of companies didn't bother with. I personally believe that Taito may have had some special licensing agreement with these two games, sort of like how BIC handled the publishing for Videomation on Famicom (unlicensed), yet when the game was released in the West on Nintendo, it was published by THQ (a licensed game company).

Game Title	Developer	Publisher	C
Queen Bee V	Taito	Nitra	
Time Diver Avenger	Taito	Nitra	

KIDDY SUN IN FANTASIA

Kiddy Sun in Fantasia is a hack of the first Adventure Island game, which has been circulating around for awhile. This hack of Adventure Island features some different music and sprites, and also the level order has also been slightly rearranged, when compared to the original Adventure Island game. Furthermore, the game is allegedly based off of a cartoon show of sorts, or so I have been told, but I have been unable to personally confirm this.

At first blush, it seems as though Kiddy Sun is just a bootleg hack of Hudson's Adventure Island. The game is not so different from the original, and the company that published it was based in Taiwan. On the other hand, I have always felt that this game was a bit more special than that.

Kiddy Sun in Fantasia was published by Era Tech, a company that is actually part of ERA Communications, a large multimedia company that has been involved with Internet, multimedia distribution, satellite TV broadcasting, etc. With that being said, it seems that this game was somehow distributed as a promotional or something, somehow relating to this large media company and (obviously) the TV show they were airing at the time. It sort of makes sense that a media company would want to get involved with the gaming industry in one way or another, back when the Famicom was the "in" thing. This still doesn't answer the question as to whether this was a licensed hack or not, since as we all know, some very prominent companies were involved with game piracy in the distant past.

The other thing that is known is that Hudson Soft had a Taiwanese / Hong Kong division during the late 80s and early 90s (known as Hudson-Era), distributing a very limited number of games for the PC Engine. It is unknown whether the name of this company is just a coincidence or not, and also whether Hudson licensed the game to Era Tech, though it doesn't seem to be beyond the realm of reality. No matter what the exact story is, Kiddy Sun in Fantasia is an older, rare hack of a popular game, and as such, it is highly sought after.

Game Title	Developer	Publisher	C
Kiddy Sun in Fantasia	Hudson Soft	Era Tech	

HOMEBREW GAMES:

To draw the line between a homebrew game for the Famicom or Nintendo Entertainment System (NES) can be quite a messy venture; since a large portion of homebrew games have only been made available via fan-made cartridges, the difference between Famicom and Nintendo becomes blurred. The following homebrew games were specifically developed with the Famicom in mind, however, and some of them (Mr. Splash! and Kira Kira Star Night) have had an official run of carts produced.

Game Title	Developer	Notes	C
Blade Buster			
Kira Kira Star Night			
Mr. Splash!			

UNRELEASED BUT DISCOVERED...:

The games found below are unreleased Famicom games, for which prototypes are known to exist. Thanks to the efforts of people such as the Nolan Brothers and the team at Lost Levels, some of these lost Famicom gems have been dumped and made available for the public to try.

Game Title	Developer	Notes	C
Bio Force Ape			
Parody World: Monster Party			
Strider Hiryu			

----- SECTION II: DISK-BASED MEDIA -----

In the beginning of 1986, Nintendo would release a peripheral to go along with their Famicom machine, the Family Computer Disk System. At the time of its release, the Family Disk System was an exciting product. The usage of disks as opposed to cartridges opened up many opportunities for development companies and gamers alike. Cheaper production costs and the ability to save games directly to the disk were both advantageous. Likewise, gamers also received some of the benefits from this new Nintendo format.

Disk Fax Kiosks allowed gamers to submit their best gaming scores to Nintendo. This opened up the door for many contests and prizes, where gamers would compete for top scores and glory. Disk Writer Kiosks were even more exciting, since for a nominal fee, game players could write new games over the old titles, which they were finished playing. At only a fraction of the cost of purchasing a brand new game disk, one can certainly see the appeal of such a device.

Unfortunately, the Famicom disk situation has become somewhat of a nightmare for collectors, almost thirty years later. The Famicom Disk System itself is prone to failure. The belts often get stretched or break, and need replaced. The magnetic head becomes unaligned, and the list of problems can go on forever.

The disks themselves can also be problematic. As mentioned above, games often got rewritten, so it is all-too common where a collector purchases one disk, and it turns out another game has been thrown on top of the original title. Then there are situations where the disk system will spit out cryptic error messages, and the only thing left to do is to eject the disk, reinsert it, and pray that things will go smoothly. The disk played fine last week, but you must have looked at it funny as it sure isn't reading properly this time. Eject, insert. Eject, insert. Again and again and again.

The Famicom Disk System was a pretty neat device for its time, and it is definitely an interesting part of Famicom history. The reliability of the machine and its software is entirely different story, though, so there are sure to be some hiccups in the road for those that are trying to obtain all of the games on the following lists.

NINTENDO-APPROVED SOFTWARE:

The list that follows includes the entire Famicom disk software library, which was published with Nintendo's approval. As opposed to the Nintendo (NES) game releases in the West, Famicom games didn't receive golden seals of approval or licenses in that manner. The games that follow are the titles that Nintendo approved, however, and are the so-called licensed releases.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	D
19 - Neunzehn	SFC-NEU	Soft Pro International	
Adian no Tsue	SSD-ADA	Sunsoft / Ask	
Ai Senshi Nicole	KDS-AIN	Konami	
Akū Senki Raijin ^{lxxxiv}	SQF-RJN	Square Soft / Microcabin	
Akumajō Dracula	KDS-AKM	Konami	
Ao no Senritsu	GAT-TIT	Gakken	
Apple Town Monogatari: Little Computer People	SQF-APT	DOG / Square Soft	
Arumana no Kiseki	KDS-ARM	Konami	
Aspic: Majaou no Noroi	BTC-ASP	Bothtec	
Backgammon	FMC-BAG	Nintendo	
Bakutōshi Patton-Kun	SFC-PAT	Soft Pro International	
Baseball	FMC-BAS	Nintendo	
Big Challenge! Dogfight Spirit	JDF-DFS	Jaleco	
Big Challenge! Go! Go! Bowling	JDF-GGB	Jaleco	
Big Challenge! Gun Fighter	JDF-GNF	Jaleco	
Big Challenge! Judou Senshuken	JDF-CJS	Jaleco	
Bio Miracle Bokutte Upa	KDS-BOK	Konami	
Bomberman	HFC-BMD	Hudson Soft	
Breeder	SFC-BRE	Soft Pro International	
Bubble Bobble	TFD-BUB	Taito	

Burger Time	DFC-BGT	Data East
Chiteitairiku Orudola	SSD-ORD	Sunsoft
Cleopatra no Mahō	SQF-CLO	DOG
Clox	GTS-CKD	Tokuma Shoten
Clu Clu Land: Welcome to New Clu Clu Land	FMC-CLD	Nintendo
Cocona World	SFL-CCN	Sofel
Curotsukusu ^{lxxxv}		Tokoma Shoten
Dandy: Zeuon no Fukkatsu	PNF-DAN	Activision
Dead Zone	SSD-DZN	Sunsoft
Deep Dungeon: Madousenki	SQF-DPD	Humming Bird Soft
Dig Dug	NDS-DIG	Namco
Dig Dug II	NDS-DD2	Namco
Dirty Pair: Project Eden	BAN-DPR	Bandai
Donkey Kong	FMC-DKD	Nintendo
Donkey Kong Jr.	FMC-JRD	Nintendo
Doremikko	KDS-DRE, RJ250	Konami
Dr. Chaos: Jigoku no Tobira	PNF-DRC	Pony Canyon
Dracula II: Noroi no Fūin	KDS-DRK	Konami
Druid: Kyōfu no Tobira	JFD-DRD	Jaleco
Eggerland	HAL-EGL	HAL Laboratory
Eggerland: Sōzōhe no Tabidachilxxvi	HAL-EGS	HAL Laboratory
Electrician	KSC-ELC	Kemco
Esper Dream	KDS-ESP	Konami
Exciting Baseball	KDS-EBS	Konami
Exciting Basketball	KDS-EKB	Konami
Exciting Billiard	KDS-EKS	Konami
Exciting Soccer: Konami Cup	KDS-ESC	Konami
Fairytale	SFC-FYT	Soft Pro International
Falsion	KDS-FAL	Konami
Famicom Grand Prix II: 3D Hot Rally	FSC-TDRE	Nintendo
Famicom Grand Prix: F-1 Race	FSC-FRGE	Nintendo
Famicom Mukashibanashi: Shin Onigashima	FMC-ON1	Nintendo

(Part One)		
Famicom Mukashibanashi: Shin Onigashima (Part Two)	FMC-ON2	Nintendo
Famicom Mukashibanashi: Yūyūki (Part One)	FMC-UU1	Nintendo
Famicom Mukashibanashi: Yūyūki (Part Two)	FMC-UU2	Nintendo
Famicom Tantei Club Part II: Ushiro ni Tatsu Shōjo (Part One)	FMC-TC3	Nintendo
Famicom Tantei Club Part II: Ushiro ni Tatsu Shōjo (Part Two)	FMC-TC4	Nintendo
Famicom Tantei Club: Kieta Kōkeisha (Part One)	FMC-TC1	Nintendo
Famicom Tantei Club: Kieta Kōkeisha (Part Two)	FMC-TC2	Nintendo
Family Composer	TKS-FCO	Tokuma Shoten
Family Computer Othello	KWD-OTH	Kawada
Final Command: Akai Yōsai	KDS-AKA	Konami
Fire Bam	HAL-FBM	HAL Laboratory
Fire Rock	USE-FRC	Use
Fūun Shaolin Kyo	JFD-FSH	Jaleco
Fūun Shaolin Kyo: Ankoku no Maō	JFD-SAM	Jaleco
Galaga	NDS-GAG	Namco
Galaxian	NDS-GXN	Namco
Gall Force: Eternal Story	HAL-GAL	HAL Laboratory
Ginga Denshō: Galaxy Odyssey	IMA-GIN	Imagine
Gokuraku Yūgi: Game Tengoku	SFL-GTG	Sofel
Golf	FMC-GLF	Nintendo
Golf Japan Course	FSC-GFJE	Nintendo
Golf U.S. Course	FSC-GFUE	Nintendo
Goonies	KDS-GNS	Konami
Greek Roman Wrestle text	FMC-PPN	Jaleco
Green Beret	KDS-GRN	Konami
Gun.Smoke	CAP-GUN	Capcom
Gyruss	KDS-GRS	Konami
Halley Wars	TFD-HAL	Taito
Hao-kun no Fushigi na Tabi	SQF-HFT	DOG

Hikari Genji: Roller Panic	PNF-GEN	Pony Canyon
Hikari Shinwa: Palthena no Kagami	FMC-PTM	Nintendo
Hong Kong	GTS-HKD	Tokuma Shoten
I am a Teacher: Super Mario no Sweater	ROY-ISM	Royal
I am a Teacher: Teami no Kiso	ROY-ITK	Royal
Ice Climber	FMC-ICD	Nintendo
Ice Hockey	FMC-ICE	Nintendo
Igo: Kyū Roban Taikyoku	BPS-IGO	Bullet-Proof
Ishido: The Way of Stones ^{lxxxviii}	HIR-ISD	Hiro
Jaaman Tanteidan: Marinegumi	BAN-MAR	Bandai
Janken Disk Jō	GTS-JKD	Tokuma Shoten
Jikai Shōnen Mettomag	SQF-MTM	DOG
Kaettekita Mario Bros. lxxxix	FMC-KMAR	Nintendo
Kamen Rider Black: Taiketsu Shadow Moon	BAN-BLA	Bandai
Karate Champ	DFC-KAR	Data East
Kattobi! Douji	PAC-KTD	Pack-In-Video
Kick and Run	TFD-KIC	Taito
Kick Challenger: Air Foot	VAP-AFT	Vap
Kidō Keisatsu Patlabor	BAN-PTL	Bandai
Kieta Princess	IMA-KIE	Wave Jack / Imagineer
Kiki Kaikai: Dotō Hen	TFD-KIK	Taito
Kineko Vol. II: Kinetic Connection: The Monitor Puzzle	IFD-KI2	Irem
Kineko: Kinetic Connection: The Monitor Puzzle	IFD-KIN	Irem
Kinnikuman: Kinniku Ookurai Sōdatsusen	BAN-KNM	Bandai
Knight Lore	JFD-KLM	Jaleco
Knight Move	FMC-KMV	Nintendo
Konami Ice Hockey	KDS-HOC	Konami
Konami Tennis	KDS-TNI	Konami
Koneko Monogatari: Adventures of Chatran	PNF-KOM	Pony Canyon
Legend of Zelda 2	FMC-LNK	Nintendo

Lutter ^{xc}	ATH-LTD	Athena
Magma Project: Hacker	GTS-MPH	Tokuma Shoten
Mahjong	FMC-MJA	Nintendo
Mahjong Kazoku	IFD-MJK	Irem
Marchen Veil	SSD-MVL	Sunsoft
Matō no Hōkai: The Hero of Babel	PNF-MAT	Carry Laboratory
Meikyuu Jiin Dababa	KDS-MIK	Konami
Metroid	FMC-MET	Nintendo
Michael English Daibōken	SCO-MEA	Scorpion Soft
Moero Twinbee: Cinnamon Hakase wo Sukue!	KDS-TIN	Konami
Monty no Doki Doki Daisassō: Monty on the Run	JFD-MDD	Jaleco / Gremlin Graphics
Moonball Magic ^{xci}	SQF-MBM	Square
Mr. Gold: Kinsan in the Space	TDF-MRG	Toei
Nakayama Miho no Tokimeki High School	FMC-THSE	Nintendo
Namida no Sōkoban Special	ASC-001	ASCII
Nankin no Adventure	SSD-NAD	Sunsoft
Nazo no Kabe: Block Kuzushi	KDS-NZN	Konami
Nazo no Murasame Jō	FMC-NMJ	Nintendo
Nazoler Land	SSD-NZL	Sunsoft
Nazoler Land Dai 2 Gō	SSD-NZB	Sunsoft
Nazoler Land Dai 3 Gō	SSD-NZC	Sunsoft
Nazoler Land Special	SSD-NSP	Sunsoft
Omoikkiri Tanteidan Haado Gumi: Matenrō no Chōsenjō	BAN-HRD	Bandai
Oru 1	GTS-ALD	Tokuma Shoten
Otocky	ASC-OTO	ASCII
Pac-Man	NDS-PAC	Namco
Pachicom	TFS-PCD	Toshiba EMI
Pachinko Grand Prix	DFC-PGP	Data East
Panic Space	GTS-PSD	Tokuma Shoten
Pinball	FMC-PND	Nintendo
Pro Golfer Saru: Kage no Tournament	BAN-PGS	Bandai

Pro Wrestling: Famicom Wrestling Association	FMC-PRO	Nintendo
Professional Mahjong Goku	ASC-GKU	ASCII
Pulsar no Hikari: Space Wars Simulation	SFC-PSR	Soft Pro International
Putt Putt Golf	PAC-PPG	Pack-In-Video
Puyo Puyo ^{xcii}	GTS-PYO	Tokuma Shoten / Compile
Puzzle Boys	ATL-PUZ	Atlus
Radical Bomber!! Jirai Kun	JFD-GRK	Jaleco
Reflect World	ECF-RWD	East Cube
Relics: Ankoku Yōsai	BTC-RLC	Bothtec
Replicart	TFD-REP	Taito
Risa no Yōsei Densetsu: Risa Tachibana	KDS-YOU	Konami
Roger Rabbit	KSC-RRR	Kemco
Samurai Sword	CAP-SMU	Capcom
Santa Claus no Takarabako	DFC-SAN	Data East / Musical Plan Ltd.
SD Gundam World: Gachapon Senshi Scramble Wars	BAN-SG1	Bandai
SD Gundam World: Gachapon Senshi Scramble Wars Map Collection ^{xeiii}	BAN-SG2	Bandai
Section Z	CAP-SCZ	Capcom
Seiken: Psycho Calibur		
Silviana	PAC-SIL	Pack-In-Video
Smash Ping Pong	FMC-PPN	Nintendo
Soccer	FMC-SCC	Nintendo
Solomon no Kagi	TCF-SKD	Tecmo
Suishō no Dragon	SQF-SSD	Square Soft
Super Boy Allan	SSD-ALN	Sunsoft
Super Lode Runner	IFD-SLR	Irem
Super Lode Runner II	IFD-SL2	Irem
Super Mario Bros.	FMC-SMA	Nintendo
Super Mario Bros. 2	FMC-SMB	Nintendo

Sword of Kalin	SQF-KRN	Square Soft / XTAL Soft
Tama & Friends: Great 3rd Street Adventure	BAN-UTM	Bandai
Tanigawa Kōji no Shōgi Shinan II	PNF-SH2	Pony Canyon
Tantei Jingūji Saburo: Kiken na Ninin (Part One)	DFC-KF1	Data East
Tantei Jingūji Saburo: Kiken na Ninin (Part Two)	DFC-KF2	Data East
Tantei Jingūji Saburo: Shinjuku Chūō Kōen Satsujin Jiken	DFC-JUK	Data East
Tarot	SCO-TAR	Scorpion
Tennis	FMC-TEN	Nintendo
Time Twist: Rekishi no Katasumi de (Part One)	FMC-TT1	Nintendo
Time Twist: Rekishi no Katasumi de (Part Two)	FMC-TT2	Nintendo
Tobidase Daisakusen	SQF-TDS	DOG / Square Soft
Topple Zip	BTC-TPZ	Bothtec
Transformers: The Headmasters	TFC-TFH	Takara
TwinBee	KDS-TWN	Konami
Ultraman 2: Shutsugeki Katoku Tai	BAN-UL2	Bandai
Ultraman Club: Chikyū Dakkan Sakusen	BAN-ULC	Bandai
Ultraman: Kaijū Teikoku no Gyakushū	BAN-ULM	Bandai
Volleyball	FMC-VBW	Nintendo
Vs. Excitebike	FMC-EBD	Nintendo
Wardner no Mori	TFD-WAD	Taito
Winter Games	PNF-WIN	Pony Canyon
Wrecking Crew	FMC-WRD	Nintendo
Xevious	NDS-XEV	Namco
Yōkai Yashiki	IFD-YOK	Irem
Yū Maze	TFD-UMZ	Taito
Yume Kōjō: Doki Doki Panic	FCG-DRM	Fuji Television
Yūshi no Monshō	SQF-YSM	Humming Bird Soft
Zanac (AI)	PNF-ZAN	Pony Canyon
Zelda no Densetsu: The Hyrule Fantasy	FMC-ZEL	Nintendo

PROMOTIONAL / CONTEST DISKS

Just like with the cart-based software, Nintendo held some contests and also released some promotional disk-based games as well. Below are the titles that exist.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	D
Golf Japan	FSC-GSJE	Nintendo	
Golf US	FSC-GSUE	Nintendo	
All Night Nippon SMB	ANN-NSM	Nintendo / Nippon Broadcasting	

WAKUSEI ATON GAIDEN

The story behind Wakusei Aton Gaiden is interesting. The game was developed by Kokuzeichou, the Japanese tax agency, with the intention of presenting the information about the Japanese economy to gamers via a game. Wakusei Aton Gaiden is a shooter of sorts, and throughout the game, the gameplay will be interrupted as the player is asked questions about the Japanese economy.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	D
Wakusei Aton Gaiden	Unknown	Kokuzeichou	

UNLICENSED FAMICOM DISKS:

Although the Famicom Disk System's library is quite small, about 1/5th of its meager game selection is comprised of unlicensed porno titles. To make matters even more interesting, some of the disk-based adult titles contain more explicit material than the material that made it onto the 18+ game cartridges, with *Alien Battle* immediately coming to mind. Then there are such interesting titles as *Body ConQuest*, an RPG 18+ parody. All of the unlicensed Famicom disks are adult-themed.

Game Title	ID Code	Developer / Publisher	D
Aki to Tsukasa no Fushigi no Kabe		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Mahjong Club		Mimi Pro	
Bishoujo Control		Sezon	
Bishoujo Gomokunarabe		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Hanahuda Kurabu Vol. 1		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Hanahuda Kurabu Vol. 2		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Mahjong Kurabu		Hacker International	
Bishoujo Meijin sen		Indie Soft	
Bishoujo Sexy Derby		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Sexy Puzzle		Super Pig	
Bishoujo Sexy Slot		Super Pig	
Bishoujo SF Alien Battle		Hacker International	
Bishoujo Shashinkan: Moving School		Phoenix	
Bishoujo Shashinkan: Studio Cut		Phoenix	
Body Conquest I		Hacker International	
Casino de Pink		Wild	
Deeto de Blackjack (w Hiromi)		Hacker International	
Emi-chan no Moero Yakyuuken		Super Pig	
Fairy Pinball		Hacker International	
Fruits Mahjong I		Mimi Pro	
Fruits Mahjong II		Mimi Pro	
Fruits Mahjong III		Mimi Pro	
Fruits Mahjong IV		Mimi Pro	

Golf, The: Beautiful Girls Classic	Hacker International
Hayama Reiko no Deeto de Blackjack	Hacker International
Hitomi Kobayashi's Hold Up	Hacker International
Hitomi Kobayashi's Shocking Tennis	Hacker International
Kind Girls	Wild
Lipstick #1: Lolita Hen	Mimi Pro
Lipstick #2: Joshi Gakusei Hen	Mimi Pro
Lipstick #3: OL Hen	Mimi Pro
Lipstick #4: Hakui no Tenshi Hen	Mimi Pro
Lipstick #5: Stewardess Hen	Mimi Pro
Money Wars	Hacker International / Indie Soft
Quiz Zatsugaku Olympic	Phoenix
Quiz Zatsugaku Olympic Part II	Phoenix
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 1	Mimi Pro
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 2	Mimi Pro
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 3	Mimi Pro
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 4	Mimi Pro
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 5	Mimi Pro
Se-ra-fuku Bishoujo Zukan Vol. 6	Mimi Pro
Sexy Invaders	Super Pig
Tenshi Tachi no Houkago (Afterschool Angels)	Mimi Pro
Touma Senki 1: Mashoujo Gakuen Iivuru	Indies Soft
Touma Senki 2: Mermaid no Gyakushu	Indies Soft
Touma Senki 3: Ryuujin Sensei Kiki Ippatsu!!	Indies Soft
Touma Senki 4: Tenkuu Ryuumaou Fukkatsu	Indies Soft
Touma Senki 5: Youjuu Rudo no Chousen	Indies Soft
Yakyuuken Part II: Gal's Dungeon	Super Pig

BOOTLEG FAMICOM DISKS:

One of the major problems Nintendo faced with its disk-based peripheral was the ease, at which unauthorized copies of the games could be made. Bootleg disks were commonplace, and everything was copied: official Nintendo products, unlicensed games, etc. Nothing was excluded from the hands of the pirates. Even cartridge-based games ended up appearing on the Famicom disks. Due to the large number of disks being copied, the only items I feel are work mentioning are a few of the hacks.

MARIO CASTLEVANIA

Mario Castlevania is basically what the name implies, a mix of Mario and Castlevania. In reality, the game is just a pirated copy of the original Castlevania game, with a Mario sprite hacked into the game, replacing Simon Belmont. This is one of the better known Famicom Disk System hacks.

Game Title	Original Game	Notes	D
Mario Castlevania	Castlevania		

MARIO ZELDA

Mario Zelda is another simple hack, this time the game of choice being Super Mario Bros. Link is hacked into the game, and some of the text has been edited (i.e. "Welcome to Gold Lion!" appears when entering the warp zone). This is another basic game hack, but it is pretty cool given the time it was made

Game Title	Original Game	Notes	D
Mario Zelda	Super Mario Bros.		

CECETALITI		
	NOTES & COMMENTS	

First and foremost, I would like to thank all of the wonderful people over at Famicom World for their knowledge. Without it, a gaming list of this scope would never have been possible. In addition, that website has been of incredible assistance to me, as the information about the licensed Famicom games has mostly been taken from there, though it has been heavily modified as well to remove some errors, fill in missing data, etc.

Likewise, the information about the unlicensed Nanjing games is based on the information present on the Bootleg Games Wiki, although once again, edited and updated to be of better assistance to the end user.

Most of the information regarding the licensed games has been crosschecked with numerous sources, including my own personal collection. With that said, there are bound to be errors discovered in these sections and others at a later time. If something looks problematic, or you have some comments to make, please send me a message to the following address, so I can correct it: fcgamer26 [at] gmail [dot] com. Thanks.

The information about the Russian games was mostly obtained from CaH4e3's page as well as ROM listings, and the rest of the content contained within this document was personally compiled by myself, after searching dozens of websites, auctions, game collection photos, and talking with dozens of Famicom collectors / gamers over the past three years. Thanks a lot everyone for the assistance.

For more in-depth details about some of the games, please check out the endnotes. :)

Although this journey is about to close, I would finally like to take the time to recommend the following websites, as they all contain interesting gaming content:

FC GAME LAND (my blog) https://fcgameland.wordpress.com

FAMICOM WORLD http://www.famicomworld.com

TSR'S NES ARCHIVE http://www.atarihq.com/tsr

NES WORLD http://www.nesworld.com

BOOTLEG GAME WIKI bootleggames.wikia.com

NINTENDO AGE http://www.nintendoage.com

LOST LEVELS http://www.lostlevels.org

SOME RUSSIAN MARIO DUDE somerussianmariodude.blogspot.tw

FAMICOMBLOG famicomblog.blogspot.com

LEGAL STUFF

Finally, please do not sell, modify, or edit this document without permission from the author. The Ultimate Famicom Software Guide may be distributed freely for personal (non-commercial) use.

All original content contained within The Ultimate Famicom Software Guide is copyright © 2015 David Allwein, all rights reserved. All copyrighted images and names are trademarks of their respective owners. This document is not endorsed or authorized by Nintendo of America, Nintendo of Japan, Subor, or any of the other companies mentioned within it.

- i The following games appear on the 15 in 1 Hummer Team cartridge: The Legend (a hack of Street Fighter IV), The Hummer (a hack of Somari), Pink Jelly, Hacker, Heroine (these two games are hacked versions of Titenic), The Duck, The Egg, as well as several other hacked versions of the aforementioned games.
- A large portion of the original NTDEC games were rereleased on the Asder 20 in 1 multicart. Even better, many of these games would be tweaked, such as Magic Carpet 1001, which made the games easier to play. The games included are as follows: Magic Carpet 1001, Skate Boy, Cosmos Cop, Bookyman, Balloon Monster, JP Ronny, Adam & Eve, Porter, Go! Benny!, Tank, Benico, Dream Fighter, Master Shooter, Top Hunter, as well as several of the mini games from Pokey.
- The games on Micro Genius's 3 in 1 Super Gun cartridge are as follows: Clown, Snake Charmer, and Shooter.
- This is the infamous Caltron 6 in 1 cartridge, only on Famicom format. The games on the cartridge are Cosmos Cop, Magic Carpet 1001, Balloon Monster, Adam & Eve, Porter, and Bookyman. All of these games were also released in single-cartridge format on Famicom.
- v The games included on Micro Genius's 6 in 1 cartridge are as follows: Clown, Snake Charmer, Shooter, F15 City War, Poke Block, and Volleyball.
- vi The fifth Asang cart includes the following unlicensed games: TWXMZ, Five Days, Highway Racing I, Table Tennis, Baseball, Burrow Explorer, Boxworld, and Fish War.
- vii The fourth installment of the Asang multicarts contains the following releases: Shock, Hitting Mices, Highway Racing I, Robot, Shooting Ballons, Boxing Wrestle, Fish War, and Table Tennis.
- viii This is the third in a series of multicarts published by Asang. The games on this cartridge are as follows: Happy Biqi, Robot, Baseball, Dig Mines, Fish War, Play Cards, Edacity Snakes, and Five-Days.
- ix This is the next in a series of multicarts published by Asang. The games included on this cartridge are as follows: Dragon Knife, Highway Racing I, Boxing Wrestle, Boxworld, Burrow Explorer, Hua Rong Dao, Gift Xmas, and Apple Chess.
- x This is the first of (at least) six different Famicom multicarts published by Asang. The games contained on this cartridge were mostly developed by Waixing and Nice Code, and were developed around 2005. Some of the games are also available as single-cart releases, though not all of them. This pack includes Golden Axe, F-22, Guard Farm, Police Skill, Desert Gunman, Hitting Mices, Shooting Ballons, and Table Tennis.
- xi The final cartridge in Asang's unlicensed multicart series contains the following games: Journey to the West, Boxworld, Dig Mines, Hitting Mices, Hua Rong Dao, Edacity Snakes, Shooting Ballons, and Gift Xmas.
- Two versions of Hummer Team's Aladdin exist. The rarer version is the so-called full version of the game. It differs from the more common cut version due to the fact that the full version has some extra animations, and also does not suffer from a music glitch at the end of stage one.
- xiii I would personally classify Bai Bai Dino as a tech demo or something of the like, as opposed to an actual game. In future versions of this list, Bai Bai Dino's placement may be changed. There is little to the game itself, and it may have been developed for use on some obscure Famicom keyboard clone or the like.
- xiv BB Car is essentially the same as Hwang Shinwei's Me Hun Che. The major difference between the two games is that the title screen has been changed. The BB Car version of the game is much harder to find than the Me Hun Che version.
- Although I am not a huge fan of the game Creatom (I cannot really understand how to play the game, even after reading the instruction manual), I feel that this is one of my favorite unlicensed game packages for the Famicom. Sold in a large package (reminiscent of the old big box PC games of yesteryear), the Famicom version of Creatom included a large instruction manual, a puzzle sheet, and around 40 or 50 cardboard game pieces. Never before have I seen so many goodies included with an unlicensed product.
- Fantastic Adventures of Dizzy exists on the Famicom with two different artwork variations. Since this game was published by both Realtec and BIC, it might be a situation where one artwork version corresponds to one company's release; however, since Realtec and BIC were basically the same company, there was a lot of game cartridges that have BIC printed on the cartridge, and Realtec printed on the box. Therefore it is really hard to confirm this for sure.
- xvii There are two versions of Fighting Hero One of the versions (presumably the first release) credits the publisher on the title screen as "Maga Soft", whereas the second version fixes the spelling error and lists the publisher as "Mega Soft". The Maga Soft version seems to be slightly harder to find.
- xviii Micro Genius's 4 in 1 cartridge include several different games, which were originally developed by Idea-Tek. The games included are as follows: Puzzle, F15 City War, Poke Block, and Volleyball.
- xix Although limited in capability, the Futebol / Boxe Virtual is one of my favorite unlicensed Famicom games of all time. Published by Dynacom, the game cartridge has a sensor in the back, which detects the signal from a wrist device included with the game. This allows one to play a motion-detection soccer and boxing game on

the Famicom.

xx Two different artwork variations exist for Gaiapolis.

xxi I could have sworn that two different labels, each with different artwork, exist for the General's Son; however, when trying to double check this, I cannot seem to find any pictures of the second version of the game. So for now the second version can just be considered a rumor.

Also known as The Dragon, Lee Dragon features Bruce Lee. The game itself is a poorly-designed beat-em-up, but of interest is the fact that the game was translated into Arabic. This was because the publisher, Ramar International, distributed their products primarily in the Middle East.

xxiii Magic Bubble seems to have had two official releases. The first release (in 1991) was distributed around Taiwan and Asia, whereas the game also received a second release (with different artwork) in 1995. The second release circulated around Eastern Europe and Russia.

The Ku Je Academy Sachen games may at a later date be moved into their own section, like the Spica Sachen games, but for now they will stay on the main page. It is unknown who Ku Je Academy really were, and how many Sachen games they published and distributed in Korea; however, at least two games were published by Ku Je: Magical Mathematic and Olympic IQ. The title screens for these games were edited, making these titles interesting to collect.

The original Mahjong Trap game was developed and published entirely by Joy Van. This version of the game feels unpolished compared to the second release (more information at note xxvi below).

This is the updated version of Mahjong Trap. Published by Hacker International in Japan, the new Mahjong Trap would be published by Thin Chen (Sachen) in Taiwan and elsewhere. This game is based on Joy Van's Mahjong Trap, but the graphics and music have been updated and improved.

xxvii This game was released in two different style boxes: one was a large box (which had a bootleg copy of Puzznic packed with it), and the other release had a normal-size box.

xxviii Me Hun Che is essentially the same as Hwang Shinwei's BB Car. The major difference between the two games is that the title screen has been changed. The BB Car version of the game is much harder to find than the Me Hun Che version.

xxix Micro Motion is the same game as Micro Machines.

Millionaire was released with two different artwork designs. The internal game play hasn't been altered though.

Like Millionaire above, Millionaire II was also released with two different variations. The one label titles the game as Millionaire II, whereas the other label lists the game as Zhong Guo Da Heng. As with Millionaire above, the two games are identical.

xxxii Please see note xxiv for more information about the Ku Je Academy Sachen games.

Padillon Gais is an interesting cartridge. The label suggests that it is an uncensored version of Incantation (released as Papillion Gals by Hacker International in Japan). The label is misleading though, as all copies of the game found thus far are actually just mislabeled copies of Thin Chen's Mahjang Companion. It seems that Sachen may have considered publishing Papillion Gals in Taiwan and elsewhere (much like they did with the adult version of Pyramid), but then decided against it after already printing up labels.

Affectionately known as the Pegasus Golden 5 in 1, after Poland's Famicom clone Pegasus, this game cartridge includes the following games: The Ultimate Stuntman, Bignose the Caveman, Bignose Freaks Out, Micro Machines, and The Fantastic Adventures of Dizzy.

Two different versions of Penguin and Seal exist, and the easiest way to distinguish the versions is via the different artwork used on the boxes, game labels, etc. Although the two games are basically the same, they feature different title screen graphics and music, etc, hence the duplicate entry on the collector's list.

xxxvi The Pokemon 4 in 1 cartridge contains the following original games: Picaclick, Pacman, Picaslot, and Picadance.

xxxvii Popeye 2 is a hack of Hummer Team's Aladdin, only the game has been altered to include Popeye.

xxxviii Power Rangers IV is an updated version of Hummer Team's Power Rangers III game.

This version of Pyramid I contains the same code as the version of Pyramid I published by Hacker International in Japan. This is the uncensored version of the game, containing 8-bit nudity. This and the censored version were both published in Taiwan by Sachen.

xl The games included on the Quattro Adventure cartridge are as follows: Boomerang Kid, Treasure Island Dizzy, Linus Spacehead, and Super Robin Hood.

xli The games included on the Quattro Arcade cartridge are as follows: Boomerang Kid, Go! Dizzy Go!, Super Robinhood, and Soccer Simulator. Interestingly enough, the box for this game erroneously lists the compilation as "Quattro Adventure".

xlii The third chapter of the "Quattro" series, the games included on this cartridge are as follows: Baseball Pros,

- BMX Simulator, Soccer Simulator, and Pro Tennis.
- xliii This is an updated version of Rex Soft's Samurai Spirits game.
- xliv Two versions of this game exist. The rarer (first edition) included a box, whereas the later print run (which may have been unauthorized) is much more common to find and did not come with a box.
- xlv Silent Assault is the same game as Raid, only with an English title screen.
- xlvi Somari was released with two different boxes: the one box was about the same size as a Famicom cartridge, whereas the other box was larger in size.
- xlvii Street Hero is the same game as Sachen's Samurai Spirits. This game would later be updated and released by Rex Soft.
- xlviii The Super 4 in 1 cartridge contains the following original games: Space Fight of Gun, Abyss of Gloom, Fantasy of Gun, and City Adventure.
- xlix The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 1 are as follows: Bingo 75, Lucky 777, Honey Peach, and Chess Academy.
- The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 2 are as follows: Hidden Chinese Chess, Omnibus Hearts, Fan Tan, Chinese Rummy, Max 2, Ghost Buster, 99, Change Around, and Fortune Telling (in both Chinese and English versions).
- li The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 3 are as follows: Jovial Race, Little Red Hood, Twin Eagle, Silent Assault, Super Pang, Mine Sweeper, Mine Sweeper II, and Mine Sweeper III.
- The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 4 are as follows: Master Chu and the Drunkard Hu, Metal Fighter, Galactic Crusader, Auto-Upturn, Magic Cube, and Super Pang II.
- liii The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 5 are as follows: Penguin and Seal, Middle School English, Pyramid, Magical Mathematics, Strategist, Olympic I.Q., and Chinese Checkers.
- liv The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 6 are as follows: Colorful Dragon, Pyramid II, Pipe V, Millionaire, Dancing Blocks, and Locksmith.
- lv The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 7 are as follows: Sidewinder, Happy Pairs, Tasac, and Silver Eagle.
- lvi The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 8 are as follows: Final Combat, Worm Visitor, Frog Adventure, and Magical Tower.
- lvii The games on Sachen's Super Cartridge V. 9 are as follows: Challenge of the Dragon, Rockball, and Popo Team.
- lviii Like Hummer Team's Aladdin, two versions of Super Lion King exist, namely a much rarer full version and then the so-called cut version. The full version of the game includes a bug toss game. Halfway up stage one, veer to the left and pick up the bug sitting on the bush. After you defeat the boss of the level, you will automatically be transported to the bug toss mini game. This feature was taken out of the edited version of the game.
- lix There are about two or three different box variations for Hummer Team's Super Mario World.
- Super Maruo is credited as being the first unlicensed Famicom game to have ever been created. The game is explicit in nature, featuring 8-bit penetration, and is extremely hard to find. To make matters even more tricky, this game has been "reproduced" a few times, making it difficult to determine if the version of the game owned is an original or a fake. Proceed with caution if attempting to purchase an original of this game.
- lxi A. Chudov's Text Editor is not a game. It is simply a text editor for the Famicom, most likely designed for use with a Famiclone keyboard. Although I feel the software doesn't exactly fit in on the main unlicensed list, it doesn't perfectly fit in with the educational software either, so I've decided to keep the game on the main list with the rest of Chudov's programs.
- lxii Two versions of The Ultimate Stuntman exist, each bearing different label art. Like other BIC / Realtec games, this artwork variation could have something to do with different publisher releases.
- lxiii This list is based off of the list on the Bootleg Games Wiki, found at the following link:

http://bootleggames.wikia.com/wiki/Shenzhen Nanjing Technology Co., Ltd.

The list provided in this document has been tweaked a bit though, to make the list more accessible for non-Chinese speakers.

lxiv The information provided here is courtesy of CaH4e3's page, as seen below:

http://cah4e3.shedevr.org.ru/bonza.php

lxv Thus far, Pyramid is the only Spica-published Sachen game that has not been found with a special Spica label.

Although Spica's Pyramid comes in a Sachen-branded box, the game cartridge itself looks identical to the normal Sachen release.

lxvi This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxvii This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxviii This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxix This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxx This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxxi This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxxii This game is rumored to exist as a FDS to cartridge conversion. I have thus far been unable to confirm its existence though.

lxxiii Joe & Mac was released on Famicom in a normal, unhacked version, as well as under the name "Mario 16", a hacked version of Joe & Mac where the main character is replaced by Mario.

lxxiv Kid Klown was released in Japan as Mickey Mouse III: Yume Fuusen. Due to not owning the copyright to the Disney characters in the States, Kemco reskinned the game for a Stateside release.

lxxv This game was released on Famicom in a normal, unhacked version, as well as under the name "M.C. Mario", a hacked version of M.C. Kids where the main character was replaced by Mario.

lxxvi A hacked version of this game exists, known as "Batman & Flash". In this version of the game, Batman replaces the protagonist.

lxxvii Power Blade was "sort of" released on the Famicom officially. The game that the West received is a heavily modified and "upgraded" version of the Japanese game, Power Blazer. The pirates brought this (superior) version of the game to the Famicom.

lxxviii As with Kid Klown, Snoopy's Silly Sports Spectacular originally started out as Donald Duck. Once again, Kemco modified the game for its Western release, and pirates eventually brought the modified version back to the Famicom.

lxxix This game exists as two versions. There is an unhacked version of Talespin, as well as Rosso Porco, a title screen hack of the game, which was inspired by an obscure cartoon.

lxxx As with several of the other Kemco Disney games, Bugs Bunny Crazy Castle originally started out as Roger Rabbit, a Famicom Disk System game. Kemco released the game with Bugs replacing Roger Rabbit for its Western release, and the pirates eventually brought that game back to the Famicom.

lxxxi Yo! Noid is the Western release of the Famicom game Kamen no Ninja Hanamaru. The game was then reskinned and became Yo! Noid for its debut in the west.

lxxxii Angry Birds 4 is also sometimes found under the name Angry Birds 2. This hack of Kiwi Kraze has both English and Russian translations. So far, the English versions seem to be on the multicarts, whereas the single cartridge versions contain the Russian-language edition of the game.

1 Two versions of this hack exist; one has a copyright date of 1995, and the other a copyright date of 1996.

lxxxiv Akū Senki Raijin was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

lxxxv Like Greek Roman Wrestle below, it seems that Curotsukusu is just a reoccurring error on Famicom Disk game lists. I have thus far found no evidence of the game's existence, unless it was released under a different title / romanization scheme and I failed to recognize it.

lxxxvi Eggerland: Sōzōhe no Tabidachi was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

lxxxvii Evidence suggests that Greek Roman Wrestle is nothing more than a database error. Although the game appears one on or two Famicom Disk game lists, the ID Code provided matches up with Smash Ping Pong, a different game on the Famicom Disk system. Furthermore, the ID Code does not match the type of code that Jaleco would have used.

lxxxviii Ishido: The Way of Stones was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

lxxxix Kaettekita Mario Bros. was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

xc Lutter was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

xci Moonball Magic was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

xcii Puyo Puyo. was only available through the Famicom Disk Writer service.

xciii SD Gundam World: Gachapon Senshi Scramble Wars Map Collection was exclusive for Famicom Disk Writer.